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The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
presented in our forward- looking statements. You should consider carefully the risks described below and the other information
in this Annual Report on Form 10- K, including our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are
material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm
our business. Risks Related to Our Business and Properties Single- tenant leases involve significant risks of tenant default and
tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect us. Our portfolio consists primarily of single- tenant net leased
properties and we are dependent on our tenants for substantially all of our revenue. As a result, our success depends on the
financial stability of our tenants. The ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to us, including their obligations to pay rent,
maintain certain insurance coverage, pay real estate taxes, and maintain the properties in a manner so as not to jeopardize their
eperating-operations Heenses-orregulatory-statas-depends on the performance of their business and industry, as well as general
market and economic conditions, which are outside of our control. At any given time, any tenant may experience a downturn in
its business that may weaken its operating results or the overall financial condition of individual properties or its business as
whole. As a result, a tenant may fail to make rental payments when due, decline to extend a lease upon its expiration, become
insolvent, or declare bankruptcy. An actual or anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy, or speculation in the press or
investment community about an actual or anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy may also negatively affect our share
price or result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume of shares of our common stock. The financial failure of, or
default in payment by, a single tenant under its lease is likely to cause a significant or complete reduction in our rental revenue
from that property and a reduction in the value of the property. We may also experience difficulty or a significant delay in re-
leasing or selling such property. The occurrence of one or more tenant defaults could materially and adversely affect us. This
risk is magnified in situations where we lease multiple properties to a single tenant under a master lease. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , master leases contributed to approximately 69. 6-1 % of our ABR associated with multi- site tenants ( 466-394 of
675-656 multi- site tenant properties), and approximately 41. 5-4 % of our overall ABR (406-394 of our #96-765 properties) .
Although the master lease structure may be beneficial to us because it restricts the ability of tenants to remove individual
underperforming assets, there is no guarantee that a tenant will not default in its obligations to us or decline to renew its
master lease upon expiration . A tenant failure or default under a master lease could reduce or ellmlnate rental revenue from
multlple propertles and reduce the Value of such propertles —A h

from us or its decision not to renew its master lease upon expiration could materlally and adversely affect us. We have limited
opportunities to increase rents under our long- term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth and materially and
adversely affect us. We typically lease our properties pursuant to long- term net leases with initial terms of 10 years or more that
often have renewal options. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the ABR weighted average remaining term of our leases was
approximately 10. 5-2 years, excluding renewal options. Substantially all of our leases provide for periodic rent escalations, but
these built- in increases may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. Most of our leases contain rent
escalators that increase rent at a fixed amount on fixed dates, which may be less than prevailing market rates over the lease
duration. For those leases that contain rent escalators based on CPI changes, our rent increases during periods of low inflation or
deflation may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. Conversely, during times when inflation is greater
than the increases in rent provided by our leases, rent increases will not keep up with the rate of inflation and may fail to
keep pace with rising costs. As a result, the long- term nature of our leases could impede our growth and materially and
adversely affect us. In addition, properties leased pursuant to long- term leases at below market rental rates or with below market
rent escalations may be less attractive to potential buyers, which could affect our ability to sell such properties at an acceptable
price or at all. Our growth depends upon future acquisitions of properties, and we may be unable to identify or complete suitable
acquisitions of properties, which may impede our growth, and our future acquisitions may not yield the returns we seek. Our
business model depends significantly on acquiring new properties. From 2015 to 2623-2024 , we acquired an average of $ 586
560 . 0 million of new properties per year, with a low of $ 100. 0 million and a high of $ 1. 0 billion. Our ability to continue to
grow requires us to identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria and depends on general market and
economic conditions. Changes in the volume of real estate transactions, the availability of acquisition financing, capitalization
rates, interest rates, competition, or other factors may negatively impact our acquisition opportunities in 2624-2025 and beyond.
If we are unable to achieve growth through acquisitions, it could materially and adversely affect us .We may not be able to
obtain acquisition financing or obtain other capital from third- party sources on favorable terms or at all,which could materially
and adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.In order to qualify as a REIT,we are required under the Code,among
other things,to distribute annually at least 90 % of our REIT taxable income,determined without regard to the dividends paid
deduction and excluding any net capital gain.In addition,we will be subject to income tax at the corporate rate to the extent that
we distribute less than 100 % of our REIT taxable income,determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and
including any net capital gain.Because of these distribution requirements,we may not be able to fund future capital
needs,including any necessary acquisition financing,or repay debt obligations from operating cash flow.Consequently,we expect



to rely,in part,on third- party sources to fund our capital needs.We may not be able to obtain the financing on favorable terms or
at all.Our access to third- party sources of capital from the equity and / or debt markets depends,in part,on:* general market
conditions;e the market’ s perception of our growth potential;e our current debt levels;* our current and expected future
earnings;e the performance of our portfolio;* our cash flow and cash distributions;e external valuations by credit ratings agencies
and analysts;and ¢ the market price per share of our common stock.If we cannot obtain capital from third- party sources,we may
not be able to acquire properties when strategic opportunities exist,meet the capital and operating needs of our existing
properties,or satisfy our debt service obligations,which could materially and adversely affect us.An increase in market interest
rates could increase our interest costs on existing and future debt and could adversely affect our stock price,and a decrease in
market interest rates could lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate,which could adversely affect our
results of operations.If interest rates eentirtrete-increase,so could our interest costs for any new debt and our existing variable-
rate debt obligations.Absent a simultaneous increase in acquisition yields,this increased cost could make the financing of any
acquisition more expensive and lower our current and future period earnings.Rising interest rates could limit our ability to
refinance existing debt when it matures or cause us to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing.See “ Risks Related to Debt
Financing  for additional information.In addition,an increase in interest rates could decrease the access current and prospective
tenants have to credit,thereby decreasing the amount they are willing to pay to lease our assets and consequently limiting our
ability,if necessary,to reposition our portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions.Furthermore,the
distribution yield on our common stock will influence the price of such common stock.Thus,an increase in market interest rates
may lead prospective purchasers of our common stock to expect a higher distribution yield,which could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.See ““ Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock ” for more information.In
addition,decreases in interest rates may lead to additional competition for the acquisition of real estate due to a reduction in
desirable alternative income- producing investments.Increased competition for the acquisition of real estate may lead to a
decrease in the yields on real estate we have targeted for acquisition.In such circumstances,if we are not able to offset the
decrea%e in y1€1d§ by obtalmng lower mtereqt costs on our borrowmg% our re%ult% of operatlonq will be adversely affected

v 2 —As we Contlnue to acquire properties pursuant to our grevwth
investment strategy,our portfoho may become less diversified,which could materially and adversely affect us.In pursuing our
growth-investment strategy,we may acquire properties that cause our portfolio to become less diversified.If our portfolio
becomes less diverse,our business may become subject to greater risk,including tenant bankruptcies,adverse industry trends,and
economic downturns in a particular geographic area.As a result,if any such risks of a less diversified portfolio are realized,we
could be materially and adversely affected. We face significant competition for acquiring properties from both publicly traded
REITs and private investors that have greater resources than we do,which could materially and adversely affect us.We face
significant competition from other entities engaged in real estate investment activities,including publicly traded and privately
held REITs,private and institutional real estate investors,sovereign wealth funds,banks,insurance companies,investment banking
firms,lenders,specialty finance companies,and other entities.Some of our competitors are larger and may have considerably
greater financial,technical,leasing,underwriting,marketing,and other resources than we do.Some competitors may have a lower
cost of capital and access to funding sources that may not be available to us.In addition,other competitors may have higher risk
tolerances or different risk assessments and may not be subject to the same operating constraints,including maintaining REIT
status. This competition may result in fewer acquisitions,higher prices,lower yields,less desirable property types,and acceptance
of greater risk.As a result,we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to successfully execute our grewth-investment
strategy.Any failure to grow through acqumtlom as a result of the %1gn1ﬁeant competltlon we face could materlally and
adversely affect us. W ; :




eould-materially-and-adversely-affeetus—Our portfolio is concentrated in certain states,and any adverse developments and
economic downturns in these geographic markets could materially and adversely affect us.As of December 31, 2023-2024
;approximately 35-37 .2 % of our ABR came from properties in our top five states :Texas (9.6 %),Michigan (9.2 %),Florida
(6.5 %),California (6.1 %),and Illinois (5.8 %).These geographic concentrations could adversely affect our operating
performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the states or markets within which we have a concentration of
properties.We can provide no assurance that any of our markets will grow,will not experience adverse developments,or
that underlying real estate fundamentals will be favorable to owners and operators of industrial,retail,and other
properties.A downturn in the economy in the states or regions in which we have a concentration of properties,or markets
within such states or regions,or a slowdown in the demand for our tenants’ businesses caused by adverse
economic,regulatory,or other conditions,could adversely affect our tenants operating businesses in those states and
impair their ability to pay rent to us,which,in turn could materially and adversely affect us.Our portfolio is also
concentrated in certain property types and any adverse developments relating to these property types could materially
and adversely affect us.As of December 31,2024,approximately 59.6 % of our ABR came from industrial properties and
31.2 % from retail properties.Any adverse developments in these property types could materially and adversely affect
us.For example,the demand for industrial space in the United States is generally related to the level of economic output
and consumer demand.Accordingly,reduced economic output and / or consumer demand may lead to lower occupancy
rates or decreased demand for our industrial properties.In addition,the market for retail properties has been,and could
continue to be,adversely affected by weakness in the national,regional,and local economies,the adverse financial
condition of some large brands and companies,adverse changes in consumer spending and consumer preferences for
retailing,and the excess amount of retail space in a number of markets.Accordingly,decreases in the demand for
industrial or retail properties may have a greater adverse effect on us than if we had fewer investments in these
industries.It also may be difficult and expensive to re- tenant a property designed for a particular property type with a
new tenant that operates in an industry requiring a different property type.As a result,any adverse developments in our
concentrated property types could materially and adversely affect us.If one or more of our top 10 tenants,which together
represented approximately 21.9 % of our ABR as of December 31,2024,suffers a downturn in their business,it could
materially and adversely affect us.As of December 31,2024,0ur top 10 tenants together represented 21.9 % of our
ABR.Our largest tenant is Roskam Baking Company,which leases seven properties that in the aggregate represent
approximately 4.1 % of our ABR.Our top 10 tenants may experience a material business downturn weakening their
financial position resulting in their failure to make timely rent payments and / or default under their leases.As a
result,our revenue and cash flow could be materially and adversely affected . We may be unable to sell a property at the
time we desire on favorable terms or at all, which could limit our ability to access capital through dispositions and could
adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition, and results of operations. Real estate investments generally cannot be sold
quickly. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on factors beyond our control, including
competition from other sellers, increases in market capitalization rates and the availability of attractive financing for potential
buyers of our properties, and we cannot predict the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist at
any particular time in the future. As a result of the uncertainty of market conditions, we cannot provide any assurance that we
will be able to sell properties at a profit, or at all. In addition, and subject to certain safe harbor provisions, the Code generally
imposes a 100 % tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the sale or disposition of property other than a foreclosure property, if
the property is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, rather than for investment, which may
cause us to forego or defer sales of properties that otherwise would be attractive from a pre- tax perspective or require us to
conduct such sales through our taxable REIT subsidiary (“ TRS ), which would be subject to U. S. federal and state income
taxation. Accordingly, our ability to access capital through dispositions of properties may be limited, which could limit our
ability to fund future capital needs. We may not be able to obtain acquisition financing...... materially and adversely affected. We
may be unable to renew leases, re- lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at all, which, in
each case, could materially and adversely affect us. Our results of operations depend on our ability to continue to successfully
lease our properties, including renewing expiring leases, re- leasing properties as leases expire, leasing vacant space, optimizing
our tenant mix, or leasing properties on more economically favorable terms. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , five-16 leases
representing approximately 1. 2 % of our ABR will expire during 2624-2025 . Current tenants may decline, or may not have the
financial resources available, to renew current leases and we cannot assure you that leases that are renewed will have terms that
are as economically favorable to us as the expiring lease terms. If tenants do not renew the leases as they expire, we cannot
provide any assurance that we will be able to find new tenants or that our properties will be re- leased at rental rates equal to or
above the current average rental rates or that substantial rent abatements, leasing commissions, tenant improvement allowances,
early termination rights, or below- market renewal options will not be required to attract new tenants. We may experience
significant costs in connection with re- leasing a significant number of our properties, which could materially and adversely
affect us. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , two of our properties, representing approximately 0. 6-9 % of our portfolio, were
unoccupied. We may experience difficulties in leasing this-these vacant spaee-spaces on favorable terms or at all. Any failure to
renew leases, re- lease properties as leases expire, or lease vacant space could materially and adversely affect us. Property
vacancies could result in significant capital expenditures and illiquidity, particularly for specialty properties that are suitable for
only one use. The loss of a tenant, either through lease expiration or tenant bankruptcy or insolvency, may require us to spend



significant amounts of capital to renovate the property before it is suitable for a new tenant and cause us to incur significant
costs. In particular, our specialty properties are designed for a particular type of tenant or tenant use. If tenants of specialty
properties do not renew or default on their leases, we may not be able to re- lease properties without substantial capital
improvements, which may require significant cost and time to complete. Alternatively, we may not be able to re- lease or sell the
property without such improvements or may be required to reduce the rent or selling price significantly. Reeently;supply
Supply chain disruptions and price fluctuations in the construction and building industry have-could resulted--- result in
increased costs and significant delays for building renovation and maintenance projects. This potential illiquidity may limit our
ability to modify quickly our portfolio in response to changes in economic or other conditions, including tenant demand. Such
occurrences could materially and adversely affect us. We may experience a higher number of tenant defaults because we lease
most of our properties to tenants who do not have an investment grade credit rating. We depend on the ability of our tenants to
meet their obligations to pay rent to us due under our lease for substantially all of our revenue. As of December 31, 2023-2024 ,
only approximately +5-17 . 3-4 % of our ABR came from tenants who had an investment grade credit rating. A substantial
majority of our properties are leased to unrated tenants. Our investments in properties leased to such tenants may have a greater
risk of default than investments in properties leased exclusively to investment grade tenants. The ability of an unrated tenant to
meet its rent and other obligations under its lease with us may be subject to greater risk than our tenants that have an investment
grade rating. When we invest in properties where the tenant does not have a publicly available credit rating, we use certain
credit- assessment tools as well as our own estimates of the tenant’ s credit rating which includes reviewing the tenant’ s
financial information (e. g., financial ratios, net worth, revenue, cash flows, leverage and liquidity, if applicable). Our methods,
however, may not adequately assess the risk of an investment and, if our assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, we
may be subject to defaults and investors may view our cash flows as less stable. If one or more of our unrated tenants defaults, it
could have a material adverse effect on us. Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’ s
credit risk may be faulty, deficient, or otherwise fail to accurately reflect the risk of our investment, which could materially and
adversely affect us. Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’ s credit risk may not be
sufficient to identify tenant problems in a timely manner or at all. To evaluate tenant credit risk, we utilize a third- party model,
S & P Capital 1Q, to help us determine a tenant’ s implied credit rating when a public rating is not available. However, a rating
from S & P Capital IQ is not the same as a published credit rating and lacks extensive company participation that is typically
involved when a rating agency publishes a rating. Therefore, such rating may not be as indicative of creditworthiness as a rating
published by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Tenant credit ratings, public or implied, however, are only
one component of how we assess the risk of tenant insolvency. We also use our own internal estimate of the likelihood of an
insolvency or default, based on the regularly monitored performance of our properties, our assessment of each tenant’ s financial
health, including profitability, liquidity, indebtedness, and leverage profile, and our assessment of the health and performance of
the tenant” s particular industry. Our methods, however, may not adequately assess the risk of an investment and, if our
assessment of credit quality proves to be inaccurate, we may be subject to defaults and investors may view our cash flows as less
stable. We also rely on information from our tenants to evaluate determine-a-potential-tenants-credit risk and conduct as-welt
as-for-em—goimngongoing risk management. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , approximately 86-85 . 6-6 % of our ABR is
received from tenants that are required to provide us with specified financial information on a periodic basis. An additional -8 .
6 % of our ABR is received from tenants who are not required to provide us with specified financial information under the terms
of our lease, but whose financial statements are available publicly, either through SEC filings or otherwise. A tenant’ s failure to
provide appropriate information may interfere with our ability to accurately evaluate a potential tenant’ s credit risk or determine
an existing tenant’ s default risk, the occurrence of either could materially and adversely affect us. We could face potential
material adverse effects from the bankruptcies or insolvencies of our tenants. If a tenant, or the guarantor of a lease of a tenant,
commences, or has commenced against it, any legal or equitable proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or
other debtor’ s relief statute or law (collectively, a “ bankruptcy proceeding ), we may be unable to collect all sums due to us
under that tenant’ s lease or be forced to “ take back ” a property as a result of a default or a rejection of a lease by a tenant in a
bankruptcy proceeding. In addition, an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy or speculation in the press or investment
community about an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy may also negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in
the market price or trading volume of shares of our common stock. If a tenant becomes bankrupt or insolvent, federal law may
prohibit us from evicting such tenant based solely upon such bankruptcy or insolvency. In addition, a bankrupt or insolvent
tenant may be authorized to reject and terminate its lease or leases with us. Any claims against such bankrupt tenant for unpaid
future rent would be subject to statutory limitations that would likely result in our receipt of rental revenues that are substantially
less than the contractually specified rent we are owed under the lease or leases. Any or all of the lease obligations of our tenants,
or any guarantor of our tenants, could be subject to a bankruptcy proceeding which may bar our efforts to collect pre-
bankruptcy debts from these entities or their properties, unless we are able to obtain an enabling order from the bankruptcy
court. If our lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we may only have a general unsecured claim against the tenant and may
not be entitled to any further payments under the lease. We may also be unable to re- lease a terminated or rejected space or to
re- lease it on comparable or more favorable terms. A bankruptcy proceeding could hinder or delay our efforts to collect past
due balances and ultimately preclude collection of these sums, resulting in a decrease or cessation of rental payments, which
could materially and adversely affect us. Our properties may be subject to impairment charges. We routinely evaluate our real
estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of impairment indicators is based on factors
such as market conditions and tenant performance. For example, the early termination of, or default under, a lease by a tenant
may lead to an impairment charge. Since our investment focus is on properties net leased to a single tenant, the financial failure
of, or other default by, a single tenant under its lease (s) may result in a significant impairment loss. If we determine that an
impairment has occurred, we would be required to make a downward adjustment to the net carrying value of the property, which



could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment charge is recorded.
Management has recorded impairment charges related to certain properties in each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023,
and 2022 ;and2024-, and may record future impairments based on actual results and changes in circumstances. See “ Critical
Accounting Pettees-Policies — Long- Lived Asset Impairment ” in Item 7. “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” for a discussion of real estate impairment charges. We may engage in
development or expansion projects, including speculative development projects, which would subject us to additional
risks that could negatively impact our operations. We may engage in development or expansion projects, which are
subject to a number of risks, including construction delays, supply chain disruptions and inflation, price fluctuation of
materials, and cost overruns that may increase anticipated project costs. Such development or expansion projects could
also require us, our tenants, or any development partners to raise additional capital or obtain zoning, occupancy, or
other required governmental permits and authorizations. A decision by any governmental agency not to issue a required
permit or substantial delays in the permitting process could cause the incurrence of penalties, delay us from receiving
rental payments, result in us receiving reduced rental payments, or prevent us from pursuing the development or
expansion project altogether. We also rely on third- party construction managers and / or engineers to monitor certain
construction activities. If we engage or partner with a developer, we rely on the developer to monitor construction
activities and our interests may not be aligned. Additional risks related to development or expansion projects include,
but are not limited to: * unsuccessful development opportunities could cause us to incur direct expenses; * construction
costs of a project may exceed original estimates, possibly making the project less profitable than originally estimated or
unprofitable; * time required to complete the construction of a project or to lease up the completed project may be
greater than originally anticipated, thereby adversely affecting our cash flow and liquidity; * legal action to compel
performance of contractors, developers, or partners may cause delays and our costs may not be reimbursed; * we may
not be able to find tenants to lease the space built on a speculative basis or in a redeveloped or renovated building, which
will impact our cash flow and ability to finance or sell such properties; * possible gaps in warranty obligations of our
developers and contractors and the obligations to a tenant; * occupancy rates and rents of a completed project may not
be sufficient to make the project profitable; and « favorable financing sources to fund development activities may not be
available. The inability to successfully complete development or expansion projects or to complete them on a timely basis
could adversely affect our business and results of operations. We may enter into new transaction structures, including
real estate lending opportunities and joint ventures, which would subject us to additional risks that could negatively
impact our operations. We may explore and enter into new transaction structures, including real estate lending
opportunities and joint ventures, that may or may not be closely related to our current business. These new transaction
structures may have new, different, or increased risks than what we are currently exposed to in our business and we may
not be able to manage these risks successfully. Additionally, when investing in such new transaction structures, we will be
exposed to the risk that those structures, or the income generated thereby, will affect our ability to meet the
requirements to maintain our REIT status and to avoid entity- level taxes, or will subject us to additional regulatory
requirements or limitations. If we are not able to successfully manage the risks associated with such new transaction
structures, it could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Security
breaches and other technology disruptions could compromise our information systems and expose us to liability, which
could materially and adversely affect us. Information security risks, including risks associated with security breaches
through cyber- attacks or cyber- intrusions, malware, computer viruses, attachments to e- mails, persons inside our
organization or persons with access to systems inside our organization, and other significant disruptions of our IT
networks and related systems, have increased in recent years due to the increased technological sophistication and
activities of perpetrators of cyber- attacks, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists.
Our business involves the storage and transmission of sensitive and confidential information and intellectual property,
including tenants’ information, private information about our stockholders and our employees, and financial and
strategic information about us. In addition to our internal information systems, we also rely on third- party service
providers that may have access to such information in connection with providing necessary information technology,
security, and other business services to us. If we fail to assess and identify cybersecurity risks associated with our
operations, we may become increasingly vulnerable to such risks. Additionally, the measures we have implemented to
prevent security breaches and cyber incidents may not be effective. The theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or
release of sensitive or confidential information or intellectual property, or interference with or disruptions of our IT
networks and related systems or the technology systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business
disruption, negative publicity, brand damage, violation of privacy laws, loss of tenants, potential liability, and
competitive disadvantage. The costs related to cyber- attacks or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully
insured or indemnified by other means. Laws and regulations governing data privacy are constantly evolving. Many of
these laws and regulations, including the California Consumer Protection Act, contain detailed requirements regarding
collecting and processing personal information, restrict the use and storage of such information, and govern the
effectiveness of consumer consent. Any of the above risks could materially and adversely affect us. Changes in accounting
standards may materially and adversely affect us. From time to time the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ), and
the SEC, which create and interpret appreprtate-accounting standards, may change the financial accounting and reporting
standards or their interpretation and application of these standards that will govern the preparation of our financial statements.
These changes could materially and adversely affect our reported financial condition and results of operations. In some cases,
we could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, resulting in restating prior period financial statements. In
addition, any changes may undermine our ability to prepare timely and accurate financial statements, which could result in a



lack of investor confidence and could materially and adversely affect us. Similarly, these changes could materially and
adversely affect our tenants’ reported financial condition or results of operations and affect their preferences regarding leasing
real estate as Well as their ab1l1ty to pr0V1de accurate or complete ﬁnanc1al 1nf0rmat10n tous —We—may—aeqm-fe—pfepefﬁes—ef

AtV avorable-absen ; ns-. Certain provisions of our leases or loan agreements may be
unenforceable, which could matenally and adversely affect us. Our rights and obligations with respect to the leases at our
properties, mortgage loans, or other loans are governed by written agreements. A court could determine that one or more
provisions of such agreements are unenforceable, such as a particular remedy, a master lease covenant, a loan prepayment
provision, or a provision governing our security interest in the underlying collateral of a borrower or lessee. We could be
adversely impacted if this were to happen with respect to an asset or group of assets. We may become subject to litigation, which
could materially and adversely affect us. In the future we may become subject to litigation, including, but not limited to, claims
relating to our operations, past and future securities offerings, corporate transactions, and otherwise in the ordinary course of
business. Some of these claims may result in significant defense costs and potentially significant judgments against us, some of
which are not, or cannot be, insured against. We generally intend to vigorously defend ourselves. However, we cannot be certain
of the ultimate outcome of any claims that may arise in the future. Resolution of these types of matters against us may result in
our having to pay significant fines, judgments, or settlements, which, if uninsured, or if the fines, judgments, and settlements
exceed insured levels, could adversely impact our earnings and cash flows, thereby materially and adversely affecting us.
Certain litigation or the resolution of certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage,
which could materially and adversely impact us, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured, and materially and
adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers. A failure to maintain effective internal controls could materially
and adversely affect us. Effective internal controls over financial reporting, disclosures, and operations are necessary for us to
provide reliable financial reports and public disclosures, effectively prevent fraud, and operate successfully. If we cannot
provide reliable financial reports and public disclosures or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed.
Our internal controls over financial reporting and our operating internal controls may not prevent or detect financial
misstatements or loss of assets because of inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error, management override of
controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement accuracy,
public disclosures, and safeguarding of assets. Any failure of these internal controls, including any failure to implement required
new or improved controls as a result of changes to our business or otherwise, or if we experience difficulties in their
implementation, could result in decreased investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and
public disclosures, civil litigation, or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, and we could fail to meet our
reporting obligations, which could materially and adversely affect us. A limited number of our leases may require us to pay
property- related expenses that are not the obligations of our tenants, which could materially and adversely affect us. Under the
terms of substantially all of our leases, our tenants are responsible for the payment or reimbursement of property expenses such
as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and capital costs in addition to satisfying their rent obligations. Under the
provisions of a limited number of our existing leases and leases that we may enter into in the future, however, we may be
required to pay some or all of the expenses of the property, such as the costs of environmental liabilities, roof and structural
repairs, real estate taxes, insurance, certain non- structural repairs, and maintenance. If our properties incur significant expenses
that must be paid by us under the terms of our leases, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be
adversely affected and the amount of cash available to meet expenses and to make distributions to our stockholders and
unitholders may be reduced. As a property owner, we may be subject to environmental liabilities, which could be substantial.
There may be known or unknown environmental liabilities associated with properties we previously owned, currently own, or
may acquire in the future. Under various federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the environment, as a current or
former owner or operator of real property, we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from environmental matters,
including the presence or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances, waste, asbestos- containing building materials, or
petroleum products at, on, in, under or migrating from such property, including costs to investigate or clean up such
contamination and liability for personal injury, property damage, or harm to natural resources. Such laws often impose liability
without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such contamination. These
costs and damages could be substantial. Certain uses of some properties may have a heightened risk of environmental liability
because of the hazardous materials used in performing services on those properties, such as industrial properties or businesses
using petroleum products, paint, machine solvents, and other hazardous materials. We typically undertake customary
environmental diligence prior to our acquisition of any property, including obtaining Phase I environmental site assessments.
The Phase I environmental site assessments are limited in scope and therefore may not reveal all environmental conditions
affecting a property. Therefore, there could be undiscovered environmental liabilities on the properties we own. The known or



potential presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely affect our ability to sell, lease, or improve the property,
or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, environmental laws may create liens on contaminated properties in
favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such contamination. Moreover, if contamination is
discovered on our properties, environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which they may be used or which
businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures. Although we may obtain insurance for
environmental liability for certain properties that are deemed to warrant coverage, our insurance may be insufficient to address
any particular environmental situation and we may be unable to continue to obtain insurance for environmental matters, at a
reasonable cost or at all, in the future. If our environmental liability insurance is inadequate, we may become subject to material
losses for environmental liabilities. Our ability to receive the benefits of any environmental liability insurance policy will
depend on the financial stability of our insurance company and the position it takes with respect to our insurance policies.
Although our leases generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local
environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations, and to indemnify us against any environmental liabilities arising from the
tenants’ activities on the property, we could nevertheless be subject to liability, as a current or previous owner of real estate,
including strict liability, by virtue of our ownership interest and may be required to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic
substances on, under, or in a property. Further, there can be no assurance that our tenants, or the guarantor of a lease, could or
would satisfy their indemnification obligations under their leases. Our ability to effectively monitor and respond to the rapid and
ongoing developments and often conflicting expectations regarding our corporate responsibility and sustainability efforts ;may
impose unexpected costs or result in reputational or other harm that could have a material adverse effect on our business. There
are rapid and ongoing developments and ehanging-often conflicting expectations relating to corporate responsibility and
sustainability mattels as govemmentdl entmes 1nvest01s employees and other stakeholders have begun to focus mCIeasmgly on
such practices. W ; ; 0
beeeﬁrrng—mere—bfead-ly—expeeted—lf we are unable to ddequately recognlze and eﬂectlvely respond to such developments and
conflicting governmental, societal, investor, and consumer expectations relating to our corporate responsibility and
sustainability efforts, we may miss corporate opportunities, become subject to additional scrutiny, incur unexpected and
significant costs, or experience damage to our reputation. If any of these events were to occur, there may be a material adverse
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, which could result in stockholder dllutlon and limit our ability to sell
such assets. In the future, we may acquire propertles or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution
transactions in exchange for OP Units, which may result in stockholder dilution. This acquisition structure may have the
effect of among other thlngs, reducing the amount of tax depreciation we could deduct over the tax llfe of the acqulred

at may—merease—a-nﬁerpated—we agree to prejeet—protect eests
the contrlbutors ablhty to defer recognltlon of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the acquired
properties and / or the allocation of debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. As of December 31, 2024, we
were party to tax protection agreements covering two properties. Based on values as of December 31, 2024, taxable sales
of the apphcable propertles would trlgger hablhty under the agreements of approx1mately $ 10. 4 million . In addition, &

OV d 6 delays-in connection with the permitting
pfeeess—Company S 1nternahzat10n, we entered into a tax protection agreement with Amy L. Tait, the Company’ s
founder, and certain members of her family, which has a potentlal hablhty of up to $ 10 mllhon based on values as of
December 31, 2024. These restrictions could limit ea of 1 delay
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personnel Wlth long standing business relatlonshlps could materlally dnd adversely affect us. Our success depends toa
significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain key personnel including, but not limited to, members of our
executive management team. Many of our executive personnel, particularly our senior management team, have extensive
experience and strong reputations in the real estate industry and have been instrumental in setting our strategic direction,
operating our business, identifying, recruiting, and training key personnel, and arranging necessary financing. The departure of
any member of our executive management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely
affect our business, diminish our investment opportunities, and weaken our relationships with lenders, business partners, existing
and prospective tenants, and industry personnel, which could materially and adversely affect us. Risks Related to Investments in
Real Estate Our operating results are affected by economic and regulatory changes that impact the commercial real estate market



in general. The Company is an industrial- focused, diversified net lease REIT that focuses on investing in income- producing,
single- tenant net leased commercial properties, primarily in the United States. The Company leases industrial, healtheare;
restaurantretail, and offtee-other commercial properties under long- term lease agreements. Accordingly, our performance is
subject to risks generally attributable to the ownership of commercial real property, including: * changes in supply and demand
for single- tenant space in the industrial, healtheare;restaurantretail, and efftee-other sectors; « increased competition for real
property investments targeted by our investment strategy; * changes in consumer trends and preferences that affect the demand
for products and services offered by our tenants; ¢ inability to lease or sell properties upon expiration or termination of existing
leases and renewal of leases at lower rental rates; « the subjectivity of real estate valuations and changes in such valuations over
time; * the potential risk of functional obsolescence of properties over time; ane-+ competition from other properties 3 and ¢
changes in regulation that affect us or the commercial real estate market in general . The factors described above are out of
our control, and we are unable to predict future changes in such factors. Any negative changes in these factors may cause the
value of our real estate to decline, which could materially and adversely affect us. Global and U. S. financial markets and
economic conditions, such as inflation, may materially and adversely affect us and the ability of our tenants to make rental
payments to us pursuant to our leases. A significant portion of our portfolio is leased to tenants operating businesses that directly
or indirectly rely on discretionary consumer spending. The success of most of these businesses depends on the willingness of
consumers to use discretionary income to purchase their products or services. Our results of operations are sensitive to changes
in the overall economic conditions that impact our tenants’ financial condition and leasing practices and a downturn in the
economy could cause consumers to reduce their discretionary spending, which could result in tenant bankruptcies or otherwise
have an adverse impact on our tenants’ ability to successfully manage their businesses and pay us amounts due under our lease
agreements, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. Accordingly, adverse economic conditions such as high
unemployment levels, an increase in interest rates, a decrease in available financing, high inflation, labor and workforce
shortages, supply chain issues, tax rates, and fuel and energy costs may have an impact on the results of operations and financial
conditions of our tenants. During periods of economic slowdown or recession, rising interest rates and declining demand for real
estate may result in a general decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults under existing leases. A lack of demand for
rental space could adversely affect our ability to maintain our current tenants and gain new tenants, which may affect our growth
and results of operations. Accordingly, a decline in economic conditions could materially and adversely affect us. Increased
inflation could lead to interest rate increases that could have a negative impact on variable rate debt we currently have or that we
may incur in the future, including increases to interest rates on our borrowings set to reprice in the future. During times when
inflation is greater than the increases in rent provided by many of our leases, rent increases will not keep up with the rate of
inflation. Increased costs may have an adverse impact on our tenants if increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in
revenue, which may adversely affect the tenants’ ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely
affect us. Inflation may also have an adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ revenues and their
ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely affect us. Our real estate investments are illiquid.
Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to adjust our portfolio promptly in response to economic,
financial, investment, or other conditions may be limited. We may be unable to realize our investment objective by sale, other
disposition, or refinancing at attractive prices within any given period of time, or we may otherwise be unable to complete any
exit strategy. Further, certain significant expenditures generally do not change in response to economic or other conditions, such
as (i) debt service, (ii) real estate taxes, and (iii) operating and maintenance costs. The inability to dispose of a property at an
acceptable price or at all, as well as the combination of variable revenue and relatively fixed expenditures may result, under
certain market conditions, in reduced earnings and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. We face risks
associated with climate change, which could materially and adversely impact us. As a result of climate change, our properties in
certain markets could experience increases in storm intensity, flooding, drought, wildfires, rising sea levels, and extreme
temperatures. The potential physical impacts of climate change on our properties are uncertain and would be particular to the
geographic circumstances in areas in which we own property. Over time, these conditions could result in volatile or decreased
demand for certain of our properties or, in extreme cases, the inability of our tenants to operate the properties at all. Climate
change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of insurance (or making insurance unavailable),
increasing the cost of energy at our properties, or requiring us to spend funds to repair and protect our properties against such
risks. Compliance with new federal and state- level laws or regulations related to climate change, including climate change
disclosures, compliance with “ green ” building codes or other laws or regulations relating to reduction of carbon footprints and /
or greenhouse gas emissions, may require us to make significant cash expenditures both at the property and corporate level.
Furthermore, our tenants’ increased costs associated with compliance with such laws or regulations could negatively impact our
tenants’ operating results and ability to pay rent. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely impact us. Natural
disasters, pandemics or epidemics, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events could materially
and adversely impact us. Natural disasters (e. g., hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, wildfires, or other types of natural
dlsasters) pandemlcs or epldemlcs terrorist attacks other acts of Vlolence or war, or other catastrophlc events fe—g5

; ould cause damage to our
propertles materlally 1nterrupt our busmess operations (or those of our tenants) cause consumer confidence and spendmg to
decrease, or result in increased volatility in the U. S. and worldwide financial markets and economy. We own properties in
regions that have historically been impacted by natural disasters and it is probable such regions will continue to be impacted by
such events. If a disaster occurs, we could suffer a complete loss of capital invested in, and any profits expected from, the
affected properties. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely affect us. Insurance on our properties may not
adequately cover all losses and uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect us. Our tenants are generally required to
maintain comprehensive insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us pursuant to our net leases. Pursuant to such




leases, our tenants are required to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage on the property leased by the tenant) as
additional insureds on their liability policies and loss payee (or mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their property policies.
Additionally, most tenants are required to maintain casualty coverage and most carry limits at 100 % of replacement cost.
Depending on the location of the property, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by earthquakes and floods, may
be covered by insurance policies that are held by our tenant with limitations such as large deductibles, co- payments, or sub-
limits that a tenant may not be able to meet. In addition, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by wind / hail,
hurricanes, terrorism, or acts of war, may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. In the event there is damage to our
properties that is not covered by insurance and such properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we will continue to be liable
for the indebtedness, even if these properties are irreparably damaged. In addition, if uninsured damages to a property occur or a
loss exceeds policy limits and we do not have adequate cash to fund repairs, we may be forced to sell the property at a loss or to
borrow capital to fund the repairs. Furthermore, in the event we experience a substantial or comprehensive loss of one of our
properties, we may not be able to rebuild such property to its existing specifications without significant capital expenditures
which may exceed any amounts received pursuant to insurance policies. The loss of our capital investment in or anticipated
future returns from our properties due to material uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect us. Our costs of
compliance with laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to make unanticipated expenditures that could reduce the
investment return of our stockholders. All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to numerous
federal, state, and local laws and regulations. We cannot predict what laws or regulations will be enacted in the future, how
future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted, or how future laws or regulations will affect us or our properties.
For example, we may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to comply with applicable fire and safety regulations,
building codes, environmental regulations, and other land use regulations, and may be required to obtain approvals from various
authorities with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when undertaking improvements of any of
our existing properties. Additionally, pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ ADA ), all public accommodations
must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Compliance with ADA requirements could require
property- level expenditures and non- compliance could result in imposition of fines by the U. S. government or an award of
damages to private litigants, or both. In most instances, our tenants are obligated to comply with these types of laws and
regulations pursuant to our leases and cover costs associated with compliance. However, if required changes involve greater
expenditures than anticipated or if the changes must be made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of our
tenants to cover such costs could be adversely affected and we may be required to expend our own funds. Accordingly,
compliance with new laws or regulations, or stricter interpretation of existing laws, may require us or our tenants to incur
significant expenditures, impose significant liability, restrict or prohibit business activities, and could cause a material adverse
effect on us. Risks Related to Debt Financing As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had approximately $ 1. 9 billion principal
balance of indebtedness outstanding, which may expose us to the risk of default under our debt obligations. As of December 31,
2023-2024 , we had approximately $ 1. 9 billion principal balance of indebtedness outstanding. We have incurred, and plan to
incur in the future, financing through borrowings under term loans, senior notes, our Revolving Credit Facility, and mortgage
loans secured by some or all of our properties. In some cases, the mortgage loans we incur are guaranteed by us, the OP, or both.
We may also borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the requirement that we distribute to stockholders as dividends at least 90 % of
our annual REIT taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), or
otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax
purposes. Payments of principal and interest on borrowings may leave us with insufficient cash resources to meet our cash needs
or make the distributions to our common stockholders currently contemplated or necessary to qualify as a REIT. Our level of
debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements could have significant adverse consequences, including the
following: * our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments; ¢ cash interest expense and
financial covenants relating to our indebtedness, including a covenant in our Revolving Credit Facility that restricts us from
paying distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our REIT status, may limit or
eliminate our ability to make distributions to our common stockholders; * we may be forced to dispose of properties, possibly on
unfavorable terms or in violation of certain covenants to which we may be subject; * we may default on our obligations and the
lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our properties or our interests in the entities that own the properties that secure their
loans and receive an assignment of rents and leases; * we may be restricted from accessing some of our excess cash flow after
debt service if certain of our tenants fail to meet certain financial performance metric thresholds; and ¢ our default under any
loan with cross default provisions could result in a default on other indebtedness. The occurrence of any of these events could
materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore, foreclosures could create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds,
which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements imposed by the Code. Disruptions in the financial
markets and deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to obtain debt financing on commercially
reasonable terms, refinance existing indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all, and adversely impact our ability to implement
our investment strategy and achieve our investment objectives. We use external financing to refinance indebtedness as it matures
and to partially fund our acquisitions. Credit markets may experience significant price volatility, displacement, and liquidity
disruptions, including the bankruptcy, insolvency, or restructuring of certain financial institutions. Our access to financing
depends on, among other things, conditions in the financial markets. The United States and global financial markets have
experienced periods of significant volatility and disruption in the past, and are expected to continue to do so in the future. Recent
disruptions in the capital markets have resulted in constrained equity and debt capital available for investment in the real estate
market and increases in capitalization rates. Future events or sustained negative conditions may also reduce the availability of
financing, make financing terms less attractive, as well as negatively impact the value of our investments in properties. If
sufficient sources of external financing are not available to us on cost effective terms, we could be forced to limit our planned



business activities or take other actions to fund our business activities and repayment of debt such as selling assets or reducing
or maintaining our cash distributions. As a result, we may be unable to fully refinance maturing indebtedness with new
indebtedness, which could materially and adversely affect us. Uncertainty in the credit markets could also negatively impact our
ability to make acquisitions, make it more difficult or impossible for us to sell properties, or adversely affect the price we
receive for properties that we do sell, as prospective buyers may experience increased costs of debt financing or difficulties in
obtaining debt financing. Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially and adversely affect us. To
reduce our exposure to variable- rate debt, we enter into interest rate swap agreements to fix the rate of interest as a hedge
against interest rate fluctuations on floating- rate debt. These arrangements involve risks and may not be effective in reducing
our exposure to interest rate changes. In addition, the counterparties to any hedging arrangements we enter into may not honor
their obligations. Failure to hedge effectively against changes in interest rates relating to the interest expense of our future
floating- rate borrowings may materially and adversely affect us. Our Revolving Credit Facility and term loan agreements
contain various covenants which, if not complied with, could accelerate our repayment obligations, thereby materially and
adversely affecting us. We are subject to various financial and operational covenants and financial reporting requirements
pursuant to the agreements we have entered into governing our Revolving Credit Facility, term loans, and senior notes. These
covenants require us to, among other things, maintain certain financial ratios, including leverage, fixed charge coverage, and
debt service coverage, among others. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we believe we were in compliance with all of our loan
covenants. Our continued compliance with these covenants depends on many factors and could be impacted by current or future
economic conditions, and thus there are no assurances that we will continue to comply with these covenants. Failure to comply
with these covenants would result in a default which, if we were unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could
accelerate our repayment obligations and thereby have a material and adverse impact on us. Further, these covenants, as well as
any additional covenants to which we may be subject in the future because of additional borrowings, could cause us to forego
investment opportunities, reduce or eliminate distributions to our common stockholders, or obtain financing that is more
expensive than financing we could obtain if we were not subject to the covenants. Additionally, these restrictions may adversely
affect our operating and financial flexibility and may limit our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive
environment, all of which may materially and adversely affect us. Failure to maintain our current credit ratings could materially
and adversely affect our cost of capital, liquidity, and access to capital markets. The spread we pay over applicable reference
rates for our unsecured credit facilities is determined based on our current credit ratings of “ Baa2’ and  BBB’ from Moody’ s
and S & P, respectively. The ratings are based on a number of factors, including an assessment of our financial strength,
portfolio size and diversification, credit and operating metrics, and sustainability of cash flow and earnings. If we are unable to
maintain our current credit ratings it could adversely affect our cost of capital, liquidity, and access to capital markets. Factors
that could negatively impact our credit ratings include, but are not limited to: a significant increase in our leverage on a
sustained basis, a significant increase in the proportion of secured debt levels, a significant decline in our unencumbered asset
base, and a significant decline in our portfolio diversification. SOFR has a limited history, is different than LIBOR, and rates
derived from SOFR may perform differently than LIBOR would have performed, which could create increased volatility in our
cost of borrowing or increase our interest expense. On June 22, 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ ARRC ™)
convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York identified
SOEFR as the rate that, in the consensus view of the ARRC, represented best practice for use in certain new U. S. dollar
derivatives and other financial contracts. SOFR is a broad measure of the cost of cash overnight collateralized by U. S. Treasury
securities, and has been published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York since April 2018. The Federal Reserve Bank of
New York has also begun publishing historical indicative Secured Overnight Financing Rates from 2014. With the
discontinuation of LIBOR as a floating rate benchmark, we transitioned the reference interest rate used in connection with our
floating rate debt obligations to ones based on SOFR. The composition and characteristics of SOFR are not the same as those of
LIBOR, and SOFR is fundamentally different from LIBOR for two key reasons. First, SOFR is a secured rate, while LIBOR is
an unsecured rate. Second, SOFR is an overnight rate, while LIBOR is a forward- looking rate that represents interbank funding
over different maturities (e. g., three months) and SOFR and SOFR- based rates have a limited history. As a result, it remains
uncertain whether SOFR will perform in the same way as LIBOR would have at any time, including, without limitation, as a
result of changes in interest and yield rates in the market, market volatility or global or regional economic, financial, political,
regulatory, judicial, or other events. In addition, SOFR is a relatively new reference rate and with a limited history, and
changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than changes in other benchmark or market rates. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance that our transition to term SOFR in connection with our floating rate borrowings will not result in
increased volatility in our cost of borrowing or increased interest expense. Additionally, the inability or any inefficiency in
market participants ability to hedge SOFR- based transactions or the illiquidity or relative illiquidity in the market for SOFR-
based instruments may increase the costs associated with SOFR- based debt instruments or our ability to hedge our exposure to
floating interest rates. We may be adversely affected by changes in CDOR reporting practices, the methods by which CDOR is
determined, or the use of alternative reference rates. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , we had approximately C $ 100 million of
debt outstanding for which the interest rate was tied to the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“ CDOR ). Additionally, as of
December 31, 2623-2024 , we had entered into interest rate swaps totaling C $ 100 million that fix the CDOR component of our
debt through various tenors. In December 2021, the Canadian Alternative Reference Rate Working Group (“ CARR ”) which
was established by the Bank of Canada’ s Canadian Fixed- Income Forum to coordinate Canadian interest rate reform,
recommended that Refinitiv Benchmark Services (UK) Limited (“ Refinitiv ") cease its calculation and publication of CDOR
after June 30, 2024. CARR also recommended that by June 30, 2023, all new securities use the Canadian Overnight Repo Rate
Average (“ CORRA ), subject to certain limited exceptions. On May 16, 2022, Refinitiv announced the cessation of the
calculation and publication of CDOR after June 28, 2024. On January 11, 2023, CARR announced development of a new Term



CORRA benchmark. We are monitoring and evaluating the related risks which arise in connection with transitioning our
Canadian dollar- denominated debt to a new alternative rate, including any resulting value transfer that may occur. There can be
no assurances as to what alternative interest rates may be and whether such interest rates will be more or less favorable than
CDOR and any other unforeseen impacts of the potential discontinuation of CDOR. Any changes in CDOR reporting practices,
the methods by which CDOR is determined, or the use of alternative reference rates may adversely affect us. We may incur
mortgage debt on a particular property, which may subject us to certain risks, and the occurrence of any such risk could
materially and adversely affect us. We may incur mortgage debt on a particular property, especially if we believe the property’ s
projected cash flow is sufficient to service the mortgage debt. In addition, incurring mortgage debt may increase the risk of loss
since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the
property securing the loan that is in default. For U. S. federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would
be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If
the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable
income on foreclosure but would not receive any of the proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders to the OP or
its affiliates. If we give a guaranty on behalf of the OP, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not
paid by the OP. If any mortgages contain cross- collateralization or cross- default provisions, there is a risk that more than one
of our real properties may be affected by a default. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, we could be
materially and adversely affected. Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure Our Charter contains provisions, including
ownership and transfer restrictions, that may delay, discourage, or prevent a takeover or change of control transaction that could
otherwise result in a premium price to our stockholders. Our Charter contains various provisions that are intended to facilitate
our qualification as a REIT. For example, our Charter restricts the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no
more than 9. 8 % of the value of our then outstanding shares of capital stock and no more than 9. 8 % of the value or number of
shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our then outstanding common stock unless exempted by our Board of Directors. This
restriction may discourage a change of control of us and may deter individuals or entities from making tender offers for shares of
our common stock on terms that might be financially attractive to stockholders or which may cause a change in our
management. In addition to deterring potential change of control transactions that may be favorable to our stockholders, these
provisions may also decrease our stockholders’ ability to sell their shares of our common stock. As a result, these charter
provisions may negatively impact the market price of our common stock. We may issue preferred stock or separate classes or
series of common stock, which could adversely affect the holders of our common stock. Our Charter authorizes us to issue up to
520, 000, 000 shares of stock, and our Board of Directors, without any action by our stockholders, may amend our Charter from
time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series of stock that
we have authority to issue. Holders of shares of our common stock do not have preemptive rights to acquire any shares issued by
us in the future. In addition, our Board of Directors may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock or
preferred stock and establish the preferences, rights, and powers of any such stock. As a result, our Board of Directors could
authorize the issuance of preferred stock or separate classes or series of common stock with terms and conditions that could have
priority, with respect to distributions and amounts payable upon our liquidation, over the rights of our common stock. The
issuance of shares of such preferred or separate classes or series of common stock could dilute the value of an investment in
shares of our common stock. The issuance of shares of preferred stock or a separate class or series of common stock could
provide the holders thereof with specified dividend payments and payments upon liquidation prior or senior to those of the
common stock, and could also have the effect of delaying, discouraging, or preventing a change in control of us, including an
extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a
premium price for holders of our common stock. Termination of the employment agreements with certain members of our
executive management team could be costly. The employment agreements with certain members of our executive management
team provide that if their employment with us terminates under certain circumstances, we may be required to pay them
significant amounts of severance compensation, thereby making it costly to terminate their employment. Our Board of Directors
may change our investment and financing policies without stockholder approval, which could materially and adversely alter the
nature of an investment in us. The methods of implementing our investment policies and strategy may vary as new real estate
development trends emerge, new investment techniques are developed, and market conditions evolve. Our investment and
financing policies are exclusively determined by our Board of Directors and senior management team. Accordingly, our
stockholders do not control these policies. Further, our organizational documents do not limit the amount or percentage of
indebtedness, funded or otherwise, that we may incur. Although we are not required to maintain a particular leverage ratio, we
generally intend to maintain on a sustained basis a level of Net Debt that is generally less than 6. 0x our Annualized Adjusted
EBITDAre. However, from time to time, our ratio of Net Debt to our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may exceed 6. 0x. Our
Board of Directors may alter or eliminate our current policy on borrowing at any time without stockholder approval. If this
policy changed, we could become more highly leveraged, which could result in an increase in our debt service costs and
obligations. Higher leverage also increases the risk of default on our obligations. In addition, a change in our investment
policies, including the manner in which we allocate our resources across our portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to
invest, may increase our exposure to interest rate risk, real estate market fluctuations, and liquidity risk. Changes to our policies
with regard to the foregoing could materially and adversely affect us. Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action
against our directors and officers are limited. Maryland law provides that a director of a Maryland corporation will not have any
liability in that capacity if he or she performs his or her duties in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct. Our
Charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages to the maximum extent
permitted by Maryland law. Therefore, our directors and officers are subject to monetary liability resulting only from: * actual
receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property, or services; or * active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or



officer that was established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action adjudicated. As a result, we and our
stockholders have rights against our directors and officers that are more limited than might otherwise exist. Accordingly, in the
event that actions taken by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our Company, your and our ability to
recover damages from such director or officer will be limited. Our Charter and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws also
require us to indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and our officers for losses they may incur by reason of their
service in those capacities subject to any limitations under Maryland law or in our Charter. Moreover, we have entered into
separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and exeeuntive-officers. As a result, we and our stockholders may
have more limited rights against these persons than might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our
stockholders’ and our recovery against such persons. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by
these persons in some cases, which would reduce the cash available for distributions. We are a holding company with no direct
operations and rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities. We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of
our operations through the OP. We do not have, apart from an interest in the OP, any independent operations. As a result, we
rely on distributions from the OP to pay any distributions we might declare on shares of our common stock. We will also rely on
distributions from the OP to meet any of our obligations, including any tax liability on taxable income allocated to us from the
OP. In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims as stockholders are structurally subordinated to all existing and
future liabilities and obligations (whether or not for borrowed money) of the OP and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in the event of
our bankruptcy, liquidation, or reorganization, our assets and those of the OP and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy the
claims of our stockholders only after all of our and the OP and its subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have been paid in full.
Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest between the interests of our stockholders and members in the
OP, which may materially and adversely impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders. Conflicts of interest
could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and the OP or any future
member thereof, on the other. Our directors and officers have duties to our Company under applicable Maryland law in
connection with the management of our Company. At the same time, we, as the managing member of the OP, will have
fiduciary duties and obligations to the OP and its members under New York law and the OP Agreement in connection with the
management of the OP. Our fiduciary duties and obligations, as the managing member of the OP, and its members may come
into conflict with the duties of our directors and officers to our Company. While we intend to avoid situations involving conflicts
of interest, there may be situations in which the interests of the OP may conflict with our interests. Our activities specifically
authorized by or described in the OP Agreement may be performed by us and will not, in any case or in the aggregate, be
deemed a breach of the OP Agreement or any duty owed by us to the OP or any member. In exercising our authority under the
OP Agreement, we may, but are under no obligation to, take into account the tax consequences of any action we take. Other
than liabilities associated with tax protection agreements that we have entered into, we and the OP have no liability to a non-
managing member under any circumstances as a result of an income tax liability incurred by such non- managing member as a
result of an action (or inaction) by us pursuant to our authority under the OP Agreement. The OP Agreement provides that the
managing member will not be liable to the OP, its members, or any other person bound by the OP Agreement for monetary
damages for losses sustained, liabilities incurred, or benefits not derived by the OP or any member, except for liability for the
member’ s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Moreover, the OP Agreement provides that the OP is required to indemnify
the managing member, its affiliates, and certain related persons, and any manager, officer, stockholder, director, member,
employee, representative, or agent of the managing member or its affiliates from and against any and all claims that relate to the
operations of the OP, except if (i) the act was committed in bad faith, (ii) the act was the result of active and deliberate
dishonesty and was material to the cause of action involved, or (iii) it personally gained in fact a financial income or other
advantage to which it was not entitled under law. U. S. Federal Income Tax Risks Failure to qualify as a REIT would materially
and adversely affect us and the value of our common stock. We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of
the Code and the applicable U. S. Treasury regulations, which contain the requirements for qualifying as a REIT, which we
refer to in this Form 10- K as the “ REIT Requirements, ” beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2008. We
believe that we have been organized and operated in a manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax
purposes commencing with such year, and we intend to continue operating in such a manner. However, we cannot assure you
that we have qualified as a REIT, or that we will remain qualified as such in the future. If we lose our REIT status, we will face
significant tax consequences that would substantially reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders for each of
the years involved because: * we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable
income, we would be subject to U. S. federal income tax at the corporate rate, and we could be subject to increased state and
local income taxes; * unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions of the Code, we (and our successor)
could not elect to be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost; and ¢ for the
five years following re- election of REIT status, upon a taxable disposition of an asset owned as of such re- election, we would
be subject to corporate level tax with respect to any built- in gain inherent in such asset at the time of re- election. Any such
corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce our cash available for, among other things, our operations and
distributions to stockholders. In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be required to make distributions to our
stockholders. If this occurs, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some of our properties in order to pay any applicable
taxes. As a result of all these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to execute our grewth
investment strategy and raise capital, and could materially and adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. Even if
we remain qualified as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our
cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to certain
U. S. federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, tax on income from
some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and state or local transfer taxes. In addition, we will be subject to a 4 %



nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we distribute to our stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum
amount specified under the Code. Finally, we could, in certain circumstances, be required to pay an excise or penalty tax or
interest charge (which could be significant in amount) in order to utilize one or more relief provisions under the Code to
maintain our qualification as a REIT and to avoid the imposition of an entity- level tax. Any of these taxes or interest charges
would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, in order to meet the REIT Requirements, or to
avert the imposition of a 100 % tax that applies to certain gains derived by a REIT from dealer property or inventory, we have
held, and may continue to hold , some of our assets through a TRS that is subject to U. S. federal, state and local corporate
taxes. Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. To satisfy the REIT distribution
requirements, we may be forced to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient cash flow which could materially
and adversely affect us and the trading price of our common stock. To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our
stockholders at least 90 % of our REIT taxable income each year, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and
our net capital gain, and we will be subject to corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income to the extent that we
distribute less than 100 % of our REIT taxable income each year, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and
including our net capital gain. In addition, we will be subject to a 4 % nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which
distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85 % of our ordinary income, 95 % of our capital gain net
income and 100 % of our undistributed income from prior years. In order to satisfy these distribution requirements to maintain
our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may need to take certain actions to raise funds if we have
insufficient cash flow, such as borrowing funds, raising additional equity capital, selling a portion of our assets or finding
another alternative to make distributions to our stockholders. We may be forced to take those actions even if the then- prevailing
market conditions are not favorable for those actions. This situation could arise from, among other things, differences in timing
between the actual receipt of cash and recognition of income for U. S. federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-
deductible capital expenditures or other non- deductible expenses, the creation of reserves, or required debt or amortization
payments. Such actions could increase our costs and reduce the value of our common stock. These sources, however, may not be
available on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third- party sources of capital depends on a number of factors, including the
market’ s perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, the market price of our common stock, and our current and
potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will have access to such capital on favorable terms at the desired times,
or at all, which may cause us to curtail our investment activities and / or to dispose of assets at inopportune times, and could
materially and adversely affect us and the trading price of our common stock. Further, we may be required to make distributions
to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business. Compliance with the REIT
distribution requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits. The IRS may treat sale-
leaseback transactions as loans, which could jeopardize our REIT status or require us to make an unexpected distribution. We
may purchase properties and lease them back to the sellers of such properties. The IRS may take the position that certain of
these sale- leaseback transactions that we treat as leases are not “ true leases ” but are, instead, financing arrangements or loans
for U. S. federal income tax purposes. If a sale- leaseback transaction were so re- characterized, we might fail to satisfy the
REIT asset tests, the income tests, or distribution requirements and consequently lose our REIT status effective with the year of
re- characterization unless we elect to make an additional distribution to maintain our REIT status. The primary risk relates to
the disallowance of deductions for depreciation and cost recovery relating to such property, which could affect the calculation of
our REIT taxable income and could cause us to fail the REIT distribution requirement that requires a REIT to distribute at least
90 % of its REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and any net capital gain. In this
circumstance, we may elect to distribute an additional dividend of the increased taxable income so as not to fail the REIT
distribution test. This distribution would be paid to all stockholders at the time of declaration rather than the stockholders that
held our shares in the taxable year affected by the re- characterization. The prohibited transactions tax may limit our ability to
engage in sale transactions. A REIT’ s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100 % penalty tax. In general,
prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of business. Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as
held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our business, unless a sale or disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe
harbors, such characterization is a factual determination and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with our
characterization of our properties or that we will always be able to make use of the available safe harbors. Complying with the
REIT Requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities. The REIT provisions of
the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our assets and liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction that we enter
into to manage the risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate
assets, or from certain terminations of such hedging positions, does not constitute *“ gross income ” for purposes of the 75 % or
95 % gross income tests that apply to REITs, provided that certain identification requirements are met. To the extent that we
enter into other types of hedging transactions or fail to properly identify such transaction as a hedge, the income is likely to be
treated as non- qualifying income for purposes of the 75 % and 95 % gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may be
required to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the
cost of our hedging activities because any TRS in which we own an interest may be subject to tax on gains or expose us to
greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in any TRS in
which we own an interest will generally not provide any tax benefit, except that such losses may be carried forward and may be
deducted against 80 % of future taxable income in the TRS. Complying with the REIT Requirements may force us to liquidate
or forgo otherwise attractive investments. To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other
things, the nature and diversification of our assets, the sources of our income, and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders.
In connection with the Company’ s internalization, we were treated as having acquired substantial amounts of goodwill that may



not qualify for the 75 % asset test. Compliance with these limitations, particularly given the goodwill that we acquired in the
Company’ s internalization, may hinder our ability to make, and, in certain cases, maintain ownership of certain attractive
investments that might not qualify for the 75 % asset test. If we fail to comply with the REIT asset test requirements at the end
of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain
statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may
be required to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments in order to satisfy the asset and income tests or to qualify under
certain statutory relief provisions. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income, increasing our income tax
liability, and reducing amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, we may be required to make
distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, and may
be unable to pursue investments (or, in some cases, forego the sale of such investments) that would be otherwise advantageous
to us in order to satisfy the REIT Requirements. Accordingly, satisfying the REIT Requirements could materially and adversely
affect us. Moreover, if we are compelled to liquidate our investments to meet any of these asset, income, or distribution tests, or
to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with one or more of the REIT Requirements or may be subject
to a 100 % tax on any resulting gain if such sales constitute prohibited transactions. In certain circumstances, we may be liable
for certain tax obligations of certain of the members of the OP. In certain circumstances, we may be liable for tax obligations of
certain of the members of the OP. In connection with certain UPREIT transactions and the Company’ s internalization, we have
entered or wil-may enter into tax protection agreements under which we have agreed to indemnify members of the OP against
adverse tax consequences if we were to sell, convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of our assets in taxable transactions, with
specific exceptions and limitations. Pursuant to the tax protection agreements, we have also agreed to ensure that such members
of the OP are allocated minimum amounts of the OP” s indebtedness. If we fail to meet our obligations under the tax protection
agreements, we may be required to reimburse those members of the OP for the amount of the tax liabilities they incur, subject to
certain limitations. We may enter into additional tax protection agreements in the future in connection with other UPREIT
transactions. Although it may be in our stockholders’ best interest that we sell a property, it may be economically
disadvantageous for us to do so because of these obligations. In order to limit our exposure to a tax obligation, our use of
proceeds from any sales or dispositions of certain properties will be limited. In connection with acquisitions, we may inherit tax
liabilities and attributes of other entities. From time to time, we or the OP may acquire other corporations or entities and, in
connection with such acquisitions, we may succeed to the historical tax attributes and liabilities of such entities. For example, if
we acquire appreciated assets from a non- REIT C corporation in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in its
hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the C corporation, we will be subject to
entity- level tax on any gain recognized in connection with a disposition (such as a taxable sale) of any such assets during the 5-
year period following such acquisition. In addition, in order to qualify as a REIT, we must not have, at the end of any taxable
year, any earnings and profits accumulated in a non- REIT year. As a result, if we acquire a C corporation (including upon a
liquidation of a TRS), we must distribute the corporation’ s earnings and profits accumulated prior to the acquisition before the
end of the taxable year in which we acquire the corporation. We also could be required to pay the acquired entity’ s unpaid taxes
even though such liabilities arose prior to the time we acquired the entity. Because each of Trident BRE Holdings I, Inc. and
Trident BRE Holdings II, Inc. (the *“ Blocker Corps ) were taxable as a non- REIT C corporation and we acquired their
appreciated assets in connection with the Company’ s internalization in transactions (the “ Blocker Corp Mergers ) in which the
adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands was determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of
each of the Blocker Corps prior to the Blocker Corp Mergers, we will be subject to corporate income tax on the “ built- in gain ”
with respect to the Blocker Corps’ assets at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers if we dispose of those assets in a taxable
transaction within five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers. This built- in gain is measured by the difference between the
value of the Blocker Corps’ assets at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers and the adjusted basis in those assets. We estimate
this built- in gain to be approximately $ 56. 4 million. The assets of the Blocker Corps we acquired in the Blocker Corp Mergers
are the Blocker Corps’ interests in BRE. When BRE merged into the OP in a tax- deferred transaction and the Blocker Corps
received OP Units, the built- in gain associated with the Blocker Corps’ assets became represented as part of an intangible asset
on our balance sheet. The disposition of that intangible asset in a taxable transaction within five years following the Blocker
Corp Mergers could trigger a corporate income tax on that built- in gain. The most likely transaction in which that intangible
asset is disposed of would be a sale of the OP (or our interest in the OP) in a taxable transaction. Thus, if the OP (or our interest
in the OP) is sold in a taxable transaction within five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers, we could incur a corporate
income tax on approximately $ 56. 4 million of built- in gain. In addition to the foregoing, as a result of the Blocker Corp
Mergers, we inherited any liability with respect to unpaid taxes of each of the Blocker Corps for any periods prior to the Blocker
Corp Mergers. Changes to the U. S. federal income tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on us. The IRS, the United
States Treasury Department and Congress frequently review U. S. federal income tax legislation, regulations, and other
guidance. We cannot predict whether, when or to what extent new U. S. federal tax laws, regulations, interpretations or rulings
will be adopted. Any legislative action may prospectively or retroactively modify our tax treatment and, therefore, may
adversely affect our taxation or our stockholders. We urge you to consult with your tax advisor with respect to the status of
legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our stock.
Although REITs generally receive certain tax advantages compared to entities taxed as “ C ” corporations, it is possible that
future legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company
that invests in real estate to elect to be treated for U. S. federal income tax purposes as a “ C ” corporation. Risks Related to
Ownership of Our Common Stock The market price and trading volume of shares of our common stock may be volatile. The
market price of shares of our common stock may fluctuate. In addition, the trading volume in shares of our common stock ymay
fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Historically, these changes frequently appear to occur without regard to



the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors
that have little or nothing to do with us in particular. If the market price of shares of our common stock declines significantly,
you may be unable to resell your shares of our common stock at or above the public offering price. We cannot assure you that
the market price of shares of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly, including a decline below the public
offering price, in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the
market price or trading volume of shares of our common stock include: ¢ actual or anticipated declines in our quarterly operating
results or distributions; ¢ actual or anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies, or speculation in the press or
investment community about actual or anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies; ¢ changes in government
regulations; * changes in laws affecting REITs and related tax matters; * the announcement of new eentraets-transactions by us
or our competitors; ¢ reductions in our FFO, Core FFO, AFFO, or earnings estimates; * publication of research reports about us
or the real estate industry; * increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of shares of our common stock to demand a
higher yield; « future equity issuances, or the perception that they may occur, including issuances of common stock upon
exercise or vesting of equity awards or redemption of OP Units; « changes in market valuations of similar companies; * adverse
market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future; « additions or departures of key management personnel;
actions by institutional stockholders; ¢ differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by
investors and analysts; ¢ changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections; * speculation in the press or investment
community; and ¢ the realization of any of the other risk factors presented herein. In the past, securities class action litigation has
been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the price of their common stock. This type of litigation could
result in substantial costs and divert our management’ s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on
our cash flows, our ability to execute our business strategy, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. We may
not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all. We intend to make cash
distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that all or substantially all of our taxable income in each year, subject to
adjustments, is distributed. However, we may not be able to continue to generate sufficient cash flow from our properties to
permit us to make the distributions we expect. Our ability to continue to make distributions in the future may be adversely
affected by the risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to
make or maintain distributions and certain agreements relating to our indebtedness may, under certain circumstances, limit or
eliminate our ability to make distributions to our common stockholders. For instance, our Revolving Credit Facility contains
provisions that restrict us from paying distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our
REIT status. We can give no assurance that rents from our properties will increase, or that future acquisitions of real properties
or other investments will increase our cash available for distributions to stockholders. In addition, any distributions will be
authorized at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors, and the form, timing, and amount, if any, will depend upon a number
of factors, including our actual and projected results of operations, FFO, Core FFO, AFFO, liquidity, cash flows and financial
condition, the revenue we actually receive from our properties, our operating expenses, our debt service requirements, our
capital expenditures, prohibitions and other limitations under our financing arrangements, our REIT taxable income, the annual
REIT distribution requirements, applicable law, and such other factors as our Board of Directors deems relevant. If we do not
have sufficient cash available for distributions, we may need to fund the shortage out of working capital or borrow to provide
funds for such distributions, which would reduce the amount of proceeds available for real estate investments and increase our
future interest costs. Our inability to make distributions, or to make distributions at expected levels, could result in a decrease in
trading price of our common stock. Future offerings of debt, which would be senior to shares of our common stock upon
liquidation, and / or preferred equity securities that may be senior to shares of our common stock for purposes of distributions or
upon liquidation, may materially and adversely affect the market price of shares of our common stock. In the future, we may
attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred equity securities (or causing the OP
to issue debt securities). Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and preferred stock and lenders with respect to other
borrowings will receive distributions of our available assets prior to our stockholders. Additionally, any convertible or
exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences, and privileges more favorable than those of our
common stock and may result in dilution to owners of our common stock. Additionally, future issuances or sales of substantial
amounts of shares of our common stock may be at prices below the initial public offering price of the shares of our Class A
Common Stock and may result in further dilution in our earnings and FFO per share and / or materially and adversely impact the
per share trading price of our common stock. Our stockholders are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against
dilution. Our preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on distribution
payments that could limit our right to make distributions to our stockholders. Because our decision to issue securities in any
future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing, or nature of our future offerings. Our stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the per share
trading price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our capital stock in the public markets may dilute your
voting power and your ownership interest in us. Our Charter provides that we may issue up to 500, 000, 000 shares of common
stock, $ 0. 00025 par value, and 20, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value per share. Moreover, under Maryland
law and as provided in our Charter, a majority of our entire Board of Directors has the power to amend our Charter to increase or
decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we are authorized to
issue without stockholder approval. Future issuances of shares of our common stock, securities convertible or exchangeable into
common stock, or shares of our preferred stock may dilute the ownership interest of our common stockholders. Because our
decision to issue additional equity or convertible or exchangeable securities in any future offering will depend on market
conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future
issuances. In addition, we are not required to offer any such securities to existing stockholders on a preemptive basis. Therefore,



it may not be possible for existing stockholders to participate in such future issuances, which may dilute the existing
stockholders’ interests in us. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. There are no unresolved staff comments. Item 1C.
Eyberseenrity-CybersecurityOur Our-EVP and Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the oversight of the Company’ s
information technology and cybersecurity function, which consists of five employees and is led by our VP, Information Systems
& Solutions. Our VP, Information Systems & Solutions has over 25 years of experience in information technology leadership,
including oversight of information technology general controls and management of information technology security and
cybersecurity programs. The information technology and cybersecurity team also includes our Director, Information
Technology, who has held information technology leadership roles for over 15 years, including in management of infrastructure,
applications, information technology security, and cybersecurity prevention and education programs. The Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors oversees the evaluation of the policies and practices developed and implemented by the Company with
respect to the risk assessment and risk mitigation of information technology and cybersecurity matters. The Company has
implemented a Computer Security Incident Response Plan (the *“ Incident Response Plan ™) that sets forth the process for
identifying, responding to, and recovering from cybersecurity incidents. We have a dedicated cross- functional Incident
Response Team (the “ IRT ) that participates in annual tabletop exercises and simulations with our external cybersecurity legal
counsel to test the Incident Response Plan as part of our business continuity, incident response, risk assessment, and disaster
recovery planning. The IRT is also responsible for evaluating the level of materiality of any cybersecurity incident in
accordance with the Incident Response Plan and may engage the services of third- party experts to assist in the event of a
cybersecurity incident. To our knowledge, in the last three years we have not experienced a cybersecurity incident that has had,
and we are not aware of any cybersecurity incident that is reasonably likely to have, a material impact on us, our business
strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, as (i) our business involves the storage and transmission of
numerous classes of sensitive and confidential information and proprietary information, including tenants’ information, private
information about our investors and our employees, and financial and strategic information about us and (ii) we also rely on
third- party service providers that have access to such information in connection with providing necessary information
technology and security and other business services to us, we face risks associated with security breaches through cyber- attacks
or cyber- intrusions, malware, computer viruses, attachments to e- mails, persons inside our organization or persons with access
to systems inside our organization, and other significant disruptions of our IT networks and related systems that could have a
material impact on us, our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. See “ Risks Related to Our Business
and Properties — Security breaches and other technology disruptions could compromise our information systems and expose us
to liability, which could materially and adversely affect us ” for additional information. In an effort to mitigate the impact of
cybersecurity events, we conduct mandatory information technology and cybersecurity training for all employees upon hire and
at least annually thereafter, and regularly test our employees for information security awareness and adherence to our
information technology and cybersecurity policies, which are reviewed at least annually. We also provide our employees with
access to educational newsletters and articles regarding relevant information technology and cybersecurity matters on a regular
basis. Additionally, we utilize third- party experts to review and test our information technology infrastructure, including
constant monitoring for suspicious activity, routine penetration testing of our networks, and an annual security assessment of the
effectiveness of our informational technology environment to identify potential vulnerabilities. For example, our VP,
Information Systems & Solutions and Director, Information Technology receive periedie-monthly reporting from our managed
securlty seerce pr0V1der and meet regularly to dlscuss reported acthlty &ﬂd—assess—&ﬂy—feeemmertda&eﬁs— Our The-Company

e and-otr-\V P, Information
Systems & Solutions and D1rector lnformatlon Technology also meet with the cybersecurlty solutlons team at our managed
security service provider on a quarterly basis to review and discuss the rating-Company’ s cybersecurity vulnerability
score and petential-key risk indicators, including security alerts, specific vulnerabilities, and remediation cadence, as well

as peer comparisons and enhancements to eur-the Company’ s cybersecurlty program —”Phe—eybeﬁts-lﬁ&t-mg—fepeﬁs—afe—a-}se
shared-with-the-Audit Committee-ona-quarterty-basts-. Our third- party service providers of technology services are generally

required to provide us with system and organization controls (SOC) reports prior to formal engagement and annually thereafter.
The reports are reviewed by our VP, Internal Audit and our VP, Information Systems & Solutions, or their designee (s), to assess
and monitor compliance with cybersecurity best practices. In conjunction with the operational day- to- day processes discussed
above, material risks from cybersecurity threats are identified and assessed in connection with the Company’ s enterprise risk
management process. Our Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ ERMC ”), which is overseen by our SVP and General
Counsel and is comprised of our senior leadership team and key functional personnel, meets quarterly to discuss the Company’ s
enterprise risks, including cybersecurity risks. Cybersecurity risks are reviewed in detail and assigned risk ratings on an annual
basis. The ERMC also discusses mitigation efforts, potential enhancements to processes and policies, and key risk indicators for
the Company’ s risks, including cybersecurity risks. The ERMC’ s annual risk assessment is presented to the Board of Directors
and the Audit Committee on an annual basis. In addition to the Company’ s annual ERMC risk assessment, our VP, Information
Systems & Solutions and Director, Information Technology brief the Audit Committee on information technology and
cybersecurity matters at least annually and provide interim updates to the Audit Committee on such matters on a quarterly basis.
Item 2. Properties. Please refer to Item 1. “ Business * of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for information concerning our
properties. Item 3. Legal Proceedings. From time to time, we are subject to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings
that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a party to legal proceedings that we believe would
reasonably be expected to have material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We are not
aware of any material legal proceedings to which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or to which any of our property is
subject, nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by government agencies. Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable. Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of




Equity Securities Market Information Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “
BNL. ” Stockholders As of February 26-14 , 2024-2025 , there were approximately $82-471 holders of record of our common
stock. However, because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
shareholders, we believe there are considerably more beneficial holders of our common stock than record holders. Unregistered
Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities Equity Compensation Plan Information The
information concerning our Equity Compensation Plan will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2624
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference. Performance Graph The following graph is a
comparison of the cumulative total return of shares of our common stock, the S & P 500, and the MCSI US REIT Index. The
graph assumes that $ 100 was invested on December 31, 2648-2019 , in each of shares of our common stock, the S & P 500 and
the MCSI US REIT Index, and that all dividends were reinvested. There can be no assurance that the performance of our shares
will continue in line with the same or similar trends depicted in the graph below. The MCSI US REIT Index is a free float-
adjusted market capitalization index that is comprised of equity REITs. The index is based on MSCI USA Investable Market
Index (IMI), its parent index, which captures large, mid, and small capitalization securities. While funds used in this benchmark
typically target institutional investors and have characteristics that differ from us (including differing fees), we feel that the
MCSI US REIT Index is an appropriate and accepted index for the purpose of evaluating returns on investments in direct real
estate funds. December 31, Broadstone Net Lease 100. 00 $85-96 . 25164+ 11 127 . +6-434-51 88 . 2+-92-30 100 . 93165-66 99
.94-57 S & P 500 100. 00 434118 . 4915540 152 . 682066-39 124 . 3746479 157 . 6826759 197 . 2+-02 MSCI US REIT
Index 100. 00 425-92 . 8444643 132 . 34466-23 99 . 39425-82 113 . 64+442-54 123 . 8747 Prior to our [PO in September 2020
and the listing of our common stock on the NYSE, we sold shares of common stock in a private offering at a share price
established by the committee of our Board of Directors comprised of our independent directors (“ Independent Directors
Committee ) based on the net asset value of our portfolio, input from management and third- party consultants, and such other
factors the Independent Directors Committee deemed necessary. Subsequent to our IPO and listing of our common stock on the
NYSE, our share price is determined by market participants. The information in this “ Performance Graph ” section is not
soliciting material, ” is not deemed “ filed ” with the SEC, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under
the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing. Item 6.
[ Reserved ] Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations The following
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“ MD & A ”) is intended to help the
reader understand our results of operations and financial condition. This MD & A is provided as a supplement to, and should be
read in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing in Item 8. “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data * in this Annual Report on Form 10- K.
Overview We are an industrial- focused, diversified net lease real estate investment trust (“ REIT ) that invests in primarily
single- tenant commercial real estate properties that are net leased on a long- term basis to a diversified group of tenants. As of
December 31, 2823-2024 , our portfolio includes #36-765 properties, with #89-758 properties located in 44 U. S. states and
seven properties located in four Canadian provinces . We expect to achieve growth in revenues and earnings through our
four core building blocks, which are (1) embedded same store net operating income growth through best- in- class
portfolio rent escalations, stable rent collections, minimal credit losses, strong lease rollover outcomes, and accretive
recycling, (2) revenue generating capital expenditures with existing tenants, (3) build- to- suit developments, and (4) a
diversified acquisition pipeline . We focus on investing in real estate that is operated by creditworthy single tenants in
industries characterized by positive business drivers and trends. We target properties that are an integral part of the tenants’
businesses and are therefore opportunities to secure long- term net leases —Fhretgh-through which teng—termnetdeases;our
tenants are able to retain operational control of their strategically important locations, while allocating their debt and equity
capital to fund core business operations rather than real estate ownership. « Diversified Investment Strategy. We invest in real
estate through property acquisitions, revenue generating capital expenditures, build- to- suit developments, and
transitional capital. Our investments in these alternatives fluctuate from time to time depending on macroeconomic
conditions and business or market trends. Our strong relationships with brokers, developers, and tenants provides
access to, off- market and marketed investment opportunities. Off- market transactions are characterized by a lack of a
formal marketing process and a lack of widely disseminated marketing materials. Marketed transactions are often
characterized by extensive buyer competition. For all investments, we seek to maintain our portfolio’ s diversification by
property type, geography, tenant, and industry in an effort to reduce fluctuations in income caused by under-
performing individual real estate assets or adverse economic conditions affecting an entire industry or geographic
region. ¢ Diversified Portfolio. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , our portfolio comprised approximately 3839 . 3-4 million
rentable square feet of operational space, was highly diversified based on property type, geography, tenant, and industry, and
was cross- diversified within each (e. g., property- type diversification within a geographic concentration): ¢ Property Type: We
are primarily diversified across industrial ;healtheare;restaurant-and retail property types. Within these sectors, we have
meaningful concentrations in manufacturing, distribution and warehouse, food processing, general merchandise, casual dining,
and elinteal-quick service restaurants s-end-general-merehandise-. « Geographic Diversification: Our properties are located in 44
U. S. states and four Canadian provinces, with no single geographic concentration exceeding 9. 76 % of our ABR. * Tenant and
Industry Diversification: Our properties are occupied by 202 apprextmately226-different commercial tenants who operate 26&
different-190 distinct brands that are diversified across 53-differing-55 varying industries, with no single tenant accounting for
more than 4. 1 % of our ABR. « Strong In- Place Leases with Significant Remaining Lease Term. As of December 31, 2623
2024 , our portfolio was approximately 99. 4-1 % leased with an ABR weighted average remaining lease term of approximately
10. 5-2 years, excluding renewal options. * Standard Contractual Base Rent Escalation. Approximately 97. 3-4 % of our leases



have contractual rent escalations, with an ABR weighted average sinimuam-increase of 2. 0 %. * Extensive Tenant Financial
Reporting. Approximately 93-94 . 82 % of our tenants, based on ABR, provide financial reporting, of which 86-85 . 8-6 % are
required to provide us with specified financial information on a periodic basis , and an additional -8 . 6 % of our tenants report
financial statements publicly, either through SEC filings or otherwise . Diversified Investment Activity During the year ended
December 31, 2024, our investment activity consisted of the following: For the Three Months Ended For the Year Ended
December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2024 Acquisitions: Acquisition price
$—$69,250 $ 165, 053 $ — $ 234, 303 Initial cash capitalization rate — 7.2 % 7. 3 % — 7. 3 % Straight- line yield —
8.0% 8.1 % — 8.1 % Weighted average lease term (years) — 9.4 11. 5 — 10. 9 Weighted average annual rent increase
—2.8 % 2.3 % — 2. 4 % Build- to- suit developments: Investments $ 22, 962 $ 24, 667 $ 30, 583 $ 37,107 $ 115, 319
Revenue generating capital expenditures: Investments $ —$ —$ —$ 3, 000 $ 3, 000 Initial cash capitalization rate —
——8.0 % 8.0 % Weighted average lease term (years) — — — 8. 0 8. 0 Weighted average annual rent increase — —
— 2.5 % 2.5 % Transitional capital: Investments $ —$ — $ 52,200 § — §$ 52, 200 Cash capitalization rate — —8. 0 %
— 8. 0 % Total investments $ 22, 962 $ 93, 917 $ 247, 836 $ 40, 107 $ 404, 822 Total initial cash capitalization rate (a) —
7.2% 7.3 % 8.0 % 7.3 % Total weighted average lease term (years) (a) — 9.4 11. 5 8. 0 10. 8 Total weighted average
annual rent increase (a) — 2.8 % 2.3 % 2.5 % 2.4 % (a) Due to the nature of (1) transitional capital representing a
contractual yield on invested capital, and (2) build- to- suit developments not generating revenue during construction,
these are excluded from the calculation of total cash capitalization rates, weighted average lease terms, and weighted
average rent increases. Build- to- Suit Development Projects The following table summarizes the Company’ s in- process
developments as of December 31, 2024: Property Property Type Projected Rentable Square Feet Start Date (b) Target
Stabilization Date (c) Lease Term (Years) Total Project Commitment (d) Estimated Total Project Investment (e)
Cumulative Investment Estimated Remaining Investment Estimated Cash Capitalization Rate (f) Estimated Straight-
line Yield 7 Brew (High Point- NC) Retail Dec. 2024 Feb. 2025 $1,975$1,975%$ 1,173 $ 8. 0 % 8. 8 % Sierra Nevada
(Dayton- OH) Industrial Oct. 2024 Nov. 2025 58, 563 58, 563 4, 638 53, 925 7. 6 % 9. 4 % Sierra Nevada (Dayton- OH)
Industrial Oct. 2024 Mar. 2026 55, 525 55, 525 4, 257 51,268 7. 7 % 9. 6 % Southwire (Bremen- GA) Industrial 1, 200
Dec. 2024 Jul. 2026 115, 411 107, 333 8, 285 99, 048 7. 6 % 8. 6 % Total 1,445 $ 231,474 $ 223,396 $ 18, 353 $ 205, 043
(b) The period in which we have acquired access to the land and begun physical construction on a property. (c)
Represents our current estimate of the period in which we will have substantially completed a project and the project is
made available for occupancy. We expect to update our timing estimates on a quarterly basis. (d) Represents the
contractual maximum amount of costs that we are committed to fund for the build- to- suit development project. (e)
Represents the estimated costs to be incurred to complete development of each project. We expect to update our
estimates upon completion of the project, or sooner if there are any significant changes to expected costs from quarter to
quarter. Excludes capitalized costs consisting of capitalized interest and other acquisition costs. (f) Calculated by
dividing the estimated first year cash yield to be generated on a real estate investment by the Estimated Project
Investment for the property. The following table summarizes the Company’ s stabilized developments during the year
ended December 31, 2024: Property Property Type Rentable Square Feet Lease Commencement Date (g) Total Project
Commitment (d) Estimated Total Project Investment (¢) Cumulative Investment Estimated Remaining Investment
Estimated Cash Capitalization Rate (f) Estimated Straight- line Yield UNFI (Sarasota- FL) Industrial 1, 016 Sep. 2024 $
204, 833 $ 200,958 $ 190,573 $ 10,385 (h) 7. 2 % 8. 6 % (g) The month in which the development was substantially
completed and was made available for occupancy. (h) Revenue on additional fundings will receive a cash capitalization
rate of 6. 8 % . Factors That Impact Our Result of Operations Our results of operations and financial condition are affected by
numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. Key factors that typically impact our results of operations and
financial condition, include rental rates, property dispositions, lease renewals and occupancy, investment activity, net lease
terms, interest expense, general and administrative expenses, tenant bankruptcies, and impairments. Rental Rates Our ability to
grow rental revenue from our existing portfolio will depend on our ability to realize the rental escalations built into our leases.
As of December 31, 2623-2024 , leases contributing approximately 97. 3-4 % of our ABR provided for increases in future ABR,
generally ranging from 1. 5 % to 3. 0 % annually, with an ABR weighted average mintmum-increase of 2. 0 %. Generally, our
rent escalators increase rent on specified dates by a fixed percentage. Approximately H-12 . 81 % of our rent escalators are
based on an increase in the CPI over a specified period and 2. 76 % of our leases are flat leases, meaning they do not provide for
rent increases during their terms. Property Dispositions From time to time, we strategically dispose of properties, primarily
when we believe the risk profile has changed and become misaligned with our then current risk- adjusted return objectives. The
resulting gains or losses on dispositions may materially impact our operating results, and the recognition of a gain or loss on the
sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction based on fluctuations in asset prices and demand in the real estate market
at the time a property is listed for sale. Lease Renewals and Occupancy As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the ABR weighted
average remaining term of our portfolio was approximately 10. 5-2 years, excluding tenant renewal options, and 16 leases , for—-
or approximately five-properties;or-1. 2 % of ABR, will expire during 2024-2025 . Approximately 3 % of the properties in our
portfolio are subject to tenant leases without at least one renewal option. Approximately 68-67 . 6-3 % of our ABR was derived
from leases that will expire after 2030, and no more than +3-12 . 6-3 % of our ABR was derived from leases that expire in any
single year up to 2030. The stability of the rental revenue generated by our properties depends principally on our tenants’ ability
to pay rent and our ability to collect rents, renew expiring leases or re- lease space upon the expiration or other termination of
leases, lease currently vacant properties, and maintain or increase rental rates at our leased properties. To the extent our
properties become vacant and are not subject to a lease, we would forego rental income while remaining responsible for the
payment of property taxes and maintaining the property until it is re- leased, which could negatively impact our operating
results. Our portfolio was 99.4-1 % occupied as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Investment-Aetivity-Our historical growth in



revenues and earnings has been achieved through rent escalations associated with existing in- place leases, coupled with rental
income generated from accretive property investments. Our ability to grow revenue will depend, to a significant degree, on our
ability to identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria. Changes in capitalization rates, interest rates, or
other factors may impact our acquisition opportunities in the future. Market conditions may also impact the total returns we can
achieve on our investments. Our investment volume also depends on our ability to access third- party debt and equity financing
or our ability to recycle capital through property dispositions . Net Lease Terms Substantially all of our leases are net,
pursuant to which our tenant generally is obligated to pay most recurring expenses associated with the leased property including
real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, and repairs. The remaining leases generally require that we pay some property
expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance, or certain repairs and maintenance. Additionally, we seek to use master lease
structures when possible, pursuant to which we lease multiple properties to a single tenant on an all or none basis. Master leases
strengthen our ability to preserve rental revenue and prevent costs associated with vacancies for underperforming properties. As
of December 31, 2023-2024 , master leases contributed 69. 8-1 % of the ABR associated with multi- site tenants ( 466-394 of
675-656 properties), and 41. 54 % of our overall ABR (486-394 of our #36-765 properties). Interest Expense We anticipate that
we will continue to incur debt to fund future investment activity, which will increase the amount of interest expense we incur. In
addition, although we attempt to limit our total floating- rate debt exposure, changes in the interest rate environment could either
increase or decrease our weighted average interest rate in the future. As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,99-97 . 2 % of our $1. 9
billion of debt was-is fixed ;with-through fixed rates and $ 36-939. 5 million of interest rate swap notional metaring-. As
interest rate swaps mature, we will be subject to interest rate risk from changes in rates on our floating- rate debt to the
fourth-quarterof 2024-extent we do not enter into new interest rate swaps . Any changes to our debt structure or debt
financing associated with property investments, could materially influence our operating results depending on the terms of any
such debt. Our current investment grade credit ratings are * BBB’ from S & P Global Ratings (“ S & P ) and ‘ Baa2’ from
Moody’ s Investors Service (“ Moody’ s ™), which allow us to take advantage of the lower cost of debt. However, a downgrade
in our credit rating, or interest rate change due to governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic
and political conditions, or other factors beyond our control, could also increase the amount of interest we pay under our debt
agreements. General and Administrative Expenses Our general and administrative expenses primarily consist of employee
compensation and related costs, third party legal, accounting, and consulting expenses, travel and entertainment, and general
office expenses. Impact of Inflation Our leases with tenants of our properties are long- term in nature, with a current weighted
average remaining lease term of 10. 5-2 years as of December 31, 2623-2024 . To mitigate the impact of inflation on our fixed
revenue streams, we have implemented limited escalation clauses in our leases. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , substantially all
of our leases had contractual rent escalations, with an ABR weighted average minimum-increase of 2. 0 %. A majority of our
leases have fixed annual rent increases or periodic escalations over the term of the lease (e. g., a 10 % increase every five years),
and the remaining portion has annual rent escalations based on increases in the CPIL. These lease escalations mitigate the risk of
fixed revenue streams in the case of an inflationary economic environment, and provide increased return in otherwise stable
market conditions. As a majority of our portfolio has fixed lease escalations, we are limited in our same store rental revenue
inflation protection. Our focus on single- tenant, net leases also mitigates the potential impact of fluctuations in the cost of
services and maintenance as a result of inflation. For a portion of our portfolio, we have leases that are not fully net, and,
therefore, we bear certain responsibilities for the maintenance and structural component replacements (e. g., roof, structure, or
parking lot) that may be required in the future, although the tenants are still required to pay all operating expenses associated
with the property (e. g., real estate taxes, insurance, and maintenance). Inflation and increased costs may have an adverse impact
to our tenants and their creditworthiness if the increase in costs are greater than their increase in revenue. Where we cannot
implement a net lease, we attempt to limit our exposure to inflation through the use of warranties and other remedies that reduce
the likelihood of a significant capital outlay. Tenant Bankruptcies Adverse economic conditions, particularly those that affect
the markets in which our properties are located, or downturns in our tenants’ industries could impair our tenants’ ability to meet
their lease obligations to us and our ability to renew expiring leases or re- lease space. In particular, the bankruptcy of one or
more of our tenants could adversely affect our ability to collect rents from such tenants and maintain our portfolio” s occupancy.
Impairments We review long- lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present,
an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use of the long- lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows
include expected future operating income, as adjusted for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition,
and other factors. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long- lived asset or
asset group exceeds its fair value. Significant judgment is made as to if and when impairment should be taken. If our strategy,
or one or more of the assumptions described above, changes in the future, we may have to recognize an impairment. Indications
of a tenant’ s inability to continue as a going concern, plans to vacate the property upon lease expiration, changes in our view
or strategy relative to a tenant’ s business or industry, or changes in our long- term hold strategies, could each be indicative of an
impairment triggering event. For the year ended December 31, 20623-2024 , we recognized $ 3+49 . 3-0 million of impairment
due to a change in our long- term hold strategy for fewr-18 properties . Current Market Conditions and Strategic Priorities
Over the last two fiscal years, challenging capital market conditions directly impacted the broader commercial real
estate market and, in particular, the net lease real estate market. During the latter half of fiscal 2022, interest rates
began to rise steadily and persisted through fiscal years 2023 and 2024, resulting in a challenging lending environment
and a material increase in the cost of capital for commercial real estate buyers and lenders. The increase in interest rates
accelerated at a more aggressive pace than commercial real estate capitalization rates, thereby compressing earnings on
new investments. More recently, market expectations about expansionary monetary policy resulted in net lease real



estate sellers maintaining higher pricing expectations, which ultimately led to a significant decrease in transaction
volumes during the latter half of 2023 and throughout 2024. These challenging market conditions have limited and may
continue to limit the ability of commercial real estate owners, including us, to complete real estate acquisitions at volume
and accretion levels consistent with prior years, resulting in lower earnings growth rates compared to historical periods.
On February 21, 2024, we announced the strategic decision to sell our clinically- oriented healthcare properties as part of
our healthcare portfolio simplification strategy. Our decision to sell these assets was in part due to our review of our
investment pipeline and expectation that we would fully redeploy the proceeds into our core investment verticals of
industrial and retail assets without diluting our per share results. Through December 31, 2024, we have sold 55 clinical
healthcare properties for gross proceeds of $ 345. 6 million, thereby reducing our exposure to clinical healthcare assets to
3.2 % of our ABR. We have successfully redeployed all sale proceeds and expect to employ a deliberate and methodical
approach to repositioning our remaining clinically- oriented healthcare properties in order to enhance and preserve the
value of those assets. As a result of actual and planned sales from our clinical healthcare portfolio simplification strategy,
we have recognized an $ 72. 6 million gain on sale of real estate and incurred $ 71. 5 million of impairment charges
through December 31, 2024. Outside of gains on sale of real estate and impairments, we do not expect our healthcare
portfolio simplification strategy to materially impact our results of operations or financial position . Discussion of our
Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 26242022 was
previously filed in our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . See Item 7. “ Management’
s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” under the heading *“ Results of Operations — Year
Ended December 31, 2622-2023 Compared to Year Ended year ended December 31, 20242022 . ” Year Ended December 31,
2023-2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022-2023 [ case revenues, net Year Ended-ended December 31, Increase /
(Decrease) (in thousands) $ % Revenues:-Contractual rental amounts billed for operating leases $ 388, 074 $ 388, 073 § —
H7-$28:-756-8-6-% Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease billings on a straight- line basis 22,163 27, 154 (2—2—
3534, 864+214-991) (18 . 5-4) % Net Write-write - eff-offs of accrued rental income ( 2, 556) (4, 260) €1, 710 326)2;-940-- 40 >
106-. 6-1 % Variable rental amount earned 2, 999 2, 277 31 15075+ +7 % Earned income from direct financing leases 2, 748
2,752 2585610644 ) (3-0 . 6-1 ) % Interest income from sales- type leases — — % Operating expenses billed to tenants 20,
693 20, 363 14957793 6-6 % Other income from real estate transactions 2, 039 7, 414 3~(§ , 375) (72 669-4:345>160-. 6-5)
% Adjustment to revenue recognized for uncollectible rental amounts billed, net ( 4, 418) ( 937) (+86-3, 481 ) > 83H—<<(100. 0)
% Total Lease rev enues, net $ 431,800 $ 442 888 3% 49—7’—(11 088) (2 5—1—3—$—3§—3—7§—8— —7—5) 0 /0 T e fﬂefeas&decrease in Lease

an-inerease-in ledse teImmatlon fee income (—wh-leh—we—c dssmed as other income from real estate transactions in the table
above ), which fluctuates from period to period, coupled with a decrease in realizable revenues associated with the-earty
certain clinical healthcare properties. While lcasc termination-and-sale-revenues decreased as a result of an-offiee-our
healthcare portfoho s1mpllﬁcat10n strategy, th1s was offset by redeployment mto revenue generatmg pfepefey—propertles

Opelatmg Expenses Yedl Eﬁded—ended Decembel 31 Increase / (Decrease) (in thousands) > % ()pemtm0 expenses *
Depreciation and amortization $ 156, 179 $ 158, 626 $ (+54:867-$3;819-2 ,447) (1 . 5) % Plopelty and operating expense 24,
741 22,576 242, 165 9 773-$3-. 7-6 % General and administrative 37, 986 39, 425 37-(1 , 439) (3 375-$2,650-5- 5-6) %
Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 49, 001 31, 274 5-17 , 727 56 535-$25-739>100-. 8-7 % Total
operating expenses $ 267,907 $ 251, 901 $ 249-16 , 006 6 499-$-32-4114- 84 % The inerease-decrease in depreciation and
amortization during-for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 was primarily due to properties aeguired-sold in the previous
year not having a full year of depreciation in the current year, offset by a full year’ s worth of depreciation from property
investments made in the previous year as well as partial depreciation from property investments made in the current year
Toffsetbynetdispositions-. The increase in property and operating expense for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was
primarily due to a $ 2. 9 million increase in non- reimbursable property expenses related to a decrease in occupancy, of
which $ 1. 7 million related to real estate taxes . The -rnefease-decrease in general and ddmmlstmme e\pense fo1 the yedl
ended December 31 %92—3—2024 was pllmarl Hereas A

follo“mu table plesents the 1mpaument Chdl ges f01 their respective periods: Yeal -E-nded—ended Deeember 31, (in thousands,
except number of properties) Number of properties Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 146, 811 $ 62, 720 $12,72+
Fair value 97, 810 31, 446 £386-Impairment charge $ 49,001 $ 31, 274 During the year ended December 31, 2024, we
recognized $ 5-49. 0 million of impairment on our investments in rental properties , 535-primarily from changes in the
Company’ s long- term hold strategy with respect to the individual properties. Such impairments primarily related to
our strategic decision to sell our clinically- oriented healthcare properties as part of our healthcare portfolio



simplification strategy. The timing and amount of impairment fluctuates from period to period depending on the specific facts
and circumstances. Other income (expenses) Year Ended-ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) (in thousands) $ % Other
income (expenses) Interest income $ $ $ 94. 1 % Interest expense (74, 077) (80, 053) (5, 976) (7. 5) % Gain on sale of real
estate 73, 153 54, 310 18, 843 34 7 % Income taxes (1 175) (763) 54 0 % Other income (expenses) 6 201 (1, 681) 7, 882 >

-rnefease-decrease n 1nterest expense feﬂeets—an—related to capltahzmg $2.3 mllhon more 1nterest on in- process
development spend during the year ended December 31, 2024. Additionally, approximately $ 1. 9 million of the inerease
decrease was attributable to a decrease in our weighted average cost and outstanding balance of borrowings on our

variable- rate United-States Delar(“UJSD--Revolving Credit Facility berrewings;our-only-vartablerate-debt-. At December
31,2623-2024 , the overnight Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR ”) was 4. 49 % compared with the one- month

SOFR rate swas-of 5. 35 Y%-eompared-with-4—36-% at December 31, 2622-2023 . Our weighted This-inerease-was-offsetby
deereased-average outstandmg beffewmgs—revolver balance was $ 95 . Sinee-8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022

2024 compared to ;w g W by-5 ++6-121 . 6-7 million for ;exeluding-the impaets-year
ended December 31, 2023 Lastly, $1.7 mllhon of fefetgn—e*ehaﬂge—femeasttfeﬁaent—the decrease in interest expense related
to swap terminations . Our recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction based on
fluctuations in asset prices and demand in the real estate market. During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , we
recognlzed a g&rns— galn of $ 73 2 mllhon on the sale of 58 propertles, compared to a gain of $ 54. 3 million on the sale of

2 million unreahzed forelgn exchange gain recognlzed on the quarterly
remeasurement of our $ 100 million Canadlan Dollars (“ CAD ) Revolving Credit Facility borrowings, compared to a $
1. 7 million unrealized foreign exchange loss recognized during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . Net Income and
Net earnings per diluted share Year Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) (in thousands, except per share data) $ % Net
income $ 168,989 $ 163, 312 $429-5 , 677 3 475-$33;83726-. +5 % Net carnings per diluted share 0. 86 0. 83 0. 03 720+
453 . 6 % The increase in net income is primarily due to a-an $ 38-18 . 4-8 million increase in the gain on sale of real estate 5
together with a revente-growth-of$ 35-7 . 4-9 million increase in other income (expenses), and $ 6. 0 million decrease in
interest expense . These are faetors-were-partialty-offset by an a$25Fmihen-increase in the provision for impairment of
investment in rental properties of and-a-$ 17. 7 million and an $ 11 . 1 million decrease in lease revenues etherineome
{expensesy. GAAP net income includes items such as gain or loss on sale of real estate and provisions for impairment, among
others, which can vary from quarter to quarter and impact period- over- period comparisons. Liquidity and Capital Resources
We acquire real estate using a combination of debt and equity capital and with cash from operations that is not otherwise
distributed to our stockholders, and proceeds from dispositions of real estate properties. Our focus is on maximizing the risk-
adjusted return to our stockholders through an appropriate balance of debt and equity in our capital structure. We are committed
to maintaining an investment grade balance sheet through active management of our leverage profile and overall liquidity
position. We believe our leverage strategy has allowed us to take advantage of the lower cost of debt while simultaneously
strengthening our balance sheet, as evidenced by our current investment grade credit ratings of * BBB’ from S & P and ‘ Baa2’
from Moody’ s. We seek to maintain on a sustained basis a Leverage Ratio that is generally less than 6. 0x. As of December 31,
2023-2024 , we had total debt outstanding and-of $ 1. 9 billion, Net Debt of § 1. 9 billion eaelk-, Pro Forma and-ateverage
Ratie-of5—0x—Nect Debt of § 1. 9 billion, a Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio of 5. 0x, and a Pro Forma
Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ratio of 4. 9x. Net Debt, Pro Forma Net Debt, and Annualized Adjusted
EBITDAre are non- GAAP financial measures, apg-Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 18-, and Pro Forma Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre are calculated based upon EBITDA, EBITDAre, and-Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma
Adjusted EBITDAre cach of which is also a non- GAAP financial measure. Refer to Non- GAAP Measures below for further
details concerning our calculation of non- GAAP measures and reconciliations to the comparable GAAP measure. Liquidity /
REIT Requirements Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including our ongoing
commitments to repay debt, fund our operations, acquire and develop properties, make distributions to our stockholders, and
other general business needs. As a REIT, we are required to distribute to our stockholders at least 90 % of our REIT taxable
income determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains, on an annual basis. As a
result, it is unlikely that we will be able to retain substantial cash balances to meet our long- term liquidity needs, including
repayment of debt and the acquisition of additional properties, from our annual taxable income. Instead, we expect to meet our
long- term liquidity needs primarily by relying upon external sources of capital and proceeds from selective property
dispositions. Short- term Liquidity Requirements Our short- term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to
pay for our operating expenses, including our general and administrative expenses as well as interest payments on our
outstanding debt, to pay distributions, to fund our acquisitions that are under control or expected to close within a short time
period, and to pay for commitments to fund build- to- suit development-developments eppertunities-, tenant improvements, ane
revenue generating capital expenditures , and transitional capital investments . Under leases where we are required to bear the
cost of structural repairs and replacements, we do not currently anticipate making significant capital expenditures or incurring
other significant property costs, including as a result of inflationary pressures in the current economic environment, because of
the strong occupancy levels across our portfolio and the net lease nature of our leases. We expect to meet our short- term
liquidity requirements primarily from cash and cash equivalents balances and net cash provided by operating activities,
supplemented by borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and capital recycled through selective property dispositions.



We use cash on hand and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility to initially fund aeguisitions-investments , which are
subsequently repaid or replaced with proceeds from our equity and debt capital markets activities as well as proceeds from
dispositions. As detailed in the contractual obligations table below, we have approximately $ 244-300 . 34 million of expected
obligations due throughout 2624-2025 , primarily consisting of $ +48-169 . 7-0 million of commitments to fund investments, $
55-57 . 9-2 million of dividends declared, $ 3754 . 2-1 million of projected interest expense dae-, and $ 20. 2 —3-million of
mortgage amortization. We expect our cash provided by operating activities, as discussed below, will be sufficient to pay for our
current obligations including interest and mortgage amortization. We expect to pay for commitments to fund investments and
our dividends declared using our Revolving Credit F ac111ty As of December 31, %92—3—2024 we have $ 999—907 60 mllhon of
available capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility with i A
profife-. Long- term Liquidity Requirements Our long- term hqurdlty requrrementq consist prnnarrly of fund% neceqsary to repay
debt and invest in additional revenue generating properties and build- to- suit developments . We expect to source debt capital
from unsecured term loans from commercial banks, revolving credit facilities, private placement senior unsecured notes, and
public bond offerings. The source and mix of our debt capital in the future will be impacted by market conditions as well as our
continued focus on lengthening our debt maturity profile to better align with our portfolio’ s long- term leases, staggering debt
maturities to reduce the risk that a significant amount of debt will mature in any single year in the future, and managing our
exposure to interest rate risk. We have no material debt maturities until 2026, as detailed in the table below. We expect to meet
our long- term liquidity requirements primarily from borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, future debt and equity
financings, and-as well as proceeds from dispositions Hmited-sales-of-ourproperttes-. Our ability to access these capital sources
may be impacted by unfavorable market conditions, particularly in the debt and equity capital markets, that are outside of our
control. In addition, our success will depend on our operating performance, our borrowing restrictions, our degree of leverage,
and other factors. Our acquisition growth strategy significantly depends on our ability to obtain acquisition financing on
favorable terms. We seek to reduce the risk that long- term debt capital may be unavailable to us by strengthening our balance
sheet by investing in real estate with creditworthy tenants and lease guarantors, and by maintaining an appropriate mix of debt
and equity capitalization. We also, from time to time, obtain or assume non- recourse mortgage financing from banks and
insurance companies secured by mortgages on the corresponding specific property subject to limitations imposed by our
Revolving Credit Facility covenants and our investment grade credit rating. Equity Capital Resources Our equity capital is
primarily provided through our at- the- market common equity offering program (“ ATM Program ), as well as follow- on
equity offerings. During May 2024, we replaced our prior ATM Program with a new ATM Program with the same
aggregate gross sales price of up to $ 400. 0 million. Under the terms of our ATM Program we may, from time to time,
publicly offer and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $ 400 . 0 million. The ATM
Program provides for forward sale agreements, enabling-which enable us to set the price of shares upon pricing the offering ,
while delaying the issuance of shares and the receipt of the net proceeds. We-didnotraise-any-equityonourATMProgram
during-During the year twelve-menthsended December 31, 2623-2024 , in connection with forward sales agreements
provided for under the ATM Program, we sold 2, 187, 700 shares of common stock at a weighted average price of $ 18.
29 per share, subject to certain adjustments. We expect to settle the outstanding shares of these forward sales
agreements before their maturities in August and have-September 2025. Our estimated net proceeds of these forward sale
agreements, assuming physical settlement for cash as of December 31, 2024, is approximately $ +45-38 . 4-5 million . We
have not settled any part of avatable-these forward sales agreements as of December 31, 2024. After considering the
shares sold subject to forward sale agreements, we have $ 360. 0 million of capacity remaining ea-under the ATM Program

as of December 31, 2623-2024 . The-There following-table-presents-informatiorrabott-our-were no shares issued under the
ATM Program for aeﬁﬂty—Fer—the ¥eaeyear Ended—ended December 31, 2023 ﬁn—t-heﬁsaﬁds—exeept—peeshafe—ametmts-}

$—$—22—2—89§—$—24—399—€ﬁes&pfeeeed34$—$—2%6—483—$—28—}99-0ur pubhc offerrnge have been u%ed to repay debt, fund

acquisitions, and for other general corporate purposes. As we continue to invest in accretive real estate properties, we expect to
balance our debt and equity capitalization, while maintaining a Leverage Ratio below 6. 0x on a sustained basis. Unsecured
Indebtedness and Capital Markets Activities as of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2623-2024 The following table sets
forth our outstanding Revolving Credit Facility, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes at December 31, 2623-2024 .
(in thousands, except interest rates) Outstanding Balance InterestRate MaturityDateRevolving Credit Facility $ 96-93 , 434-014
Applicable reference rate 0. 85 % (a) Mar. 2026 (d) Unsecured term loans: 2026 Unsecured Term Loan 400, 000 one- month
adjusted SOFR 1. 00 % (b) fe)-Feb. 20262027 Unsecured Term Loan 200, 000 daily simple ere—menth-adjusted SOFR 0. 95 %
(c) Aug. 20272029 Unsecured Term Loan 300, 000 daily simple ere—month-adjusted SOFR 1. 25 % (c) Aug. 2029Total
unsecured term loans 900, 000 Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (42, 853-799 ) Total unsecured term loans, net 895-897 ,
947201 Senior unsecured notes: 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A 150, 000 4. 84 % Apr. 20272028 Senior Unsecured
Notes- Series B 225, 000 5. 09 % Jul. 20282030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C 100, 000 5. 19 % Jul. 20302031 Senior
Unsecured Public Notes 375, 000 2. 60 % Sep. 2031Total senior unsecured notes 850, 000 Unamortized debt issuance costs and
original issuance discount, net (43 , 694936 ) Total senior unsecured notes, net 845-846 , 369-064 Total unsecured debt $ 1,
8314836 , 696-279 (a) At December 31, 2623-2024 , a balance of $ 23. 5 million was subject to daily simple SOFR. At
December 31, 2024 , the balance includes $ 100 million CAD borrowings remeasured to $ 7569 . 4-5 million USD, and was
subject to the dally 51mple ene—month-Canadian -BeHa%foered—Overmght Repo Rate Average (“ CORRA ”) of 5-3. 46-32
%. (b he rto-a-one—m v r—e-)
At December 31 %92—3—2024 one- rnonth SOF R was 5—4 35—33 %. (c) At December 31 2024 overnlght SOFR was 4 49 %.
(d) Our Revolving Credit Facility contains two six- month extension options subject to certain conditions, including the payment
of an extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. Our Revolving Credit Facility has a $ 1. 0 billion capacity




with a maturity date of March 2026 and contains two six- month extension options, subject to certain conditions, including an
extension fee equal to 0. 0625 %. In addition to Haited-StatesPeHars~USD 2, borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Facility can be made in Pound Sterling, Euros or €anadianBeHars-~CAD Zup to an aggregate amount of $ 500. 0 million.
Borrowings under the amended credit facility are subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to the applicable
reference rate plus a margin of 0. 85 % based on our current credit ratings of * BBB’ and * Baa2’ from S & P and Moody’ s,
respectively. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a facility fee on the amount of the revolving commitments,
based on our credit rating. The applicable facility fee is 0. 20 % per annum. 2026 Unsecured Term Loan Borrowings under the
2026 Unsecured Term Loan are subject to interest at variable rates based on one- month adjusted SOFR plus a margin based on
our credit rating ranging between 0. 85 % and 1. 65 % based on our credit rating. 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029
Unsecured Term Loan Borrowings under the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured Term Loan bear interest at
variable rates based on daily simple ene—menth-adjusted SOFR plus a margin based on our credit rating ranging between 0. 80
% and 1. 60 % per annum for the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan, and 1. 15 % and 2. 20 % per annum for the 2029 Unsecured
Term Loan. 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A The 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A are payable interest only
semiannually during their term, bear interest at a fixed rate of 4. 84 % per annum, and mature in April 2027. 2028 Senior
Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C The 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030
Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C are payable interest only semiannually during their term, and bear interest at fixed rates of 5.
09 % per annum and 5. 19 % per annum, respectively. Series B Notes mature in July 2028, and the Series C Notes mature in
July 2030. 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes Borrowings under the 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes are subject to
interest only, semi- annual payments at a fixed rate of 2. 60 % per annum and mature in September 2031. Debt Covenants We
are subject to various covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to our debt facilities, which are summarized
below. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we believe we were in compliance with all of our covenants on all outstanding
borrowings. In the event of default, either through default on payments or breach of covenants, we may be restricted from
paying dividends to our stockholders in excess of dividends required to maintain our REIT qualification. For each of the
previous three years, we paid dividends out of our cash flows from operations in excess of the distribution amounts required to
maintain our REIT qualification. Contractual Obligations The following table provides information with respect to our
contractual commitments and obligations as of December 31, 2023-2024 (in thousands). Refer to the discussion in the Liquidity
and Capital Resources section above for further discussion over our short and long- term obligations. Year ofMaturity
Revolving CreditFacility €reditFaetity-(a) Mortgages Term Loans Senior Notes InterestExpense (b) Dividends (c)
Commitments to Fund Investments (d) Total § — $ 2;266-- 20,195 $ — $ — $ 37-54 , 24+-095 $ 55-57 , 966-209 S H8-168 ,
728950 $ 244-300 , +35-449 93, 014 16, 843 400, 000 — 69, 809 — 70, 735 650, 401 — 1, 596 26-200 , +95-000 150, 000 40,
487 — —93-392 , 364083 —2-38, 279 — 225, 000 H5-65 , 496-96-599 — — 328 , 878 — — 300 434—1-6—843—499— 000 —
17,96-906 7933-— — 664-317 , 906 5
—334;-898-Thereafter — — 306-— 475, OOO 4%’5—16 722 06046, H2-— — -82—1—491 —7—1%722 Total $ 96-93 , 434-014 $ -7-9
76 ,+72-913 $ 900, 000 $ 850, 000 $ 396-264 , 816-618 $ 55-57 , 966-209 $ 4+26-239 , 728-685 $ 2, 493-481 , 656-439 (a) Our
Revolving Credit Facility contains two six- month extension options subject to certain conditions, including the payment of an
extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. (b) Interest expense is projected based on the outstanding
borrowings and interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2623-2024 . This amount includes the impact of interest rate swap
agreements. (¢) Amounts include dividends declared as of December 31, 2623-2024 of $ 0. 285-29 per common share and OP
Unit. Future undeclared dividends have been excluded. (d) Amounts include acquisitions under control, defined as under
contract or executed letter of intent, and commitments to fund revenue generating capital expenditures , and beth current build-
to- suit development-developments opportanities-and under control build- to- suit developments . At December 31, 2023
2024 . investment in rental property with a book value of $ +26-117 . 5-8 million, was pledged as collateral against our
mortgages . In the normal course of business, we enter into various types of commitments to purchase real estate
properties. These commitments are generally subject to our customary due diligence process and, accordingly, a number
of specific conditions must be met before we are obligated to purchase the properties . Additionally, we are a party to two
separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of two distinct UPREIT transactions and a third tax protection
agreement entered into in connection with the internalization of our management in February 2020. The tax protection
agreements require us to indemnify the beneficiaries in the event of a sale, exchange, transfer, or other disposal of the
contributed property, and in the case of the tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the Company’ s
internalization, the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would cause such beneficiaries to recognize a gain that is
protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. Based on values as of December 31, 2623-2024 , taxable sales of
the applicable properties would trigger liability under the three agreements of approximately $ 20. 4 million. Based on
information available, we do not believe that the events resulting in liability as detailed above have occurred or are likely to
occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we have excluded these commitments from the contractual commitments table
above. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities We are exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in interest rates
on the floating- rate borrowings under our unsecured credit facilities. Borrowings pursuant to our unsecured credit facilities bear
interest at floating rates based on SOFR or EBOR-CORRA plus an applicable margin. Accordingly, fluctuations in market
interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense, which will in turn, increase or decrease our net income and cash
flow. We attempt to manage the interest rate risk on variable rate borrowings by entering into interest rate swaps. As-efDuring
the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 |, swe-had-32-the Company entered into nine forward- starting interest rate swaps
ottstanding-for a total notional amount of $ 460. 0 million. These forward- starting swap arrangements are effective
during various periods between March and December 2025 and mature in 2030. As of December 31, 2024, we had 30
effective and nine forward- starting interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $ 975-1 . 4 mitten-billion .




Under these—- the effective swap agreements, we receive monthly payments from the counterparties equal to the related
variable interest rates multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. In turn, we pay the counterparties each month an amount
equal to a fixed interest rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net impact of these
transactions is that we pay a fixed interest rate on our variable- rate borrowings. The interest rate swaps have been designated by
us as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and are reported at fair value. We assess, both at inception and on an ongoing
basis, the effectiveness of our qualifying cash flow hedges. We have not entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or
interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. In addition, we own investments in Canada, and as a result are subject to risk
from the effects of exchange rate movements in the Canadian dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows. We funded a
significant portion of our Canadian investments through Canadian dollar borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, which
is intended to act as a natural hedge against our Canadian dollar investments. The Canadian dollar Revolving Credit Facility
borrowings are remeasured each reporting period, with the unrealized foreign currency gains and losses flowing through
earnings. These unrealized foreign currency gains and losses do not impact our cash flows from operations until settled, and are
expected to directly offset the changes in the value of our net investments as a result of changes in the Canadian dollar. Our
Canadian investments are recorded at their historical exchange rates, and therefore are not impacted by changes in the value of
the Canadian dollar. Cash Flows Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $ 16. 0 million, $ 20. 6 million, and $ 60.
0 mithet;and-$27-8-million at December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;ard202+-, respectively. The table below shows
information concerning cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;-and-262+: For the Year Ended
December 31, (in thousands) Net cash provided by operating activities $ 276,253 $ 271, 074 $ 255, 914 $244;937 Net cash
(used in) provided by fused-m)-investing activities (89, 703) 24, 338 (859, 643 3582;364-) Net cash (used in) provided by
financing activities ( 221, 189) ( 334, 820) 636, 000 254,488 Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash $ (4, 639) $ (39, 408) $ 32, 271 $82,959)-The increase in net cash provided by operating activities during the years—
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to 2023 and-was mainly due to a decrease in interest expense. The increase in
net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was mainly due
to growth in our real estate portfolio and associated incremental net lease revenues . The increase in net cash used in investing
activities during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to 2023 was mainly due to increased investment volume,
partially offset by proceeds from disposition activity . The increase in net cash provided by investing activities during the
years— year ended December 31, 2023 and-as compared to 2022 was mamly due to 1ncreased proceeds from dlSpOSlthl’l
ve}&me-actlwty The -rnefease-decrease in net cash used in v aetty 0 78

v y fmancmg activities during the year ended
December 31, %92—3—2024 as Compared to the year ended December 31 2622-2023 , mainly reflects a-an increase in net
borrowings on the Revolvmg Credlt Faclllty and mcreased dlstrlbutlons paid to shareholders in 2024 compared to 2023.
The decrease -6 d OLFOW in net cash provided by financing activities durmg the
year ended December 31 %92—2—2023 as compared to the year ended December 31, 20242022 , mainly reflects an-a inerease
decrease in our total outstandlng borrowings ﬂet—pfeeeeds—ffeﬁa—eqwtrr&nd-debt—effeﬂngs—ln 2023 compared to 2022 to-fund

. FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO We compute Funds From Operatlons (“FFO ”) in accordance
with the standards established by the Board of Governors of Nareit, the worldwide representative voice for REITs and publicly
traded real estate companies with an interest in the U. S. real estate and capital markets. Nareit defines FFO as GAAP net
income or loss adjusted to exclude net gains (losses) from sales of certain depreciated real estate assets, depreciation and
amortization expense from real estate assets, and impairment charges related to certain previously depreciated real estate assets.
FFO is used by management, investors, and analysts to facilitate meaningful comparisons of operating performance between
periods and among our peers, primarily because it excludes the effect of real estate depreciation and amortization and net gains
(losses) on sales, which are based on historical costs and implicitly assume that the value of real estate diminishes predictably
over time, rather than fluctuating based on existing market conditions. We compute Core Funds From Operations (“ Core FFO ™)
by adjusting FFO, as defined by Nareit, to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that we believe are infrequently
recurrmg, unusual in nature, or not related to its core real estate operations, including write- offs or recoveries of accrued rental
income, fease-terminationfees;-gain on insurance recoveries, lease termination fees and the-other ehange-in-fair-valae-ofour
e&meut—habﬂ-tfyenon- core income from real estate transactions ., cost of debt extingtishments— extinguishment , unrealized
and realized gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, severance and exeeutive-employee transition costs, and other
extraordinary items. Exclusion of these items from similar FFO- type metrics is common within the equity REIT industry, and
management believes that presentation of Core FFO provides investors with a metric to assist in their evaluation of our operating
performance across multiple periods and in comparison to the operating performance of our peers, because it removes the effect
of unusual items that are not expected to impact our operating performance on an ongoing basis. We compute Adjusted Funds
From Operations (“ AFFO 7), by adjusting Core FFO for certain revenues and expenses that are non- cash reventues-and
expenses-or unique in nature , including straight- line rents, amortization of lease intangibles, adjustment to provision for credit
losses, amortization of debt issuance costs, amortization of net mortgage premiums, {(gaitrynon- capitalized transaction costs
such as acquisition costs related to deals that failed to transact, loss on interest rate swaps and other non- cash interest
expense, deferred taxes, stock- based compensation, and other specified non- cash items. We believe that excluding such items
assists management and investors in distinguishing whether changes in our operations are due to growth or decline of operations
at our properties or from other factors. We use AFFO as a measure of our performance when we formulate corporate goals, and
is a factor in determining management compensation. We believe that AFFO is a useful supplemental measure for investors to
consider because it will help them to better assess our operating performance without the distortions created by non- cash
revenues or expenses. Specific to our adjustment for straight- line rents, our leases include cash rents that increase over the term
of the lease to compensate us for anticipated increases in market rental rates over time. Our leases do not include significant




front- loading or back- loading of payments, or significant rent- free periods. Therefore, we find it useful to evaluate rent on a
contractual basis as it allows for comparison of existing rental rates to market rental rates. FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other REITs, and comparisons of our FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO with
the same or similar measures disclosed by other REITs may not be meaningful. Neither the SEC nor any other regulatory body
has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments to FFO that we use to calculate Core FFO and AFFO. In the future,
the SEC, Nareit or another regulatory body may decide to standardize the allowable adjustments across the REIT industry and in
response to such standardization we may have to adjust our calculation and characterization of Core FFO and AFFO
accordingly. The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to FFO, Core FFO and
AFFO: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share data) Net income $ 168,989 $ 163,312 $ 129,475 $
+069-528-Real property depreciation and amortization 155, 844 158, 346 154, 673 4345999-Gain on sale of real estate ( 73, 153)
(54, 310) (15, 953 335-523-) Provision for impairment on investment in rental properties 49, 001 31, 274 5, 535 28;268-FFO $§
300, 681 $ 298, 622 $ 273, 730 $256:242-Net write- offs of accrued rental income 2, 676 4, 458 1, 326 +Other non- core
income from real estate transactions (a) (2 , 070) 938Lease-termination-fees-(7, 500) (2, 469 3H35;-6080-) Gain on insurance
recoveries — — (341) —Cost of debt extinguishment — Severance and exeeuntive-employee transition costs 1, 622 45364
Change-in-fair-valte-ofearnonthability———>5;-539-Other (income) expenses ( neeme-b ) (a-6,201 ) 1, 678 (5, 690) Core FFO
$ 295,471 $ 298, 883 § 267, 265 $236:423-Straight- line rent adjustment ( 21, 652) (26, 736) (21, 900 H26;364-) Adjustment
to provision for credit losses ( 17) ( 10) (5 3H38-) Amortization of debt issuance costs 3, 932 3, 938 3, 692 3;-854-Amortization of
net mortgage premiums — (78) (104) 432>-Non- capitalized transaction costs — — [ oss on interest rate swaps and other
non- cash interest expense 1, 884 2, 514 Amortization of lease intangibles ( ¢) (4, 413) ( 5, 846) (4, 809 H35268-) Stock- based
compensation 7,355 5, 972 5, 316 4:-669-Deferred taxes (282) —AFFO $ 281,991 § 277, 725 § 252, 173 $2145:962(a)
Amount includes $ 1. 2 million of lease termination fees and $ 0. 9 million in income for the settlement of a permanent
land easement for an insignificant portion of two of our properties during the year ended December 31, 2024. Amount
includes $ 7. 5 million and $ 2. 5 million in lease termination fees for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. (b) Amount includes ($ 6. 2) million, $ 1. 7 million, and ($ 5. 6 ymilien;and($-0-—-1) million of unrealized
foreign exchange (gain) loss fgat)-for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 s-and2624-, respectively, primarily
associated with our Canadian dollar denominated Revolver Credit Facility borrowings. (¢) Amount includes $ 1. 5 million of
accelerated amortization of lease intangibles for an early lease termination of a property during the year ended
December 31, 2023. EBITDA, EBITDAre, Adjusted EBITDAre , Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre, Annualized EBITDAre,
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre We compute EBITDA as earnings before
interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure commonly used in our industry. We believe that
this ratio provides investors and analysts with a measure of our performance that includes our operating results unaffected by the
differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and useful life of related assets compared to other companies in our
industry. We compute EBITDAre in accordance with the definition adopted by Nareit, as EBITDA excluding gains (losses)
from the sales of depreciable property and provisions for impairment on investment in real estate. We believe EBITDA and
EBITDAre are useful to investors and analysts because they provide important supplemental information about our operating
performance exclusive of certain non- cash and other costs. EBITDA and EBITDAre are not measures of financial performance
under GAAP, and our EBITDA and EBITDAre may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You
should not consider our EBITDA and EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities
determined in accordance with GAAP. We are focused on a disciplined and targeted investment strategy, together with active
asset management that includes selective sales of properties. We manage our leverage profile using a ratio of Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, each discussed further
below, which we believe is a useful measure of our ability to repay debt and a relative measure of leverage, and is used in
communications with our lenders and rating agencies regarding our credit rating. As we fund new investments using our
unsecured Revolving Credit Facility, our leverage profile and Net Debt will be immediately impacted by current quarter
investments. However, the full benefit of EBITDAre from new investments will not be received in the same quarter in which the
properties are acquired. Additionally, EBITDAre for the quarter includes amounts generated by properties that have been sold
during the quarter. Accordingly, the variability in EBITDAre caused by the timing of our investments and dispositions can
temporarily distort our leverage ratios. We adjust EBITDAre (“ Adjusted EBITDAre ) for the most recently completed quarter
(i) to recalculate as if all investments and dispositions had occurred at the beginning of the quarter, (ii) to exclude certain GAAP
income and expense amounts that are either non- cash, such as cost of debt extinguishments, realized or unrealized gains and
losses on foreign currency transactions, or gains on insurance recoveries, or that we believe are one time, or unusual in nature
because they relate to unique circumstances or transactions that had not previously occurred and which we do not anticipate
occurring in the future, and (iii) to eliminate the impact of lease termination fees and other items that are not a result of normal
operations. While investments in preperty-build- to- suit developments have an immediate impact to Net Debt, we do not make
an adjustment to EBITDAre until the quarter in which the lease commences. We define our Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre
as Adjusted EBITDAre adjusted to show the impact of estimated contractual revenues based on in- process development
spend to- date. Our Pro Forma Net Debt is defined as Net Debt adjusted for estimated net proceeds from forward sale
agreements that have not settled as if they have been physically settled for cash as of the period presented. We then
annualize quarterly Adjusted EBITDAre and Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre by multiplying #them by four (* Annualized
Adjusted EBITDAre ” and “ Annualized Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre ). You should not unduly rely on this measure as
it is based on assumptions and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. Our actual reported EBITDAre for future periods may
be significantly different from our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre. Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre
are not measurements of performance under GAAP, and our Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may not



be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our Adjusted EBITDAre and
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance
with GAAP. The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to EBITDA,
EBITDAre, Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre. Information is also presented with respect to
Annualized EBITDAre , Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre: For the Three
Months Ended December 31, (in thousands) Net income $ 27, 607 $ 6, 797 $ 36, 773 $32;226-Depreciation and amortization
42,987 39, 278 45, 606 33;4F6-Interest expense 19, 565 18, 972 23, 773 +6;:99FIncome taxes (268) EBITDA $ 90, 686 $ 64,
779 $ 106, 257 $-83;456-Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 17, 690 29, 801 — Gain on sale of real
estate ( 8,197) (6, 270) (10, 625) B;732yEBITDAre $ 100, 179 $ 88, 310 $ 95, 632 $79:-63+-Adjustment for current quarter
acquisition activity (a) 1, 283 2;882-Adjustment for current quarter disposition activity (b) ( 11) ( 156) (440 386-) Adjustment
to exclude non- recurring expenses (income) (c) Adjustment to exclude net write- offs of accrued rental income 4, 161 —
— Adjustment to exclude gain on insurance recoveries — — (341) —Adjustment to exclude realized / unrealized foreign
exchange (gain) loss (4, 699) 1, 453 —Adjustment to exclude cost of debt extinguishments — — Adjustment to exclude tease
terminationfees-other income from real estate transactions (d) (1, 183) — (1, 678) —Adjusted EBITDAre $ 94, 782 $ 94,
049 § 95, 329 Estimated revenues from developments (¢) — — Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDAre $ 83-95 . 453-116 $ 94,
049 $ 95, 329 Annualized EBITDAre $ 400, 716 $ 353, 240 $ 382, 528 $348;-526-Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre $ 379, 128
$ 376, 196 § 381, 316 Pro Forma Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre $ 325-380 , 812-464 $ 376, 196 $ 381, 316 (a) Reflects an
adjustment to give effect to all investments during the quarter as if they had been made as of the beginning of the quarter. (b)
Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all dispositions during the quarter as if they had been sold as of the beginning of the
quarter. (c) Areunts— Amount inelude-includes $ 0. 2 million efemployeeseveranee-accelerated lease intangible
amortization and €5 0. 1 3million of ferfeitedstoek—based-eompensation-severance and employee transition costs for the
three months ended December 31, 2024. Amount includes $ 0. 1 million of severance and employee transition costs for the
three months ended December 31, 2023 . (d) Amount includes lease termination fees during the three months ended
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022. (e) Represents estimated contractual revenues based on in- process
development spend to- date . Net Debt, Pro Forma Net Debt , Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre , Net Debt to Annualized
Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre We define Net Debt as gross debt (total
reported debt plus debt issuance costs) less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash . Our Pro Forma Net Debt is defined
as Net Debt adjusted for estimated net proceeds from unsettled forward sale agreements as if they have been settled for
cash as of the period presented . \We believe that the presentation of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre is useful to investors and analysts because these ratios provide information about gross debt
less cash and cash equivalents, which could be used to repay debt, compared to our performance as measured using EBITDAre,
and is used in communications with lenders and rating agencies regarding our credit rating. The following table reconciles total
debt (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to Net Debt, Pro Forma and-presents-the-ratto-of-Net Debt , and presents
the ratios of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre , Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, and Pro Forma Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, respectively: As of December 31, (in thousands) Debt Revolving Credit Facility $ 93, 014 $
90, 434 $3497-322-Unsecured term loans, net 897, 201 895, 947 894:-692-Senior unsecured notes, net 846, 064 845, 309 844
555-Mortgages, net 76, 846 79, 068 86,6082-Debt issuance costs 6, 802 8, 848 +8;985-Gross Debt 1, 919, 927 1, 919, 606 25
034;-676-Cash and cash equivalents ( 14, 845) ( 19, 494 H24-789-) Restricted cash (1, 148) (1, 138 3H38;25+) Net Debt § 1,
898903 , 974934 S 1, 898, 974 Estimated net proceeds from forward equity agreements (a) (38 , 836-514) — Pro Forma
Net Debt $ 1, 865, 420 $ 1, 898, 974 Leverage Ratios: Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre 4. 8x 5. 4x 5—2%Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 5. 0x 5. 2%x0x Pro Forma Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 4. 9x 5. 0x (a)
Represents pro forma adjustment for estimated net proceeds from forward sale agreements that have not settled as if
they have been physically settled for cash as of the period presented. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates The
preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses as well as other disclosures in the
financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
periods. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and assumptions; however, actual results may differ from
these estimates and assumptions, which in turn could have a material impact on our financial statements. A summary of our
significant accounting policies and procedures are included in Note 2, “ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ”,
contained in Item 8. “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K.
Management believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more significant estimates and
assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Investment in Rental Property Rental property
accounted for under operating leases is recorded at cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases and sales-
type are recorded at its net investment, which generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease. We
account for acquisitions of real estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (*“ ASC ™) 805,
Business Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. We allocate the purchase price of investments in rental property accounted for as asset
acquisitions based on the relative fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These generally include tangible
assets, consisting of land and land improvements, buildings and other improvements, and equipment, and identifiable intangible
assets and liabilities, including the value of in- place leases and acquired above- market and below- market leases. We use
multiple sources to estimate fair value, including information obtained about each property as a result of our pre- acquisition due




diligence and our marketing and leasing activities. Factors that impact our fair value determination include real estate market
conditions, industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and / or real estate appraisals.
Changes in any of these factors could impact the future purchase prices of our investments and the corresponding capitalization
rates recognized. The estimated fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as
if it were vacant. The as- if- vacant value is then allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on
comparable sales and other relevant information with respect to the property, as estimated by management. Specifically, the “ if
vacant ” value of buildings and equipment is calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to
value the buildings include: capitalization and discount rates, lease- up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and
land improvement value. The estimated fair value of acquired in- place leases are the costs we would have had to incur to lease
the properties to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value of leasing
commissions and other operating costs that would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to their
acquired occupancy level. Acquired in- place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non-
cancellable lease terms of the respective leases to amortization expense. Acquired above- market and below- market lease
values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of
the differences between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in- place leases and management’ s estimate of fair
market value lease rates at the time of acquisition for the corresponding in- place leases. The capitalized above- market and
below- market lease values are amortized as adjustments to rental income over the remaining term of the respective leases.
Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgages based upon indications of then- current market pricing for similar
types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption
date, and the difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding principal balance is amortized to interest
expense over the remaining term of the debt. Long- lived Asset Impairment We review long- lived assets to be held and used for
possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If,
and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the
long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the long-
lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating income, as adjusted for
trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the fair value. Significant judgment is
made to determine if and when impairment should be taken. Management’ s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2623
2024 was based on the most current information available to management. Certain of our properties may have fair values less
than their carrying amounts. However, based on management’ s plans with respect to each of those properties, we believe that
their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no impairment charges were recognized other than those described below.
If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if our expected holding period for assets changes, subsequent tests
for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future. Inputs used in establishing fair value for real estate
assets generally fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are characterized as requiring significant judgment as little
or no current market activity may be available for validation. The main indicator used to establish the classification of the inputs
is current market conditions, as derived through the use of published commercial real estate market information. We determine
the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis, income
capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales transactions, actual sales negotiations, and bona fide purchase offers received
from third parties. We may consider a single valuation technique or multiple valuation techniques, as appropriate, when
estimating the fair value of our real estate. The following table summarizes our impairment charges resulting primarily from
changes in our long- term hold strategy with respect to the individual properties: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands,
except number of properties) Number of properties Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 146, 811 $ 62, 720 $ 12, 721 §
48-604-Fair value 97,810 31, 446 7, 186 20;396-Impairment charge $ 49, 001 $ 31, 274 § 5, 535 $28;208-During the year
ended December 31, 292—3—2024 we recognlzed aﬂ—lmpalrment ehafge—of $ 2649 . 4—0 mllhon resultmg from ﬁﬂ—a—hea-l-t-heafe

pfepeft—y—éu&te—changes in our teran
long- term hold strategy and-desire-with respect to sel-l—m—the ﬂeaHeﬁﬁlndlwdual propertles The 2024 lmpalrments
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-m—addtt—teﬁal- of these propertles, 11 were sold as part of a portfollo w1th a gam of $ 59 1 mllllon, excludmg any

refimpairmen ; We—S e-prop at-the er he-range-. The remaining 11npa1rments
recognized durlng the year ended December 31 2623-2024 were 1rnrnater1a1 Goodwill Goodwill represents the excess of the
amount paid over the fair value of the 1dent1ﬁable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination and it assigned to one or more reporting units. We evaluate goodwill for impairment when an event occurs or
circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least annually. Our annual testing date is
November 30. The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative or quantitative approach. Under a
qualitative approach, the impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more- likely- than- not that
the reporting unit’ s fair value is less than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a qualitative approach indicates it is more
likely- than- not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit (including goodwill) exceeds its fair value, or if we choose
to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the quantitative approach described below. When we perform a quantitative test
of goodwill for impairment, we compare the carrying value of a reporting unit with its fair value. If the fair value of the



reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, we do not consider goodwill to be impaired and no further analysis would be
required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount of goodwill impairment equals the amount
by which the reporting unit’ s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. Management
determined that we have one reporting unit, consistent with our segment reporting analysis, which includes the acquisition,
leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i. e., the consolidated entity). When necessary to perform the quantitative test
for goodwill impairment, our estimate of fair value is determined using a market approach, leveraging assumptions such as the
fair value of our equity, and consideration of a control premium, if necessary, which includes an analysis of similar market
transactions. While we believe the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of our reporting unit are reasonable, changes in
these assumptions may have a material impact on our financial results. Based on the results of our annual goodwill impairment
test on November 30, 2623-2024 , our annual goodwill impairment test date, we concluded that goodwill was not impaired.
Revenue Recognition We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases. We commence revenue recognition on our
leases based on a number of factors, including the initial determination that the contract is or contains a lease. Generally, all of
our property related contracts are or contain leases, and therefore revenue is recognized when the lessee takes possession of or
controls the physical use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on the lease commencement date. At the time of
lease assumption or at the inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise from amendments, we assess the terms and
conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification. A lease is classified as an operating lease if none of the
following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option
that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part of the economic life of the leased property, (iv)
the present value of the future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the
lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and (v) the leased property is of such a
specialized nature that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease term. If one or more
of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales- type lease, unless the lease contains a residual value
guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be classified as a direct financing lease under certain
circumstances. We account for the right to use land as a separate lease component, unless the accounting effect of doing so
would be insignificant. Determination of significance requires management judgment. In determining whether the accounting
effect of separately reporting the land component from other components for its real estate leases is significant, we assess: (i)
whether separating the land component impacts the classification of any lease component, (ii) the value of the land component
in the context of the overall contract, and (iii) whether the right to use the land is coterminous with the rights to use the other
assets. Management uses interest rate swap agreements to manage risks related to interest rate movements. Management
documents its risk management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during the term of, each hedge. Our
interest rate risk management strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swap
agreements to convert certain variable- rate debt to a fixed rate. The interest rate swap agreements, designated and qualifying as
cash flow hedges, are reported at fair value. Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value using inputs that are directly
observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, using an income approach.
Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected future
cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield curves and implied volatilities to
determine the market’ s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable components of
the interest rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the overnight indexed swap (*
OIS ) curve and are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company also incorporates credit valuation
adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’ s nonperformance risk in
the fair value measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate
swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its interest rate swaps
utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its
counterparties. At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the
credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation
adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company has determined that its interest rate swap
valuations in their entirety are appropriately classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. When an existing cash flow
hedge is terminated, we determine the accounting treatment for the accumulated gain or loss recognized in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), based on the probability of the hedged forecasted transaction occurring within the period the cash
flow hedge was anticipated to affect earnings. If management determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is probable of
occurring during the original period, the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings over the remaining life of the cash
flow hedge using a straight- line method. If management determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is not probable of
occurring during the original period, the entire amount of accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings at such time.
Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements For information on the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our
business, see the captions Recently Adopted Accounting Standards and Other Recently Issued Accounting Standards in Note 2,
“ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk Interest Rate Risk We are exposed to certain market risks, one of the most predominant of which
is a change in interest rates. Increases in interest rates can result in increased interest expense under our Revolving Credit
Facility and other variable- rate debt. Increases in interest rates can also result in increased interest expense when our fixed rate
debt and interest rate swaps mature. We attempt to manage interest rate risk by entering into long- term fixed rate debt, entering
into interest rate swaps to convert certain variable- rate debt to a fixed rate, and staggering our debt maturities. We have
designated the interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and they are reported at fair value. We have not



entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Further information
concerning our interest rate swaps can be found in Note 449 in our Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Our fixed- rate debt includes our senior unsecured notes, mortgages, and variable- rate debt
converted to a fixed rate with the use of interest rate swaps. Our fixed- rate debt had a carrying value and fair value of
approximately $ 1. 9 billion and $ 1. 7 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Changes in market interest rates
impact the fair value of our fixed- rate debt and interest rate swaps, but they have no impact on interest incurred or on cash
flows. For instance, if interest rates were to increase and the fixed- rate debt balance were to remain constant, we would expect
the fair value of our debt to decrease, similar to how the price of a bond decreases as interest rates rise. A 1 % increase in market
interest rates would have resulted in a decrease in the fair value of our fixed- rate debt as of approximately $ 65-35 . 9-7 million
as of December 31, 20623-2024 . Borrowings pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility and other variable- rate debt bear interest
at rates based on the applicable reference rate plus an applicable margin, and totaled $ 1. 0 billion as of December 31, 2823
2024 , of which $ 9#5-939 . 4-5 million was swapped to a fixed rate by our use of interest rate swaps. Taking into account the
effect of our interest rate swaps, a 1 % increase or decrease in interest rates would have a corresponding $ 0. 2-5 million increase
or decrease in interest expense annually. With the exception of our interest rate swap transactions, we have not engaged in
transactions in derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments. Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk We
own investments in Canada, and as a result are subject to risk from the effects of exchange rate movements in the Canadian
dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows. We funded a significant portion of our Canadian investments through
Canadian dollar borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, which is intended to act as a natural hedge against our
Canadian dollar investments. The Canadian dollar Revolving Credit Facility borrowings are remeasured each reporting period,
with the unrealized foreign currency gains and losses flowing through earnings. A 10 % increase or decrease in the exchange
rate between the Canadian dollar and USD would have a corresponding $ 7. 50 million increase or decrease in unrealized
foreign currency gain or loss. These unrealized foreign currency gains and losses do not impact our cash flows from operations
until settled, and are expected to directly offset the changes in the value of our net investments as a result of changes in the
Canadian dollar. Our Canadian investments are recorded at their historical exchange rates, and therefore are not impacted by
changes in the value of the Canadian dollar. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Contents Report of
Independent Registered Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements Schedule III — Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements-StatementsWe We-have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, the related
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows , for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2023-2024 , and the related notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as
the “ financial statements ). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-20822-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2823-2024 , in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 22-20 , 2624-2025 , expressed an unqualified opinion
on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on
our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current- period
audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1)
relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. Evaluation of long- lived asset
impairment — Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements Critical Audit Matter Description The Company’ s
evaluation of long- lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment involves an initial assessment to determine whether
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or
changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset group
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the long- lived asset and its eventual
disposition. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long- lived asset or asset group



exceeds its estimated fair value. Significant judgment is made to determine if and when impairment should be taken. Certain of
the Company’ s properties may have fair values less than their carrying amounts. However, based on the Company”’ s plans with
respect to each of those properties, the Company believes that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no
impairment charges were recognized other than those reflected in the financial statements. If the operating conditions deteriorate
or if the Company’ s expected holding period for assets changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in additional
impairment charges in the future. We identified the estimated holding period used in determining the recoverability of long-
lived assets as a critical audit matter because of the subjective judgments made by management to determine the holding period
for long- lived assets as part of their impairment analysis. This required a higher degree of auditor judgment and an increased
extent of effort when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of management’ s assumptions, given the
inherent unpredictability involved in the timing of sales of long- lived assets. How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in
the Audit Our audit procedures related to the assessment of the Company’ s expected holding periods included the following,
among others: « We obtained an understanding and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’ s controls to
monitor long- lived assets for events or changes in circumstances that indicate that their carrying amounts may not be
recoverable due to a change in the expected holding period. « We held discussions with the Company’ s management and
evaluated the reasonableness of management’ s assertions regarding the expected holding period of its long- lived assets, more
specifically by performing the following: * Engaged in discussions with senior management, including legal and asset
management, and inspected Board of Director meeting minutes regarding the assumptions utilized in determining the expected
holding periods. * Evaluated audit evidence (e. g. hindsight analysis , dispesal status report ) to determine whether it supported
or contradicted the conclusions reached by management. / s / Deloitte & Touche LLP Rochester, New York We have served as
the Company’ s auditor since 2016. Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands,
except per share amounts) December 31, Assets Accounted for using the operating method: Land $ 778, 826 $ 748, 529 $-768;
667-Land improvements 357, 142 328, 746 346;385-Buildings and improvements 3, 815, 521 3, 803, 156 3;-888;756
Equipment 15, 843 8, 265 +6;422-Total accounted for using the operating method 4, 967, 332 4, 888, 696 5-008;236-Less
accumulated depreciation ( 672, 478) (626, 597 H533;565-) Accounted for using the operating method, net 4, 294, 854 4, 262,
099 4;474265-Accounted for using the direct financing method 26, 154 26, 643 27-645-Accounted for using the sales- type
method Property under development 18, 784 94, 964 —Investment in rental property, net 4, 340, 363 4, 384, 278 4;-564+-88+
Cash and cash equivalents 14, 845 19, 494 245989-Accrued rental income 162, 717 152, 724 435;666-Tenant and other
receivables, net 3, 281 1, 487 4.349-Prepaid expenses and other assets 41, 584 36, 661 64;480-Interest rate swap, assets 46, 220
46, 096 63;-390-Goodwill 339, 769 339, 769 Intangible lease assets, net 267, 638 288, 226 320:-585-Total assets § 5, 268216 ,
35417 $ 5, 457268 , 669-735 Liabilities and equity Unsecured revolving credit facility $ 93, 014 $ 90, 434 $49%-322
Mortgages, net 76, 846 79, 068 86;-602-Unsecured term loans, net 897, 201 895, 947 8§94:-692-Senior unsecured notes, net 846,
064 845, 309 844;-555-Accounts payable and other liabilities 48, 983 47, 534 47-547-Dividends payable 58, 317 56, 869 54;
460-Accrued interest payable 5, 837 §, 702 #-0FH-Intangible lease liabilities, net 48, 731 53, 531 62;-855-Total liabilities 2, 074,
993 2, 074, 394 2495484-Commitments and contingencies (Note +49-17 ) Equity Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. equity: Preferred
stock, $ 0. 001 par value; 20, 000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding — — Common stock, $ 0. 00025 par value;
500, 000 shares authorized, 188, 626 and 187, 614 and486;HH4-shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022-, respectively Additional paid- in capital 3, 450, 584 3, 440, 639 3;449-395-Cumulative distributions in excess of
retained earnings ( 496, 543) (440, 731 H386;049-) Accumulated other comprehensive income 49, 657 49, 286 59;-525-Total
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. equity 3, 003, 745 3, 049, 241 3;-892:-948-Non- controlling interests 137, 679 145, 100 +69:-58%
Total equity 3, 141, 424 3, 194, 341 3;262,-585-Total liabilities and equity $ 5, 268216 , 735417 $ 5, 457-268 , 669-735 The
accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income For the Year Ended December 31, Revenues Lease revenues, net $ 431, 800 $ 442, 888 $ 407,513 §
382-876-Operating expenses Depreciation and amortization 156, 179 158, 626 154, 807 432;-096-Property and operating
expense 24, 741 22, 576 21, 773 48;459-General and administrative 37, 986 39, 425 37, 375 36;366-Provision for impairment
of investment in rental properties 49, 001 31, 274 5, 535 28;288-Total operating expenses 267, 907 251, 901 219, 490 245:429
Other income (expenses) Interest income Interest expense ( 74, 077) ( 80, 053) (78, 652 364;3+46-) Gain on sale of real estate
73,153 54,310 15, 953 43;-523-Income taxes ( 1, 175) (763) (1, 275) Other income (expenses) 6, 201 (1, 644-681 ) Change-in
faﬁal-ue—e-ﬁeame&t—habﬂ-rﬁy—(—S 539)-Other{expensesrneome(-68H-5;-382 430)-Net income 168, 989 163,312 129,
475 +895-528-Net income attributable to non- controlling interests ( 6, S48) ( 7, 834) (7, 360 3HFH+62-) Net income attrlbutable to
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 162,441 $ 155,478 $ 122, 115 $+082,426-Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding Basic 187, 454 186, 617 169, 840 453;-65%Diluted 196, 619 196, 315 180, 201 +63:-976-Net earnings per share
attributable to common stockholders Basic and Diluted $ 0. 86 $ 0. 83 $ 0. 72 $8--67Comprehensive income Net income § 168,
989 $ 163, 312 $ 129, 475 $1489,-528-Other comprehensive income Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (17, 293) 90, 560
39.353-Realized loss on interest rate swaps 1, 883 2, 514 Comprehensive income 169, 322 147, 902 222, 549 449,579
Comprehensive income attributable to non- controlling interests ( 6, 552) (7, 070) (12, 700 3H9583+) Comprehensive income
attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 162, 770 $ 140, 832 $ 209, 849 $339,748-Consolidated Statements of Equity
CommonStock €lassA-Commen-Stoek-AdditionalPaid- in Capital CumulativeDistributionsin Excessof RetainedEarnings
AccumulatedOtherComprehensivelncome (Loss) Non- controllingInterests TotalEquity Balance, January 1, 20242022 $-§ $ 2,
624924 . 997-168 $ (259-318 , 673-476 ) $ (6628 , 255441 ) § +79-163 , 976-846 § 2, 479-741 , H8+138 Net income — —
122 —362- 426-115 — 7, 1621+69-360 129 , 528475 Issuance of $3-23 , 946-682 shares of common stock 503 —293- 728
442 — — 293503 , 448 Offering costs 7321ssuanee-of1- §59-OP-Units-discounts, and commissions — (7, 575) — — —

—effeﬂﬁg—eesfs—diseetmfs—aﬂd-eemﬂﬁssmm—( +2-7 . 575 290)——2,296-) Stock- based compensation,
net of sewventen shares of restricted stock forfeited — 5 —4-, 668316 — — — 45, 668316 Retirement of 64-59 shares of



common stock under equlty incentive plan ——(1 2+5301) — — — (1 2—15—301 ) Conversion of 118 37-660-Class#A
Seess A A= v & 6-OP Units to 886—118 qhale% ofconnnon

fe}afed-paﬁy—32—7-6-l—(-3é—762—) — qutrlbutlong declaled (S 1 925—080 per ihare and OP Un1t) —_ (189 688) — (
-1-6-1—2—2-9)—611 -1-88—382 ) (-1—7—2—201 4-1—7—070 ) Change in fair value of 1ntere§t rate iwap agreement@ —36,—664%—,

— 85, 3635 197 90, 56

—(6, 581) — ( 349 — Balance December 31, 2022 —3, 419, 395 (386, 049) 59, 525 169, 587 3, 262,
— 155,478 — 7, 834 163, 312 Issuance of 312 Shares of common stock under equity incentive plan —

505 Net ineome

————— —Offering costs, discounts, and commissions (237) — — —(237) Stock- based compensation, net of 23
shares of restricted stock forfeited 6,359 — — — 6, 359 Retirement of 66 shares of common stock under equity incentive
plan ——(1, 175) — — — (1, 175) Conversion of 1, 277 OP Units to 1, 277 shares of common stock — —21, 235 — — (21,

235) — Distributions declared ($ 1. 120 per share and OP Unit) — (210, 160) — (10, 853) (221, 013) Change in fair value
of interest rate swap agreements — — (16, 439) (854) (17, 293) Realized loss on interest rate swap agreements — — —
—1, 793 1, 883 Adjustment to non- controlling interests — (4, 938) — 4, 407 — Balance, December 31, 2023 3, 440, 639
(440, 731) 49, 286 145, 100 3, 194, 341 Net income — — 162, 441 — 6, 548 168, 989 Issuance of 893 shares of common
stock under equity incentive plan — — — — Offering costs, discounts, and commissions — (782) — — — (782)
Contributions from non- controlling interests — — 4——1,938-000 1, 000 Stock- based compensation, net of 92 shares
of restricted stock forfeited — 7, 355 — — — 7, 355 Retirement of 71 shares of common stock under equity incentive
plan (1, 040 ) — — — (1, 040) Conversion of 282 OP Units to 282 shares of common stock — 4, 467544 — — (4, 544) —
Distributions declared ($ 1. 155 per share and OP Unit) — — (218, 253) — (10, 635) (228, 888) Change in fair value of
interest rate swap agreements — — — (5) Realized loss on interest rate swap agreements — — — Adjustment to non-
controlling interests — (248) — — Balance, December 31, 2023-2024 $ $ —3, 450, 584 $ (496, 543) $ 49, 657 $ 137, 679 $
3,446-141 , 424 639—$—6449—7-349—$49%86—$—}45—}99—$—3—P94—344—C0n§011dated Statements of Cash Flows For the Year
Ended December 31, Operating activities Net income $ 168,989 $ 163, 312 $ 129, 475 $409,-528-Adjustments to reconcile net
income including non- controlling interests to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amortization including
intangibles associated with investment in rental property 151, 765 152, 781 149, 998 428;-888-Provision for impairment of
investment in rental properties 49, 001 31, 274 5, 535 28;268-Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issuance
discounts charged to interest expense 3, 932 3, 860 3, 588 3;-724+-Stock- based compensation expense 7, 355 6, 359 5,316 4;
669-Straight- line rent, direct financing and sales- type lease adjustments ( 18, 975) (22, 278) (20, 494 3¥38;362-) Gain on sale
ofreal estate ( 73, 153) ( 54,3 10) (15,953 }GB%%)—Ghaﬂgeﬁn{atH&me—eﬁe&mem—habﬂﬁy%%Gas&p&td—fer

ArHOH e 89-) Other non- cash items ( 10, 629) ( 757) (1, 858)
-1—82—2—Changeq in assets and llabllltIGS Tenant and other reeelvables (1, 742) Prepaid expenses and other assets (352) Accounts
payable and other liabilities ( 905) (8, 226) (1, 149) 2;-894-Accrued interest payable (1, 369) 2456-Net cash provided by
operating activities 276, 253 271, 074 255, 914 244;-93FInvesting activities Acquisition of rental property ( 288, 577) (27, 738)
(884, 770 3665;-630-) Investment in property under development including capitalized interest of $ 3, 871, $ 1, 469 , #2623
and $ 0 in 2024, 2023, and 2022 and-262+-, respectively (108, 481) (96, 756) Capital expenditures and improvements (
16, 795) (46, 252) (31, 374 345-598-) Proceeds from disposition of rental property, net 354, 350 194, 959 56, 438 83842
Change in deposits on investments in rental property (200) Net cash (used in) provided by fused4m)-investing activities (59,
703) 24, 338 (859, 643 3H582;364-) Financing activities Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of $ 996, $ 180, and $ 7,
492 and-$42,276-0f offering costs, discounts, and commissions in 2024, 2023 -and 2022 ard-2621- respectively (996) (1180)
495, 566 286-Contributions from non- controlling interests 1 , 356-000 — — Borrowings on mortgages, senior unsecured
notes and unsecured term loans — — 500, 000 38+-8+68-Principal payments on mortgages and unsecured term loans ( 2, 260) (
7,503) (260, 303 H332;-874-) Borrowings on unsecured revolving credit facility 256, 500 215, 500 900, 283 356;-660
Repayments on unsecured revolving credit facility ( 248, 000) ( 324, 000) (800, 000 H254;666-) Cash distributions paid to
stockholders ( 216, 760) (207, 522) (181, 224 33454:459-) Cash distributions paid to non- controlling interests ( 10, 673) (11,
115) (11, 312 HH5302)-Cash-patd-for-earnoutHabiity——6;-608-) Debt issuance and extinguishment costs paid — — (7,
010 34-545-) Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities ( 221, 189) (334, 820) 636, 000 254;-468-Net (decrease)
increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 4, 639) (39, 408) 32, 271 £82;-359)-Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash at beginning of period 20, 632 60, 040 27, 769 +46;728-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of
period $ 15,993 $ 20, 632 $ 60, 040 $27-7F69-Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash Cash and cash
equivalents at beginning of period $ 19,494 $ 21, 789 $ 21, 669 $100,486-Restricted cash at beginning of period 1, 138 38,
251 6, 100 48;242-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period $ 20, 632 $ 60, 040 $ 27, 769 $H8,728
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 14, 845 $ 19, 494 § 21, 789 $24-669-Restricted cash at end of period 1, 148 1, 138
38, 251 6;4086-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 15, 993 $ 20, 632 $ 60, 040 $27-769-1. Business
Description Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Corporation ™) is a Maryland corporation formed on October 18, 2007, that
elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“ REIT ”’) commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2008.




Broadstone Net Lease, LLC (the Corporation’ s operating company, or the “ OP ), is the entity through which the Corporation
conducts its business and owns (either directly or through subsidiaries) all of the Corporation’ s properties. The Corporation is
the sole managing member of the OP. The membership units not owned by the Corporation are referred to as OP Units er-and
are recorded as non- controlling interests in the Consolidated Financial Statements . As the Corporation conducts
substantially all of its operations through the OP, it is structured as-whatisreferred-te-as an umbrella partnership real estate
investment trust (“ UPREIT ). The Corporation’ s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “
BNL. ” The Corporation, the OP, and its consolidated subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “ Company. ” The
Company is an industrial- focused, diversified net lease REIT that focuses on investing in income- producing, single- tenant net
leased commercial properties, primarily in the United States. The Company leases primarily industrial and ;healtheare;
restaurantretail Fandeffiee-commercial properties under long- term lease agreements. At December 31, 2623-2024 , the
Company owned a diversified portfolio of 796-765 individual commercial properties with 789-758 properties located in 44 U. S.
states and seven properties located in four Canadian provinces. The following table summarizes the outstanding equity and
economic ownership interest of the Company: December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Deeember3+;,202+
(in thousands) Shares ofCommon Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares Shares ofCommon Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares
Shares ofCommon Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares Ownership interest 188, 626 8, 646 197, 272 187, 614 8, 928 196, 542
186, 114 10, 205 196, 319 +62:-38310;323172,-706-Percent Ownership-ownership of OP 95. 6 % 4.4 % 100. 0 % 95. 5 % 4
5% 100.0% 94.8 % 5.2 % 100. 0 % 94-6-%-6-0-%160-06-%Refer to Note +6-14 for further discussion regarding the
calculation ofweighted average shares outstanding. 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Accounting The
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States (“ GAAP *). Principles of Consolidation The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts and
operations of the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. When the
Company obtains an economic interest in an entity, the entity is evaluated to determine if it should be deemed a variable
interest entity (“ VIE ) and, if so, whether the Company is the primary beneficiary and is therefore required to
consolidate the entity. The accounting guidance for consolidation of VIEs is applied to certain entities in which the equity
investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. Certain decision-
making rights within a loan or joint- venture agreement may cause us to consider an entity a VIE. The contractual
arrangements in a partnership agreement or other related contracts are reviewed to determine whether the entity is a
VIE, and if the Company has variable interests in the VIE. The Company’ s variable interests are then compared to
those of the other variable interest holders to determine which party is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. A primary
beneficiary: (i) has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE
and (ii) has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant
to the VIE. The Company reassesses the initial evaluation of whether an entity is a VIE when certain events occur, and
reassesses the primary beneficiary determination of a VIE on an ongoing basis based on current facts and circumstances.
To the extent the €orperation-Company has a variable interest in entities that are not evaluated under the vartable-interest-entity
=VIE Zrmodel, the Corperattorr-Company evaluates its interests using the voting interest entity model. The Corporation has
complete responsibility for the day- to- day management of, authority to make decisions for, and control of the OP. Based on
consolidation guidance, the Corporation has concluded that the OP is a VIE as the members in the OP do not possess kick- out
rights or substantive participating rights. Accordingly, the Corporation consolidates its interest in the OP. However, because the
Corporation holds the majority voting interest in the OP and certain other conditions are met, it qualifies for the exemption from
providing certain disclosure requirements associated with investments in VIEs. In June 2024, the Company invested $ 52. 2
million in exchange for 98. 1 % ownership interest in a VIE. The Company is the primary beneficiary as it: (i) has the
power to direct the activities that significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE, and (ii) has the obligation to
absorb losses and the right to receive benefits of the VIE, and therefore consolidates the VIE. The following table
presents a summary of selected financial data of the consolidated VIE included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets: (in
thousands) December 31, 2024 Assets Accounted for using the operating method: Land $ 7, 644 Land improvements 2,
578 Buildings and improvements 39, 899 Total accounted for using the operating method 50, 121 Less accumulated
depreciation (821) Accounted for using the operating method, net 49, 300 Intangible lease assets, net 3, 243 Other assets
3, 248 Total assets $ 55, 791 Liabilities Intangible lease liabilities, net Other liabilities Total liabilities $ From time to
time, the Company acquires properties using a reverse like- kind exchange structure pursuant to Section 1031 of the
Internal Revenue Code (a “ reverse 1031 exchange ) and, as such, the properties are in the possession of an Exchange
Accommodation Titleholder (“ EAT ”) until the reverse 1031 exchange is completed. The EAT is classified as a VIE as it
is a “ thinly capitalized ” entity. The Company consolidates the EAT because it is the primary beneficiary as it has the
ability to control the activities that most significantly impact the EAT' s economic performance and can collapse the
reverse 1031 exchange structure at its discretion. The assets of the EAT primarily consist of leased property (net real
estate investment in rental property and lease intangibles). The portterrportions of the-OP-a consolidated entity not owned
by the Gefpef&t-teﬁ-ts—Company are plesented as non- controlling mterests as of and du11n<r the perlods plesented—Bﬁs-ts—e—f

aeeepfed—m—t-he—Uﬁrted—Stafes—(—GAqArP—)— Use of Estlmates The plepamtlon of C onsolldated Fmancml Stdtements in

conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses dunn;__ the leportum perlods —Stenifieant-estimates-inelude but-are-notlimited-to-the




Accordmgly, actual results may dlffer from those
estlmates 6§—lnvestment in Rental PropertyRental P-fepeny—Reﬂtal—property accounted for under operating leases is recorded at
cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases and sales- type leases are recorded at its net investment, which
generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease. The Company accounts for its acquisitions of real
estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 805, Business Combinations, as
substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets. The Company allocates the purchase price of investments in rental property accounted for as asset
acquisitions based on the relative fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These generally include tangible
assets, consisting of land and land improvements, buildings and other improvements, and equipment, and identifiable intangible
assets and liabilities, including the value of in- place leases and acquired above- market and below- market leases. Acquisition
costs incurred in connection with investments in real estate accounted for as asset acquisitions are capitalized and included with
the allocated purchase price. The results of operations of acquired properties are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income from the respective date of acquisition. Estimated fair value determinations are based on
management’ s judgment, which considers various factors including real estate market conditions, industry conditions that the
tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and / or real estate appraisals. The estimated fair value of the tangible
assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant. The as- if- vacant value is then
allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on comparable sales and other relevant information
with respect to the property as estimated by management. Specifically, the “ if vacant ” value of buildings and equipment is
calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to value the buildings include: capitalization
and discount rates, lease- up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and land improvement value. The estimated fair
value of acquired in- place leases are the costs that the Company would have had to incur to lease the properties to the
occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value of leasing commissions and other
operating costs that would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to their acquired occupancy level.
Acquired in- place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non- cancellable lease terms of the
respective leases to amortization expense. Acquired above- market and below- market lease values are recorded based on the
present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of the differences between the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in- place leases and management’ s estimate of fair market value lease rates at the
time of acquisition. The capitalized above- market and below- market lease values are amortized as adjustments to lease revenue
over the remaining term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate #s-the lease, the unamortized portion of the in- place
lease value is charged to amortization expense and the unamortized portion of above- market or below- market lease value is
charged to lease revenue. Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgages payable based upon indications of then-
current market pricing for similar types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their
estimated fair value as of the assumption date, and the difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding
principal balance is amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the debt. Expenditures for significant betterments
and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Eand-Investment in
Property Under DevelopmentLand acquired for development and construction and improvement costs incurred in connection
with the development of new properties are capitalized and recorded as Property under development in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets until construction has been completed. Such capitalized costs include all direct and indirect costs
related to planning, development, and construction, including interest, real estate taxes, and other miscellaneous costs incurred
during the construction period. Once substantially eempteted- complete . the property under development is placed in service
and depreciation commences. The following tables summarize the Company’ s investments in property under
development: December 31, (in thousands) Development, construction and improvement costs $ 18, 725 $ 93, 501
Capitalized interest 1, 463 Property under development $ 18, 784 $ 94, 964 F'or the Year Ended December 31, (in
thousands) Investment in properties under development, excluding capitalized costs $ 104, 624 $ 95, 287 During the year
ended December 31, 2023-2024 , and subsequent to reaching substantial completion , the Company funded an additional $
96-10 . 8 million of eests—re&&ted—t@—twe—pfepeft-tes—tméer—capltal expenditures in connection with a development property ;
inetusive-of- $1. S-mitlion-efeapitalizedinterest—66-Long- lived Asset ImpairmentThe Company reviews long lived assets to
be held and used for possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the
carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the
use of the long- lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating
income, as adjusted for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment
loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds its fair value.
Significant judgment is made to determine if and when impairment should be taken. The Company’ s assessment of impairment
as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and-20824-, was based on the most current information available to the Company.
Certain of the Company’ s properties may have fair values less than their carrying amounts. However, based on the Company’ s
plans with respect to each of those properties, the Company believes that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore,
no impairment charges were recognized other than those described below. If the operating conditions mentioned above
deteriorate or if the Company’ s expected holding period for assets changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in
additional impairment charges in the future. Inputs used in establishing fair value for impaired real estate assets generally fall
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are characterized as requiring significant judgment as little or no current market



activity may be available for validation. The main indicator used to establish the classification of the inputs is current market
conditions, as derived through the use of published commercial real estate market information and information obtained from
brokers and other third party sources. The Company determines the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted
valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis, income capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales
transactions, actual sales negotiations, and bona fide purchase offers received from third parties. Management may consider a
single valuation technique or multiple valuation techniques, as appropriate, when estimating the fair value of its real estate. The
following table summarizes the Company’ s impairment charges, resulting primarily from changes in the Company' s long- term
hold strategy with respect to the individual properties: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except number of
properties) Number of properties Impairment charge $ 49, 001 $ 31, 274 $ 5, 535 $28,208 During the year ended December
31,2024, the Company recognized impairment of $ 49. 0 million, resulting from changes in the Company’ s long- term
hold strategy with respect to the individual properties. The 2024 impairments primarily relate to the Company’ s
decision to sell clinically- oriented healthcare properties and include $ 41. 7 million on 16 clinical healthcare properties,
which were based on actual or estimated sales prices of the individual properties. Of these properties, 11 were sold as
part of a portfolio with a gain of $ 59. 1 million, excluding any impairment. The remaining impairments recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2024 were immaterial. During the year ended December 31, 2023, swve-the Company
recognized an impairment charge of § 26. 4 million on a healthcare propertywrth—a—rem&rﬁtﬁg—e&ﬂeymg—va}ue-e%%%eﬁ—
swhteh-deehined-due to changes in eur-the tenant’ s ability to perform under the lease agreement, leading to a change in
management’ s long- term hold strategy and desire to sell in the near term. The fair value measurement was determined using a
range of significant unobservable mputs mcludmg a thrrd party appral%al broker market mformatron and recent comparable
vacant sales transactions. B d P

addittonaHmpairmentin-the-fature—The remaining 1mpa1rment% recogmzed durmg the year ended December 31,2023 were
1mmater1al Impalrments recogmzed durmg the year ended December 31 2022 wefe—tmm&teﬂa-l—Buﬂng—t-he—ye&r—eﬂded

SaleThe Company classifies investments in rental property as held for sale when all of the followmg criteria are met: (i)
management commits to a plan to sell the property, (ii) the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition,
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of investment properties, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer
and conduct other actions required to complete the sale has been initiated, (iv) the sale of the property is probable in occurrence
and is expected to qualify as a completed sale, (v) the property is actively marketed for sale at a sale price that is reasonable in
relation to its fair value, and (vi) actions required to complete the sale indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will
be made or that the plan to sell will be withdrawn. 67For properties classified as held for sale, the Company suspends
depreciation and amortization of the related assets and liabilities , including the acquired in- place lease and above- or below-
market lease intangibles, as well as straight- line revenue recognition of the associated lease, and records the investment in rental
property at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The assets and liabilities associated with the properties classified as held for
sale are presented separately in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the most recent reporting period. At December 31, 2024
and 2023 and2022-, the Company did not have any properties that met the held for sale criteria. Sales of Real Estate Under
ASC 610- 20, Other Income — Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets, the Company’ s sales of real
estate are generally considered to be sales to non- customers, requiring the Company to identify each distinct non- financial asset
promised to the buyer. The Company determines whether the buyer obtains control of the non- financial assets, achieved
through the transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership of the non- financial assets. If control is transferred to the buyer, the
Company derecognizes the asset. If the Company determines that it did not transfer control of the non- financial assets to the
buyer, the Company analyzes the contract for separate performance obligations and allocates a portion of the sales price to each
performance obligation. As performance obligations are satisfied, the Company recognizes the respective income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The Company presents discontinued operations if disposals of
properties represent a strategic shift in operations. Those strategic shifts would need to have a major effect on the Company’ s
operations and financial results in order to meet the definition. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and
2624, the Company did not have property dispositions that qualified as discontinued operations. Depreciation Depreciation is
computed using the straight- line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are as follows: Land
improvements 15 yearsBuildings and improvements 15 to 39 yearsEquipment 7 years Leasing Fees Leasing fees represent costs
incurred to lease properties to tenants and are capitalized as they are incremental costs of a lease that would not have been
incurred if the lease had not been obtained. Leasing fees are amortized using the straight- line method over the term of the lease
to which they relate, which range from 3 to 25 years. Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments
with an original maturity at date of acquisition of three months or less, including money market funds. The Company estimates
that the fair value of cash equivalents approximates the carrying value due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments.
Restricted Cash Restricted cash generally includes escrow funds the Company maintains pursuant to the terms of certain



mortgages, lease agreements, and undistributed proceeds from the sale of properties under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ™), and is reported within Prepaid expenses and other assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Restricted cash consisted of the following: December 31, (in thousands) Escrow funds and other $ 1, 148 138-$4,812

> $ 1, 138 $38;25+Revenue RecognitionThe Company accounts for leases in accordance
with ASC 842, Leases (“ ASC 842 ). The Company commences revenue recognition on its leases based on a number of factors,
including the initial determination that the contract is or contains a lease. Generally, all of the Company’ s property related
contracts are or contain leases, and therefore revenue is recognized when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical
use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on the lease commencement date. At the time of lease assumption or at the
inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions of
the lease to determine the proper lease classification. é8-Certain of the Company’ s leases require tenants to pay rent based upon
a percentage of the property’ s net sales (““ percentage rent ) or contain rent escalators indexed to future changes in the
Consumer Price Index (“ CPI ). Lease income associated with such provisions, absent the existence of a floor, are considered
variable lease income and are not included in the initial measurement of the lease receivable, or in the calculation of straight-
line rent revenue. Such amounts are recognized as income when the amounts are determinable. A lease is classified as an
operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease term, (ii) the
lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part of the economic
life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee
that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and
(v) the leased property is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the
end of the lease term. If one or more of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales- type lease, unless
the lease contains a residual value guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be classified as a
direct financing lease under certain circumstances. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842, a lease that was not an operating lease
would be accounted for as a direct financing lease. The Company accounts for the right to use land as a separate lease
component, unless the accounting effect of doing so would be insignificant. Determination of significance requires management
judgment. In determining whether the accounting effect of separately reporting the land component from other components for
its real estate leases is significant, the Company assesses: (i) whether separating the land component impacts the classification
of any lease component, (ii) the value of the land component in the context of the overall contract, and (iii) whether the right to
use the land is coterminous with the rights to use the other assets. Revenue recognition methods for operating leases, direct
financing leases, and sales- type leases are described below: Rental property accounted for under operating leases — Revenue is
recognized as rents are earned on a straight- line basis over the non- cancelable terms of the related leases. For leases that have
fixed and measurable rent escalations and collectability of the lease payments is probable, the difference between such rental
income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as Accrued rental income in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. If the Company determines that collectability of the lease payments is not probable, the Company records an
adjustment to Lease revenues, net to reduce cumulative income recognized since lease commencement to the amount of cash
collected from the lessee (i. e., write off of accrued rental income). Future revenue recognition is limited to amounts paid by the
lessee. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases — The Company utilizes the direct finance method of
accounting to record direct financing lease income. The net investment in the direct financing lease represents receivables for
the sum of future lease payments to be received and the estimated residual value of the leased property, less unamortized
unearned income (which represents the difference between undiscounted cash flows and discounted cash flows). Unearned
income is deferred and amortized into income over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the
Company’ s net investment in the leases. Rental property accounted for under sales- type leases — For leases accounted for as
sales- type leases, the Company records selling profit arising from the lease at inception, along with the net investment in the
lease. The Company leases assets through the assumption of existing leases or through sale- leaseback transactions, and records
such assets at their fair value at the time of acquisition, which in most cases coincides with lease inception. As a result, the
Company does not generally recognize selling profit on sales- type leases. The net investment in the sales- type lease represents
receivables for the sum of future lease payments and the estimated unguaranteed residual value of the leased property, each
measured at net present value. Interest income is recorded over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return
on the Company’ s net investment in the leases. Certain of the Company’ s lease contracts contain nonlease components (e. g.,
charges for management fees, common area maintenance, and reimbursement of third- party maintenance expenses) in addition
to lease components (e. g., monthly rental charges). Services related to nonlease components are provided over the same period
of time as, and billed in the same manner as, monthly rental charges. The Company elected to apply the practical expedient
available under ASC 842, for all classes of assets, not to separate the lease components from the nonlease components when
accounting for operating leases. Since the lease component is the predominant component under each of these leases, combined
revenues from both the lease and nonlease components are reported as Lease revenues, net in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. In accordance with ASC 842, provisions for uncollectible rent are recorded
as an offset to Lease revenues, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. 6%
Lease Termination Fee IncomeThe Company recognizes lease termination fee income as other income from real estate
transactions, a component of Lease revenues, net, when all conditions of the termination agreement have been met, and
collection of the lease termination fee is probable. If the tenant immediately vacates the property upon satisfying the conditions
of the termination agreement, the Company recognizes the lease termination fee income net of the write off of accrued rental
income associated with the lease immediately. If the tenant continues to occupy the property, the Company treats the
termination as a lease modification, and recognizes the lease termination fee income on a straight- line basis over the new lease
term. Lease termination fee income is recorded as other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues,



net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. GoodwillGoodwill represents the excess of the
amount paid over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination and is assigned to one or more reporting units. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment when an event
occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least annually. The Company”’ s
annual testing date is November 30. The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative or quantitative
approach. Under a qualitative approach, the impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it is more-
likely- than- not that the reporting unit’ s fair value is less than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a qualitative approach
indicates it is more likely- than- not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit (including goodwill) exceeds its fair
value, or if we choose to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the quantitative approach described below. When the
Company performs a quantitative test of goodwill for impairment, it compares the carrying value of its reporting unit with its
fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the Company does not consider goodwill to be
impaired and no further analysis would be required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount
of goodwill impairment equals the amount by which the reporting unit’ s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the
carrying amount of goodwill. The Company determined that it has one reporting unit, consistent with its segment reporting
analysis, which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i. e., the consolidated entity). When
necessary to perform the quantitative test for goodwill impairment, the Company’ s estimate of fair value is determined using a
market approach, leveraging assumptions such as the fair value of our equity inclusive of our consideration of a control
premium, if necessary, which includes an analysis of similar market transactions and other quantitative and qualitative factors.
While the Company believes the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of its reporting unit are reasonable, changes in these
assumptions may have a material impact on the Company’ s financial results. Based on the results of its annual goodwill
impairment test on November 30, 2024 and 2023 ard-2822-, the Company concluded that goodwill was not impaired, and that
the fair value of its reporting unit was substantially in excess of carrying value. Rent Received in AdvanceRent received in
advance represents tenant rent payments received prior to the contractual due date, and is included in Accounts payable and
other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rent received in advance consisted of the following: December 31, (in
thousands) Rent received in advance $ 16, 616 $ 14, 776 $38;-783-Debt Issuance Costs In accordance with ASC 835, Interest,
debt issuance costs related to mortgages, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes are reported as a direct deduction
from the carrying amount of the related liability, consistent with debt discounts, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Debt
issuance costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility are reported as an asset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the Company’ s unsecured revolving credit facility, mortgages, unsecured term
loans and senior unsecured notes have been deferred and are being amortized over the term of the respective loan commitment
using the straight- line method, which approximates the effective interest method. Offering CostsIn connection with equity
offerings, the Company incurs and capitalizes certain direct, incremental legal, professional, accounting and other third- party
costs. Such costs are offset against the gross proceeds of each equity offering, and recorded as a component of Additional paid-
in capital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets upon the consummation of the offering. See Note +4-12 for further discussion of
net proceeds associated with equity offerings. #6-Forward Sale AgreementsThe Company occasionally sells shares of common
stock through forward sale agreements to enable locking in the gross Cempany-te-setthe-price of such shares upon pricing the
offering (subject to certain adjustments) while delaying the issuance of such shares and the receipt of the net proceeds by-the
€ompany-. To account for the forward sale agreements, the Company considers the accounting guidance governing financial
instruments and derivatives. To date, the Company has concluded that its forward sale agreements are not liabilities as they do
not embody obligations to repurchase its shares nor do they embody obligations to issue a variable number of shares for which
the monetary value is predominantly fixed, varying with something other than the fair value of the shares, or varying inversely
in relation to its shares. The Company then evaluates whether the agreements meet the derivatives and hedging guidance scope
exception to be accounted for as equity instruments. The Company has concluded that the agreements are classifiable as equity
contracts based on the following assessments: (i) none of the agreements’ exercise contingencies are based on observable
markets or indices besides those related to the market for the Company’ s own stock price and operations; and (ii) none of the
settlement provisions preclude the agreements from being indexed to its own stock. The Company also considers the potential
dilution resulting from the forward sale agreements on the earnings per share calculations. The Company uses the treasury stock
method to determme the drlutlon resulting from the forward sale agreements durmg the perrod of time prlor to settlement.
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Interests Non controlhng interests fepfeseﬂts—~ represent the membefship—mtefests-portmns of equlty in consolldated

subsidiaries that are held in vely-by third
parties , which are accounted for as a separate component of equrty The Company adJusts the carrymg Value of non- controlling
interests to reflect their share of the book value of the-©P-each not wholly- owned subsidiary . Such adjustments are recorded
to Additional paid- in capital as a reallocation of Non- controlling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Equity. Derivative
Instruments The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage risks related to interest rate movements. The interest
rate swap agreements, designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, are reported at fair value. ASC 815, Derivatives and
Hedging (“ ASC 815 ™), requires a company to present the earnings effect of the hedging instrument in the same income




statement line item in which the earnings effect of the hedged item is reported. In accordance with ASC 815, the gain or loss on
the qualifying hedges is initially included as a component of other comprehensive income or loss and is subsequently
reclassified into earnings when interest payments (the forecasted transactions) on the related debt are incurred and as the swap
net settlements occur. When an existing cash flow hedge is terminated, the Company determines the accounting treatment for
the accumulated gain or loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income based on the probability of the hedged
forecasted transaction occurring within the period the cash flow hedge was anticipated to affect earnings. If the Company
determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is probable of occurring during the original period, the accumulated gain or
loss is reclassified into earnings over the remaining life of the cash flow hedge using a straight- line method. If the Company
determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring during the original period, the entire amount of
accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings at such time. The Company documents its risk management strategy and
hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during the term of, each hedge. The Company’ s interest rate risk management
strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swap agreements to convert certain variable-
rate debt to a fixed rate. H-Property Loss and Insurance Recoveries Property losses, whether full or partial, are accounted for
using a combination of impairment, insurance, and revenue recognition guidance prescribed by GAAP. Upon incurring a loss
event, the Company evaluates for asset impairment under ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, and ASC 360, Property,
Plant, and Equipment. Under the terms of the Company’ s lease agreements with tenants, a majority of which are net leases
(whereby the tenants are responsible for insurance, taxes, and maintenance, among other property costs), the tenants are
responsible for repairs and maintenance to the properties. The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to continue
making their monthly rental payments despite the property loss. To the extent that the assets are recoverable, determined
utilizing undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or asset group and its eventual disposition, the
Company accounts for a full or partial property loss as an acceleration of depreciation and evaluates whether all or a portion of
the property loss can be offset by the recognition of insurance recoveries. Under the terms of the lease agreements with tenants,
in the case of full or partial loss to a property, the tenant has an obligation to restore / rebuild the premises as nearly as possible
to its value, condition and character immediately prior to such event. To mitigate the risk of loss, the Company requires tenants
to maintain general liability insurance policies on the replacement value of the properties. Based on these considerations, the
Company follows the guidance in ASC 610- 30, Other Income — Gains and Losses on Involuntary Conversions (“ ASC 610- 30
), for the conversion of nonmonetary assets (i. e., the properties) to monetary assets (i. e., insurance recoveries or tenant
recoveries). Under ASC 610- 30, once probable of receipt, the Company recognizes an insurance / tenant recovery receivable in
Tenant and other receivables, net, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding offset to the accelerated
depreciation recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. If the insurance / tenant
recovery is less than the amount of accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company will recognize a net loss in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. If the insurance / tenant recovery is greater than the amount of
accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company will only recognize a recovery up to the amount of the accelerated
depreciation, and will account for the excess as a gain contingency in accordance with ASC 450- 30, Gain Contingencies. Gain
contingencies are recognized when earned and realized, which typically will occur at the time of final settlement or when non-
refundable cash advances are received. Segment Reporting The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment,
which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties. The Company’ s chief operating decision maker
(“ CODM ) is the Company’ s senior leadership team, which includes, the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and the Company’ s Senior Vice Presidents. The CODM
assesses, measures, and reviews the operating and financial results at the consolldated level for the entire portfolio based on
consolidated revenues . expenses and-therefore-, p Fpe eonsidered-an-and individual-operating
segmentnet income as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehenswe Income . The Company
does not evaluate the results of operations based on geography, size, or property type. Fair Value Measurements ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement (“ ASC 820 ), defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a
liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three- tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the
inputs used in measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: Level 1
— Quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The types of financial instruments included
in Level 1 are marketable, available- for- sale equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. Level 2 — Pricing
inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets
that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full
term of the assets or liabilities. Instruments included in this category are derivative contracts whose value is determined using a
pricing model with inputs (such as yield curves and credit spreads) that are observable in the market or can be derived
principally from or corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no
market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 includes assets and liabilities whose
values are determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments
for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. The Company has estimated
that the carrying amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for Cash and cash equivalents, Prepaid expenses and other
assets, Tenant and other receivables, net, Accrued interest payable, Accounts payable and other liabilities, and Dividends
payable approximates their fair values due to their short- term nature. Recurring Fair Value MeasurementsInterest Rate Swap
Assets and Liabilities — The Company measures and records its interest rate swap instruments (see Note +49 ) and-earnont
Hability-at fair value, and discloses the fair value of its long- term debt, on a recurring basis. 72-Interest rate swaps are
derivative instruments that have no quoted readily available Level 1 inputs, and therefore are measured at fair value using inputs




that are directly observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, using an income
approach. Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the
expected future cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield curves and implied
volatilities to determine the market’ s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable
components of the interest rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the overnight
indexed swap (“ OIS ) curve and are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company also incorporates
credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’ s
nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used
to value its interest rate swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its
interest rate swaps utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself
and its counterparties. At December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of
the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation
adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company has determined that its interest rate swap
Valuatlons in thelr entirety are approprlately Cla551ﬁed within Level 2 of the fair value hlerarchy EarnoutLiabiity—In

at fair Value ona recurrlng ba51s are as follows (see Note +H9 ) December 31,2023-2024 (in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2
Level 3 Interest rate swap, assets $ 46, 896220 § — $ 46, 896220 $ — December 31,2622-2023 (in thousands) Total Level 1
Level 2 Level 3 Interest rate swap, assets $ 63-46 , 398-096 $ — $ 6346 ,399-096 $ — Long- term Debt — The fair value of the
Company’ s debt was estimated using Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 inputs based on recent secondary market trades of the
Company’ s 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes (see Note 9-7 ), recent comparable financing transactions, recent market risk
premiums for loans of comparable quality, appheableondeninterbankOfferedRate-(“IEHBOR;-Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“ SOFR ), Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“ CDOR ), Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average (“ CORRA
”), U. S. Treasury obligation interest rates, and discounted estimated future cash payments to be made on such debt. The
discount rates estimated reflect the Company’ s judgment as to the approximate current lending rates for loans or groups of
loans with similar maturities and assumes that the debt is outstanding through maturity. Market information, as available, or
present value techniques were utilized to estimate the amounts required to be disclosed. Since such amounts are estimates that
are based on limited available market information for similar transactions and do not acknowledge transfer or other repayment
restrictions that may exist on specific loans, it is unlikely that the estimated fair value of any such debt could be realized by
immediate settlement of the obligation. The following table summarizes the carrying amount reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and the Company’ s estimate of the fair value of the unsecured revolving credit facility, mortgages, unsecured
term loans, and senior unsecured notes which refleets-includes the fair value of interest rate swaps: December 31, (in thousands)
Carrying amount $ 1, 919,927 $ 1, 919, 607 $2,-034;076-Fair value 1, 794, 821 1, 761, 177 +584438+73-Non- recurring Fair
Value MeasurementsThe Company’ s non- recurring fair value measurements at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-,
consisted of the fair value of impaired real estate assets that were determined using Level 3 inputs. Income Taxes The Company
has made an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code, commencing with its taxable year
ended December 31, 2008. The Company believes it is organized and operates in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a
REIT, and intends to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that it will remain qualified as a REIT for U. S.
federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to U. S. federal corporate income tax to the extent its
dividends paid deduction exceeds its taxable income, as defined in the Code. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U. S.
federal income taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has a wholly- owned subsidiary
that elected to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary (“ TRS ) and is subject to U. S. federal, state and local income taxes at
regular corporate tax rates when due. The Company is subject to state and local income or franchise taxes and foreign taxes in
certain jurisdictions in which some of its properties are located and records these within Income taxes in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income when due. The Company is required to file income tax returns
with federal, state, and Canadian taxing authorities. At December 31, 28623-2024 , the Company’ s U. S. federal and state income
tax returns remain subject to examination by the respective taxing authorities for the 2628-2021 through 2622-2023 tax years.
The Company recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions using a two- step approach. The first step is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more- likely- than- not that the
position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. In making this
assessment, the Company must assume that the taxing authority will examine the income tax position and have full knowledge
of all relevant information. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50 % likely of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating tax positions



and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and which may or may not accurately forecast actual outcomes. The
Company has determined that it has no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-. Interest and
penalties related to income taxes are charged to tax expense during the year in which they are incurred. Taxes Collected From
Tenants and Remitted to Governmental Authorities A majority of the Company’ s properties are leased on a net basis, which
provides that the tenants are responsible for the payment of property operating expenses, including, but not limited to, property
taxes, maintenance, insurance, repairs, and capital costs, during the lease term. The Company records such expenses on a net
basis. In other situations, the Company may collect property taxes from its tenants and remit those taxes to governmental
authorities. Taxes collected from tenants and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a gross basis, where amounts
billed to tenants are included in Lease revenues, net and the corresponding expense is included in Property and operating
expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. Right- of- Use Assets and Lease
Liabilities The Company is a lessee under non- cancelable operating leases associated with its corporate headquarters and other
office spaces as well as with leases of land (* ground leases ). The Company records right- of- use assets and lease liabilities
associated with these leases. The lease liability is equal to the net present value of the future payments to be made under the
lease, discounted using estimates based on observable market factors. The right- of- use asset is generally equal to the lease
liability plus initial direct costs associated with the leases. The Company includes in the recognition of the right- of- use asset
and lease liability those renewal periods that are reasonably certain to be exercised, based on the facts and circumstances that
exist at lease inception. Amounts associated with percentage rent provisions are considered variable lease costs and are not
included in the initial measurement of the right- of- use asset or lease liability. The Company has made an accounting policy
election, applicable to all asset types, not to separate lease from nonlease components when allocating contract consideration
related to operating leases. Right- of- use assets and lease liabilities associated with operating leases were included in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows: December 31, (in thousands) Financial Statement Presentation Right-
of- use assets Prepaid expenses and other assets $ 10, 239 $ 8, 476 $3,200-Lease liabilities Accounts payable and other
liabilities 10, 186 8, 256 2;-772-74-The Company’ s right- of- use assets and lease liabilities primarily consist of a ten-year-lease
for the Company’ s corporate office space that-was-exeetted-, which expires in October 2022-and-ecommeneed-on-Oetober15
2623 2033 . The lease contains two five- year extension options, exercisable at the Company’ s discretion, that are not
reasonably certain to be exercised, and are therefore excluded from our calculation of the lease liability. Rental ExpenseRental
expense associated with operating leases is recorded on a straight- line basis over the term of each lease, for leases that have
fixed and measurable rent escalations. The difference between rental expense incurred on a straight- line basis and the cash
rental payments due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as part of the right- of- use asset in the accompanying
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts associated with percentage rent provisions
based on the achievement of sales targets are recognized as variable rental expense when achievement of the sales targets are
considered probable. Rental expense, which primarily consists of office space, is included in both General and administrative
and Property and operating expense line items in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income as follows: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Rental expense $ 1,211 $ 1, 189 $-$ Stock- Based
CompensationThe Company has issued restricted stock awards (“ RSAs ) and performance- based restricted stock units (“
PRSUs ) under its 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (the “ Equity Incentive Plan ). The Company accounts for stock-
based incentives in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires that such compensation be
recognized in the financial statements based on the award’ s estimated grant date fair value. The value of such awards is
recognized as compensation expense in General and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income over the appropriate vesting period on a straight- line basis or at the cumulative amount vested at each
balance sheet date, if greater. The Company records forfeitures during the period in which they occur by reversing all
previously recorded stock compensation expense associated with the forfeited shares. Dividends declared on RSAs issued under
the Equity Incentive Plan are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Accumulated dividends related to forfeited RSAs are reversed through compensation expense in the period the forfeiture
occurs. Dividends accrued on the PRSUs are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accumulated dividends accrued related to forfeited PRSUSs are reversed in the period the
forfeiture occurs. Earnings per Share Earnings per common share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in ASC 260,
Earnings Per Share, which requires the classification of the Company’ s unvested shares of restricted common stock, which
contain rights to receive non- forfeitable dividends, as participating securities requiring the two- class method of computing
earnings per share. The two- class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of
common stock and participating securities according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation rights in
undistributed earnings. In accordance with the two- class method, the Company’ s calculation of earnings per share excludes the
income attributable to the unvested shares of restricted common stock from the numerator of the calculation and the weighted
average number of such unvested shares from the denominator. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
by the weighted average shares of common stock and potentially dilutive securities in accordance with the treasury stock
method and / or if converted method. See Note +6-14 . Recently Adopted Accounting Standards In Oeteber-November 2023,
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ) 2023- 86-07 , -Btse}esafe
Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements -Cedifteation-AmendmentsirResponse-to Reportable Segment Disclosures
(“ ASU 2023- 07 ). ASU 2023- 07 is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure by requiring disclosure of
incremental segment information, such as, annual and interim disclosure of significant segment expenses that are
regularly reviewed by the SEE-CODM, interim disclosure of a reportable segment ’ s profit or loss and assets, and
require that a public entity with a single reportable segment provide all the Diselosure-disclosures required by Update-and
SimplifteationInitiative—ASU 2023- B6-eodiftes-07 and all existing required segment diselosure-disclosures requirements



etive-. There—- The amendments in are-no
ditio Sparto ASU 2023- 66-07 were effective for the Company
beglnmng J anuary 1 2024, and eeﬂs-equeﬂﬂ-y—tlﬂs—has—ne-dlsclosures were retrospectively applied to all periods presented
The impact to the Company was primarily including disclosure around identifying the title and position of the Company’
s finanetal-statements-or-CODM. The Company has one reportable segment and the required disetosures— disclosure -
updates have been reflected in Other-- the Segment Reporting section elsewhere in Note 2. Recently [ssued Accounting
StandardsIn November 2623-2024 , the FASB issued ASU 2623-2024 - 67-03 , Income Segment-- Statement — Reporting
Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation (Fepte280)—Improvements-toReportable-Segment-Disclosures —Fhe
(Subtopic 220- 40) (“ ASU 2024- 03 ). ASU 2024- 03 requires a public entity to disclose additional diselosuresregarding
segment-information about specific expenses— expense and-categories in other—- the items-notes to financial statements on
an annual and interim and-anmtat-basis. The amendments #ASH2023-—67-are effective for the-annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The
Company beginningJanaary+-2624-will have the election to apply the amendments either prospectively to financial
statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU or retrospectively to any or all prior periods
presented in the financial statements . While this update will result in enhanced disclosures, the Company does not expect it
will have a maluml 1mpacl on the (ompany S lmdnual statements. —’;’é—Ree}assrﬁea-t-teﬂs:Phe% Acqu1s1t10ns of Rental

potrthe-oee nec-of-eertan p Hig durlng the year ended Dcccmbu 31,2062+-2024 : (m
thousands, except number of propertles) Number of Real Estate Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price April
4, 2024 Retail $ 84, 500 (a) April 18, 2024 Industrial & Retail 65, 000 May 21, 2024 Retail 12, S90 May 30, 2024
Industrial 31, 493 June 6, 2024 Industrial 9, 470 June 24, 2024 Retail 14, 000 September 3, 2024 Retail 10, 180 September
5, 2024 Industrial 59 000 December 12, 2024 Retall 1, 050 (b) December 24, 2024 Industrlal 2, 750 (c) $ 290 033 (d) (a)

it stderatt . 0 million pay&b-}e—bulld to- suit transactlon
expected to fund n -feur—traﬂehes-multlple draws through March 2025 (c) Acquisition of land to be developed in
connection with a § +6-115 . 6-4 million ;-build- to- suit transaction expected to fund in multiple draws through July 2026.
(d) Acqu1s1t10n prlce excludes capltahzed acqulsmon costs of $ -15—8 9—3 million —$—2§— G—mrl-heﬁ—&nd—ié%—e—mﬁheﬂ—rf

The Company closed on Ihc following dL(]Lll\lllOH% during the year cndcd December 31 2()2 3: (m thousands, except number of
properties) Number of Real Estate Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price March 14, 2023 Retail § 5, 221 May 16,
2023 Industrial 10, 432 May 22, 2023 Industrial 17, 300 (&€ ) May 25, 2023 Industrial 9, 952 July 11, 2023 RestaurantRetail (
b-f ) November 14, 2023 Restaurant-Retail 1, 963 (e)-5 45, 328 (d-g ) (ae ) Acquisition of land te-be-developed in connection
with a § 204. 8 million build- to- suit transaction substantially completed expeeted-to-fund-in September multipte-draws
threugh-Oetober-2024 {seeNete2)-. (b-f ) Acquisition of land dC\ Ll()PLd in conn ection w 1lh a % . 7 million build- to- suit
transaction completed in October 2023 {see Nete2)-. ( g e} desconstderation-payab $-0—3-mithon
) Acqulsmon pllcc excludes capitalized dcqulslllon costs of $




e&pﬁ&h%ed—aequist&en—eesfs—e%—é—*mﬂhﬁﬂ#q—The Company allocated the purcha%e price of the%e propertle% to the falr value

of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation for completed real
estate acquisitions: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Land $ 56,397 $ 2, 975 $326;-865-$ 14,296 and
improvements 13, 972 2, 817 47,%—1—3%9,%—98—Buildings and improvements 198, 173 19, 913 649,49546913-Property under

development 9, 950 20, 315 -Acquired in- place leases (£h ) 23,336 2, 561 69:-669-5+-956-Acquired above- market

leases (gi)—1, 029 — Acquired below- market leases (#j) (4,504 ) (166) $ 298 279 —TRight—ef—use-asset———ease
Hability———48 ) Non—real-estate Hiabilities-assumed—8-, 353 65)—F 48, 415 $884;-852-85-665;-0656-(£h ) The weighted

average amortization period for acquired in- place leases is +6-10 years ;28-years;-and 16 years for acquisitions completed
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 2022;-and-2024respectively. ( gi) The weighted average amortization
period for acquired above- market leases is +8-six years for acquisitions completed during the year ended December 31, 2824
2024 . There were no above- market leases acquired during the years— year ended December 31, 2023 and2622-. (hj ) The
weighted average amortization period for acquired below- market leases is nine years and 20 years-and—+4-years for
acqulsmon% completed durlng the year% ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, reqpectlvely—"Phefe—wefe-ne—be}ew-

. The above acquisitions were funded using a combination of
avallable ca%h on hand and unqecured revolvmg credlt fac111ty borrowings. All real estate acquisitions closed during the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ;2022;-and20624-, qualified as asset acquisitions and s-as such, acquisition costs were have
been—capitalized. 6-Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company closed on the following acquisitions (see Note 18): (in
thousands, except number of properties) Date PropertyType Number ofProperties AcquisitionPrice January 28, 2025
Retail $ 9, 871 February 13, 2025 Retail (k) $ 10, 366 (k) Acquisition of land to be developed in connection witha $ 1. 7
million build- to- suit transaction expected to fund in multiple draws through April 2025. 4 . Sale of Real Estate The
Company closed on the following sales of real estate, none of which qualified as discontinued operations: For the Year Ended
December 31, (in thousands, except number of properties) Number of properties disposed Aggregate sale price $ 364, 059 $
200, 072 $ 58, 024 $-8F-F36-Aggregate carrying value ( 285, 736) ( 140, 649) (40, 485 376,289-) Additional sales expenses (35,
170) (5, 113) (1, 586 H37948-) Gain on sale of real estate $ 73,153 $ 54, 310 $ 15, 953 5 $43;-523-F Investment in Rental
Property and Lease Arrangements The Company generally leases its investment rental property to established tenants in the
industrial and ;healtheare;restaurantretail s-and-offtee-property types. At December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had 796-765
real estate properties, #84-753 of which were leased under leases that have been classified as operating leases, nine that have
been classified as direct financing leases, one that has been classified as a sales- type lease, and two that were vacant. Of the nine
leases classified as direct financing leases, three include land portions which are accounted for as operating leases. The sales-
type lease includes a land portion which is accounted for as an operating lease (see Revenue Recognition within Note 2). Most
leases have initial terms of 10 to 20 years. The Company’ s leases generally provide for limited increases in rent as a result of
fixed increases, increases in the CPI, or increases in the tenant’ s sales volume. Generally, tenants are also required to pay all
property taxes and assessments, substantially maintain the interior and exterior of the building, and maintain property and
liability insurance coverage. The leases also typically provide for one or more multiple year renewal options, at the election of
the tenant, and are subject to generally the same terms and conditions as the initial lease. Investment in Rental Property —
Accounted for Using the Operating Method Depreciation expense on investment in rental property was as follows: For the Year
Ended December 31, (in thousands) Depreciation $ 123, 684 $ 123, 859 $ 114, 583 $-99,443-Estimated lease payments to be
received under non- cancelable operating leases with tenants at December 31, 2023-2024 are as follows: (in thousands) $ 394
398 ., 631+-466-476 409 , 874-901 402, 29+-385-803 386 . 379-369-879 375 , 418-699 Thereafter 2, 582-888 , 664-790 $ 4, 946
862 , 597548 Since lease renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the tenant, the above amounts only include future
lease payments due during the initial lease terms. Such amounts exclude any potential variable rent increases that are based on
changes in the CPI or future variable rents which may be received under the leases based on a percentage of the tenant’ s gross
sales. Additionally, certain of our leases provide tenants with the option to terminate their leases in exchange for termination
penalties, or that are contingent upon the occurrence of a future event. Future lease payments within the table above have not
been adjusted for these termination rights. Investment in Rental Property — Direct Financing Leases The Company’ s net
investment in direct financing leases was comprised of the following: December 31, (in thousands) Undiscounted estimated
lease payments to be received $ 31, 983 $ 35, 155 $38;268-Estimated unguaranteed residual values 14, 547 14, 547 Unearned
revenue ( 20, 277) (22, 944 H25;-645-) Reserve for credit losses (99) (115 3H425-) Net investment in direct financing leases $
26,154 $ 26, 643 $27,-845-Undiscounted estimated lease payments to be received under non- cancelable direct financing leases
with tenants at December 31, 2823-2024 are as follows: (in thousands) $ 3, 3435285 3, 357 3, 426 3, 496 3, 561 Thereafter +&
14 ,420-858 $ 35-31 , 455983 The above rental receipts do not include future lease payments for renewal periods, potential
variable CPI rent increases, or variable percentage rent payments that may become due in future periods. #9-The following table
summarizes amounts reported as Lease revenues, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income: For
the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Contractual rental amounts billed for operating leases $ 388, 074 $ 388, 073 $ 359,
317 $308;-624-Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease billings on a straight- line basis 22,163 27, 154 22, 353 19;
$47FNet write- offs of accrued rental income ( 2, 556) (4, 266) (1, 326 3H442-) Variable rental amounts earned 2,999 2, 277 1,
507 Earned income from direct financing leases 2, 748 2, 752 2, 856 2;-96%-Interest income from sales- type leases Operating




expenses billed to tenants 20, 693 20, 363 19, 779 +%462-Other income from real estate transactions (a) 2, 039 7, 414 3, 069 335
$49-Adjustment to revenue recognized for uncollectible rental amounts billed, net ( 4, 418) (937) (100) Total lease revenues,
net $ 431,800 $ 442, 888 $ 407, 513 (a) Includes $ 382-1. 2 million , 876-(a)-Otherincomefromreal-estatetransactions
teludesS 7. 5 million yand $ 2 —S-mithen;and-$33- 5 million of lease termination fee income for the years ended December
31,2024, 2023, and 2022, and-2024respectively. §-6 . Intangible Assets and Liabilities, and Leasing Fees The following is a
summary of intangible assets and liabilities, and leasing fees, and related accumulated amortization: December 31, (in
thousands) Lease intangibles: Acquired above- market leases $ 39, 786 $ 44, 711 $45;740-Less accumulated amortization ( 18,
599) (20, 312 ¥8;436-) Acquired above- market leases, net 21, 187 24, 399 27:-364-Acquired in- place leases 406, 146 410,
206 436540+ ess accumulated amortization ( 159, 695) ( 152, 379 3¥434:426-) Acquired in- place leases, net 246, 451 263,
827 30228+Total intangible lease assets, net $ 267, 638 $ 288, 226 $329:-585-Acquired below- market leases $ 94, 513 § 98,
535 $405;659-1 ess accumulated amortization (45, 782) (45, 004 3H42,204-) Intangible lease liabilities, net $ 48, 731 $ 53, 531
$-62,855 casing fees $ 21,781 $ 18, 117 $34;430-Lcss accumulated amortization (6, 495) (6, 426 H5;924-) Leasing fees, net
$15,286 $ 11, 691 $8;-566-Amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities, and leasing fees was as follows: (in
thousands) For the Year Ended December 31, Intangible Financial Statement Presentation Acquired in- place leases and leasing
fees Depreciation and amortization $ 32,161 $ 34, 487 $ 40, 090 $-32,-857Above- market and below- market leases Lease
revenues, net 4,419 5, 859 4, 822 3;:264-For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and 2022 and2024- amortization of
all intangible assets and liabilities includes $ 1. 6 million, $ 0. 9 million, and $ 8. 5 mitlen;and-$3—8-million, respectively, of
accelerated amortization resulting from early lease terminations. Estimated future amortization of intangible assets and
liabilities, and leasing fees at December 31, 2023-2024 is as follows: (in thousands) $ 26, 502-497 25, 45824-481 23 , 29622
618 21 , 574206-348 19 , 695-744 Thercafter 426-117 , 86+-505 § 246-234 ., 3869-193 7 . Unsecured Credit Agreements
Unsecured Revolving Credit AgreementsUnsecured Revolving Credit FacilityOn September 4, 2020, the Company entered into
a $ 900. 0 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “ Revolving Credit Facility ), with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., as
administrative agent. The Company closed the Revolving Credit Facility on September 21, 2020. The Revolving Credit Facility
includes an accordion feature to increase the aggregate facility size from $ 900. 0 million to $ 2. 0 billion, subject to the
willingness of existing or new lenders to fund such increase and other customary conditions. The Company has the option to
extend the term of the Revolving Credit Facility twice for six months per extension, subject to certain conditions, including
payment of an extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. On January 28, 2022, the Company amended
and restated the Revolving Credit Facility to increase the available borrowings to $ 1. 0 billion and extend the maturity date to
March 31, 2026. In addition to United States Dollars (“ USD ), borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility can be made in
Pound Sterhng, Euros or Canadran Dollarq (“ CAD ”) up to an aggregate amount of$ 500. 0 mllhon Pﬂer—te—t-he—&naeﬂdment;

Revolvrng Credrt F acility are %ubject o interest only payments at Vanable rates equal to the apphcable reference rate plus a
margrn based on the Company s Credrt ratrng, rangrng between O 725 % and L. 400 % Adlotherterms-and-eonditions-ofthe

oty d 7 ; 7 ose11 e-this-amendment—The amended Revolving
Credlt F acﬂrty is %ubject toa facrhty fee on the amount of the revolvrng commitments, based on the Company’ s credit rating,
ranging between 0. 125 % and 0. 300 %. The apphcable facrhty fee is 0. 200 % per annum. Unqecured Term Loan

Uniecured Term LoanOn F ebruary 27,2019, the Company entered into a $ 450. O mrlhon seven- year unsecured term loan
agreement (the “ 2026 Unsecured Term Loan ™) with Capital One, National Association as administrative agent. The 2026
Unsecured Term Loan provides an accordion feature for up to a total of $ 550. 0 million borrowing capacity. The 2026
Unsecured Term Loan has an initial maturity date of February 27, 2026. Following the amendment, Berrewings-borrowings
under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan were subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to LIBOR plus a margin
between 1. 45 % and 2. 40 % per annum based on the Company’ s credrt ratrng through March 12,2021. On March 12, 2021,

the Company amended the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan to and
redueed— reduce the margin on variable interest rate borrowings te— and made a fa-nge—$ 50. 0 million paydown on the loan.
Borrowings under the amended 2026 Unsecured Term Loan are subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal
to LIBOR plus a margln between 0. 85 % and 1. 65 % per annum based on the Company s Credrt ratrng AH-et-heHefnas—&ﬂd

A e ; RatHe h e amendment—L ffective
July 1, 2023 the Company further alnended the 2026 Un%ecured Term Loan to transition to SOFR upon the cessation of
LIBOR Interest on borrowings bear interest at one- month adjusted SOFR plus a margin between 0. 85 % and 1. 65 % per
annum based on the Company’ s credit rating. The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan is subject to a fee of 0. 25 % per annum on the
amount of the commitment, reduced by the amount of term loans outstanding. 2027 and 2029 Unsecured Term LoansOn August
1, 2022, the Company entered into two unsecured term loans, including a $ 200. 0 million, five- year unsecured term loan (the “
2027 Unsecured Term Loan ), and a $ 300. 0 million, seven- year unsecured term loan (the “ 2029 Unsecured Term Loan ™)




both with Regions Bank as administrative agent. Borrowings on the term loans bear interest at variable rates based on adjusted
SOFR, plus a margin based on the Company’ s credit rating, ranging between 0. 80 % and 1. 60 % per annum for the 2027
Unsecured Term Loan, and 1. 15 % and 2. 20 % per annum for the 2029 Unsecured Term Loan. $3+Senior Unsecured Notes
2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series AOn April 18,2017, the Company issued $ 150. 0 million of unsecured, fixed- rate,
interest- only guaranteed senior promissory notes (the *“ 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A ). The 2027 Senior Unsecured
Notes- Series A were issued at par, and bear interest at a rate of 4. 84 %. 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030
Senior Unsecured Notes- Series COn July 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Note and Guaranty Agreement (the “ NGA
Agreement ) with each of the purchasers of unsecured, fixed- rate, interest- only, guaranteed senior promissory notes. Under the
NGA Agreement, the OP issued and sold senior promissory notes in two series, series B guaranteed senior notes (the “ 2028
Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B ) and series C guaranteed senior notes (the “ 2030 Unsecured Notes- Series C ), for an
aggregate principal amount of $ 325. 0 million. The 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B provide for an aggregate principal
amount of § 225. 0 million with a fixed- rate of 5. 09 %. The 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C provide for an aggregate
principal amount of $ 100. 0 million with a fixed- rate of 5. 19 %. 2031 Senior Unsecured Public NotesOn September 15, 2021,
the Company completed a public offering of § 375. 0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2. 60 % senior unsecured notes
due in 2031 (the “ 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes ), issued at 99. 816 % of the principal amount. The 2031 Senior
Unsecured Public Notes require semi- annual interest payments through the maturity date of September 15, 2031, unless earlier
redeemed. The 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes were issued by the OP and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company. Covenants on Unsecured Credit AgreementsThe Company is subject to various financial and operational covenants
and financial reporting requirements pursuant to its unsecured credit agreements. These covenants require the Company to
maintain certain financial ratios. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , and for all periods presented, the Company believes it was in
compliance with all of its loan covenants. Failure to comply with the covenants would result in a default which, if the Company
were unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could accelerate the repayment of the obligations. Further, in the event
of default, the Company may be restricted from paying dividends to its stockholders in excess of dividends required to maintain
its REIT qualification. Accordingly, an event of default could have a material effect on the Company. The following table
summarizes the Company’ s unsecured credit agreements: Outstanding Balance December 31, InterestMaturity=(in thousands,
except interest rates) Interest OutstandingBalanee-Rate DateRevelving-Maturity DateUnsecured revolving €redit-credit
Faetlity-facility $ 93, 014 $ 90, 434 $497,322-Applicable reference rate 0. 85 % (a) Mar. 2026 (d) Unsecured term loans: 2026
Unsecured Term Loan 400, 000 400, 000 one- month adjusted SOFR 1. 00 % (b) €e}Feb. 20262027 Unsecured Term Loan 200,
000 200, 000 daily simple ene—menth-adjusted SOFR 0. 95 % (c) Aug. 20272029 Unsecured Term Loan 300, 000 300, 000
daily simple ene—menth-adjusted SOFR 1. 25 % (c) Aug. 2029Total unsecured term loans 900, 000 900, 000 Unamortized debt
issuance costs, net ( 2, 799) (4, 053 3H5:308-) Total unsecured term loans, net 897, 201 895, 947 894;-692-Senior unsecured
notes: 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A 150, 000 150, 000 4. 84 % Apr. 20272028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B
225,000 225, 000 5. 09 % Jul. 20282030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C 100, 000 100, 000 5. 19 % Jul. 20302031 Senior
Unsecured Public Notes 375, 000 375, 000 2. 60 % Sep. 2031Total senior unsecured notes 850, 000 850, 000 Unamortized debt
issuance costs and original issuance discount, net ( 3, 936) (4, 691 H5;445-) Total senior unsecured notes, net 846, 064 845,
309 844;-555-Total unsecured debt, net $ 1, 83+836 ,696-279 $ 1, 936-831 , 569-690 (a) At December 31, 2023-2024 and2022
, a balance of § +5-0-mitienand-$123— 23 5 million was subject to -t-he—dally simple SOFR, and at December 31,2023 a
balance of $ 15. 0 million was subject to one- month SOFR ef5-35%and-4-—36-%4respeetively-. The remaining balanees—
balance of $ 100 . 0 million CAD borrowings were-remeasured to $ 69. 5 million USD and $ 75. 4 million USD , ard-$73—8
mithenUSB-at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively, and swere-was subject to the-daily simple CORRA of 3.
32 % at December 31, 2024 and one- month CDOR , of 5. 46 % at December 31 and-4—74-%-, respeetively-2023 . (b) At
December 31, 2024 and 2023, one- month SOFR was 4. 33 % and 5. 35 % , respectively . (¢) At December 31, 2022-2024 ,
fhe—overnlght SOFR was 4. 49 %. The applicable interestreference rate at December 31, 2023 was one- month HBOR-of4-
39-%phas1-06-%—(e)rAtDeeember312623-and2022-one—month-SOFR , which was 5. 35 % and-4-—36-%;respeetively. (d)
The Company’ s unsecured Revolving-revolving €redit-credit Faetlity-facility contains two six- month extension options
subject to certain conditions, including the payment of an extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. 82-At
December 31, 2623-2024 , the weighted average interest rate on all outstandlng borrowmgs Twas 4. 79 % exclusive of interest
rate swap agreements was>-, and 3 . 33-84 % A he g e-interestrate-on-all-otits
borrowings;-inclusive of interest rate swap agreements was—3—7—3—%— F or the ye&fs—~ year ended December 31, 2022 —a-nd—292—1—
the Company incurred debt issuance costs of § 7. 0 million s-end-$-5—0-mithenrespeetively-associated with ﬁnancmg activities.
The Company did not incur any debt issuance costs for the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Debt issuance costs
and original issuance discounts are amortized as a component of Interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income. The following table summarizes debt issuance cost and original issuance discount
amortization: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Debt issuance costs and original issuance discount amortization
$3,9328$3,938 3, 692 8$3;-85440- MortgagesThe Company’ s mortgages consist of the following: Origination-Matarity
(in thousands, except interest rates) Pate-Date-Origination Maturity Interest December 31, Lender Date Date (Menth-+Y-ear)
PMeonth/Fear)Rate Wilmington Trust National Association Apr —9-, 2019 Feb —28-, 2028 4. 92 % $ 42, 838 $ 44, 207 $45;
5+6-(a) (b) (¢) (d) Wilmington Trust National Association Jun —4+8-, 2018 Aug —25-. 2025 4. 36 % 18, 283 18, 725 +9:356+a)
(b) (c) (d) PNC Bank Oct=—+6-.2016 Nov —26-. 2026 3. 62 % 15, 792 16, 241 +6;675-(b) (c yAegonApr—12-Oet—23-6-38%
—5;-413-b)(d) Total mortgages 76, 913 79, 173 86;F54-Debt issuance costs, net ( 67) ( 105 3H3F52) Mortgages, net $ 76, 846
$ 79, 068 $-86;-662-(a) Non- recourse debt includes the indemnification / guaranty of the Company pertaining to fraud,
environmental claims, insolvency, and other matters. (b) Debt secured by related rental property and lease rents. (c¢) Debt
secured by guaranty of the OP. (d) Mortgage was assumed as part of the acquisition of the related property. The debt was




recorded at fair value at the time of assumption. At December 31, 2623-2024 , investment in rental property with a book value
of $ 426-117 . 5-8 million was pledged as collateral against the Company’ s mortgages. Estimated future principal payments to
be made under the above mortgages and the Company’ s unsecured credit agreements (see Note 9-7 ) at December 31, 2623
2024 , are as follows: (in thousands) $ 2;266-20, 195 567-509 , 277857 351, 596 263, 277279 300, 000 Thereafter 775-475 ,
0062000 $ 1, 919, 667927 Certain of the Company’ s mortgages provide for prepayment fees and can be terminated under
certain events of default as defined under the related agreements. These prepayment fees are not reflected as part of the table
above. +H9 . Interest Rate Swaps Interest rate swaps were entered into with certain financial institutions in order to mitigate the
impact of interest rate variability over the term of the related debt agreements. The interest rate swaps are considered cash flow
hedges. Under these agreements, the Company receives monthly payments from the counterparties equal to the related variable
interest rates multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. In turn, the Company pays the counterparties each month an
amount equal to a fixed rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net impact of these
transactions is that the Company pays a fixed interest rate on its variable- rate borrowings. In order to reduce counterparty
concentration risk, the Company diversifies the institutions that serve as swap counterparties. The Company is exposed to credit
risk in the event of non- pelformance by the counterparties of the swaps. The Company minimizes the risk exposure by limiting
counterparties to only major banks who meet established credit and capltal guldehne% In June eeﬂneet—ten—wrt-h—t-he—tswﬂﬁee-e-f
the203+-Sentor Unseeured-Publie Notes-in-September 20242024 and-repa borrowingsofvariablerate-deb
ndexed-to-the-one—month EHBORrate(see Note-9)-, the Company tefmrﬂated-entered 1nto nine forward— startmg mtere@t rate

swaps with various institutions for a total notional amount of $ 460. 0 million in order to mitigate the impact of interest
rate variability over the term of the Company s current and expected debt 0b11gat10ns These qwap arrangements are
effectlve a8 W gereg e determined bable

2025 and %922—mature in 2030 . The followmg 1sa iummary of the Company S outqtandmg interest rate swap agreements: (in
thousands, except interest rates) December 31, 2023-2024 December 31, 28222023 Counterparty Maturity Date FixedRate
Variable Rate Index (a) NotionalAmount Fair Value Notional Amount F air Value Effective Swaps: Wells Fargo Bank, N. A.
October 2024 2. 72 % daily compounded SOFR $ —45;-688-$ — $ 15, 000 $ Capital One, National Association December
2024 1. 58 % daily compounded SOFR — — 45;666-15, 000 Bank of Montreal January 2025 1. 91 % daily compounded SOFR
25,000 25, 000 ,239-Truist Financial Corporation April 2025 2. 20 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 4,3469-Bank
of Montreal July 2025 2. 32 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 454+62-Truist Financial Corporation July 2025 1. 99 %
daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 45358-Truist Financial Corporation December 2025 2. 30 % daily compounded SOFR
25,000 25, 000 ,299-Bank of Montreal January 2026 1. 92 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 ;-6H-25, 000 1, 547071
Bank of Montreal January 2026 2. 05 % daily compounded SOFR 40, 000 40, 000 1, 615 40;-8068-2,332-Capital One, National
Association January 2026 2. 08 % daily compounded SOFR 35, 000 35, 000 1, 389 35;-806-2,-067Truist Financial Corporation
January 2026 1. 93 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 45-86725, 000 1, 542-067 Capital One, National Association April 2026
2. 68 % daily compounded SOFR 15, 000 15, 000 Capital One, National Association July 2026 1. 32 % daily compounded
SOFR 35, 000 1, 454 35, 000 2, 186 35;-8606-3;-8042-Bank of Montreal December 2026 2. 33 % daily compounded SOFR 10, 000
10, 000 Bank of Montreal December 2026 1. 99 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 299-030 25, 000 1, 7#3-299 Toronto-
Dominion Bank March 2027 2. 46 % ene—menth-EDOR-daily compounded CORRA 13, 903 (b) 15, 087 foy+4-764-(b) Wells
Fargo Bank, N. A. April 2027 2. 72 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 5429-Bank of Montreal December 2027 2. 37
% daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 245230 25, 000 1, 628-215 Capital One, National Association December 2027 2. 37 %
daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 49#227 25, 000 1, 685197 Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. January 2028 2. 37 % daily
compounded SOFR 75, 000 3, 693 75, 000 3, 632 #5-806-4;:-854-Bank of Montreal May 2029 2. 09 % daily compounded SOFR
25,000 2,024 25, 000 1, 835 25;-800-2,295-Regions Bank May 2029 2. 11 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 999 25, 000
1, 801 25;-806-2,244-Regions Bank June 2029 2. 03 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 2, 085 25, 000 1, 900 250602357
U. S. Bank National Association June 2029 2. 03 % daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 2, 087 25, 000 1, 908 250602377
Regions Bank August 2029 2. 58 % one- month SOFR 100, 000 5, 799 100, 000 4, 392 4+80,-000-5;782-Toronto- Dominion
Bank August 2029 2. 58 % one- month SOFR 45, 000 2, 624-642 45, 000 2, 674-021 U. S. Bank National Association August
2029 2. 65 % one- month SOFR 15, 000 15, 000 U. S. Bank National Association August 2029 2. 58 % one- month SOFR 100,
000 5, 820 100, 000 4, 427 +86;600-5:-861-1. S. Bank National Association August 2029 1. 35 % daily compounded SOFR 25,
000 2, 894 25, 000 2, 828 25;-660-3-4+9-Regions Bank March 2032 2. 69 % ene—menth-EDOR-daily compounded CORRA
13,903 (b) 15, 087 (b) H47764b31-692-U. S. Bank National Association March 2032 2. 70 % efe—menth-€CPDOR-daily
compounded CORRA 13, 903 (b) 15, 087 (b) H;F64by+1+07Bank of Montreal March 2034 2. 81 % ene—month-CDOR
daily compounded CORRA 27, 805 (c) 30, 174 (c) 1,41029-939 , 514 41, 815 975, 435 46, 096 Forward Starting Swaps:
(d) Bank of Montreal March 2030 3. 80 % daily simple SOFR 80, 000 — — JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A. March 2030 3.
79 % daily simple SOFR 536-- 50 {ey2-, 424-000 — — U. S. Bank National Association June 2030 3. 73 % daily simple
SOFR 70, 000 — — Truist Financial Corporation June 2030 3. 73 % daily simple SOFR 55, 000 — — Manufacturers &
Traders Trust Company September 2030 3. 71 % daily simple SOFR 50, 000 — — Regions Bank September 2030 3. 69
% daily simple SOFR 15, 000 — — Truist Financial Corporation September 2030 3. 70 % daily simple SOFR 15, 000 —
— Toronto- Dominion Bank December 2030 3. 66 % daily simple SOFR 70, 000 — — Regions Bank December 2030 3.
66 % daily simple SOFR 55, 000 — — 460, 000 4, 405 — — Total Swaps $ 1, 399, 514 $ 46, 220 $ 975, 435 $ 46, 096 $
973,822-$-63:390-(a) Prior to the cessation of HHBOR-CDOR on July 1, 2623-2024 , the variable rate index for daily
compounded SOFR-CORRA based swaps was one- month EFBOR-CDOR . (b) The contractual notional amount is $ 20. 0



million CAD. (¢) The contractual notional amount is $ 40. 0 million CAD. (d) Forward starting swaps have effective dates
that are ﬁve years prlor to each respectlve maturlty date. At December 31, 2023-2024 ;-the-weighted-average-fixed-rate-on

, the Welghted average interest rate on all outstanding
b0r1 owings —rﬂe+us+ve—e%&nseeﬂfed—efeé'rt—&gfeemeﬁfs—\ms —7’-3—84 % s 1nclus1ve of a weighted average fixed rate on effective
interest rate swaps of 2 . 84-28 %. The total amounts recognized, and the location in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, from converting from variable rates to fixed rates under these agreements
were as follows: Total Interest Expense Amount of Gain (Loss) GairPresented in the Recognized in Reclassification from
Accumulated Consolidated Statements Accumulated Other Other Comprehensive Income of Income and (in thousands)
Comprehensive Amount of Comprehensive For the year ended December 31, Income Location Gain (Loss) Income $§ 47293
Interest expense $ 28, 797 $ 74, 077 (17, 293) Interest expense 25, 679 $-80, 053 90, 560 Interest expense (4, 453) 78, 652 39;
353 nterestexpense-(16;136)-64146-Amounts related to the interest rate swaps expected to be reclassified out of Accumulated
other comprehensive income to Interest expense during the next twelve months are estimated to be a gain of § 23-16 . 6-1
million. $2-10 . Non- Controlling Interests The Company has two entities with noncontrolling interests that are
consolidated: the “ OP, ” and interests in a consolidated VIE not wholly- owned by the Company (See Note 2). Under the
Company’ s UPREIT structure, entities and individuals can contribute assets their-properties-in exchange for OP Units. There
were no UPREIT transactions during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and202+-. The cumulative amount
of UPREIT propertles contr 1buted less assumed debt, amounted to $ 128.7 1n11110r1 as of December 31 2024 and 2023 and

34—2924—fepfeseﬂ&ﬂg—a—6—9—%1ﬂtﬁes&m—ﬂ&&9¥%eeembeﬁ3&%@2+ The OP Umts are eeonomlcdlly equw"llent to the

Corporation’ s common stock and, subject to certain restrictions, are convertible into the Company’ s common stock at the
option of the respective unit holders on a one- to- one basis. The OP Units are redeemable for cash at the option of the holder,
however, the Company may issue shares in lieu of cash. Therefore, the OP Units are considered to be permanent equity.
Exchanges of OP Units held by non- controlling interest holders are recorded by reducing non- controlling interest on a
historical cost basis with a corresponding increase in common stock and additional paid- in capital. The following table
summarizes OP Units exchanged for shares of common stock: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) OP Units
exehdnged f01 shares of common stock 1, 277 2—935—V'11ue of units exehdnged $ 4,544 $ 21, 235 $1,926 '$-46—968—Btlﬂﬂ'g—t'he

25—7’—9P—U-mt-s—€see—Nete—4}—Holde1s of the OP Umts do not ha\e votmg rights at the C 01p0r"lt10n level. -1-3—11 C 1ed1t Rlsk
Concentrations The Company maintained bank balances that, at times, exceeded the federally insured limit during the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-. The Company has not experienced losses relating to these deposits and
management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any significant credit risk with respect to these amounts based on
the financial position and capitalization of the applicable banks helding-sueh-balanees-. For the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022 ;ard-2624, the Company had no individual tenants or common franchises that accounted for more than

10 % of Lease revenues, net, excluding lease termination fees. +4-12 . Equlty Geﬁefa%@ﬁ—Sep’fefﬂberé—l%@%@—t-he—Gefpefa—t—teﬂ




the Corporation” s common stock entitle the holders to one vote per share on all matters upon which stockholders are entitled to
vote, to receive dividends and other distributions as authorized by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Maryland
General Corporation Law, and to all rights of a stockholder pursuant to the Maryland General Corporation Law. The common
stock has no preferences or preemptive conversion or exchange rights. Pursuant to the limited liability company agreement
between the Corporation and the OP, each outstanding OP Unit is convertible into one share of the Corporation’ s common
stock, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the OP’ s operating agreement. Preferred StockThe Charter also provides
the Board of Directors with the authority to issue one or more classes or series of preferred stock, and prior to the issuance of
such shares of preferred stock, the Board of Directors shall have the power from time to time to classify or reclassify, in one or
more series, any unissued shares and designate the preferences, rights and privileges of such shares of preferred stock. At
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-20822-, no shares of the Corporation’ s preferred stock were issued and outstanding. Share
Repurehase-At- the- Market ProgramOn—- Program Mareh+4-(“ ATM Program ”) The Company enters into ATM
Programs through which it may ., 2623-from time to time , the-publicly offer and sell shares of common stock. The
Company’ s Beard-ATM Programs also provide for forward sale agreements, enabling the Company to set the price of
Direetors-approved-shares upon pricing the offering, while delaying the issuance of shares and the receipt of the net
proceeds. In May 2024, the Company replaced its prior $ 400. 0 million ATM Program (“ 2021 ATM Program ) with a
new $ 400. 0 million ATM Program (*“ 2024 ATM Program ), and the 2021 ATM Program was simultaneously
terminated. The following table presents information about the Company’ s ATM Programs: (in thousands) Program
Year Program Size Aggregate Gross Sales Shares Issued 2021 (a) $ 400, 000 $ 254, 620 11, 542 400, 000 40, 003 2, 188 (a)
ATM Program has been terminated and no future issuance will occur. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company entered into forward sale agreements to sell an aggregate of 2, 187, 700 shares of common stock under the
2024 ATM Program at a weighted- average share price of $ 18. 29, subject to certain adjustments. The Company has the
option to settle the outstanding shares of common stock anytime between August and September 2025 for net proceeds
of approximately $ 38. S million. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has not settled any of the
outstanding shares of these forward sales agreements. There was no ATM Program activity during the year ended
December 31, 2023. The following table presents information about the Company’ s ATM Program issuances: For the
Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of common shares issued 10, 471 Weighted
average sale price per share $ 21. 66 Net proceeds $ 222, 893 Gross proceeds 226, 483 There were no ATM Program
issuances during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Stock Repurchase ProgramThe Company has a stock
repurchase program (the * Repurchase Program ), which autherized-authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $ 150. 0
million of the Company” s common stock. Fhese-On March 12, 2024, the Company’ s Board of Directors re- authorized the
Repurchase Program for a 12- month period beginning on March 14, 2024. Under the Repurchase Program, purehases
repurchases of the Company’ s stock can be made in the open market or through private transactions from time to time over
the 12- month time-period foHewingauthorization-, depending on prevailing market conditions and compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements. The timing, manner, price , and amount of any repurchases of common stock under the
Repurchase Program will be determined at the Company’ s discretion, using available cash resources. During the yearyears
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, no shares of the Company’ s common stock were repurchased under the Repurchase
programrProgram . +5-13 . Stock- Based Compensation Restricted Stock AwardsThe Company awarded 849, 365, 311, 583,
and 181, 244 -and499,430-shares of RSAs, during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 -and2024-,
respectively, to officers, employees and non- employee directors under the Company”’ s Equity Incentive Plan. The holder of
RSAs is generally entitled at all times on and after the date of issuance of the restricted common shares to exercise the rights of a
stockholder of the Company, including the right to vote the shares and the right to receive dividends on the shares. The RSAs
vest over a one -, three -, er-four -, or five- year period from the date of the grant and are subject to the holder’ s continued
service through the applicable vesting dates and in accordance with the terms of the individual award agreements. The weighted
average value of awards granted per share during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-were $ 14.
79,8 17.50,and $ 21. 43 ;and-$38-66-, respectively, which were based on the market price per share of the Company’ s
common stock on the grant dates. The following table presents information about the Company’ s RSAs: For the sear-Year
ended-Ended December 31, (in thousands) Compensation cost $ 4, 880 $ 4, 437 $ 3, 469 $3;926-Dividends declared on
unvested RSAs 1, 166 Fair value of shares vested during the period 3, 969 3, 384 3, 209 3;296-As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
there was $ 5-11 . 6-2 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to the unvested restricted shares, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 2-3 . 4-3 years. The following table presents information about the Company’ s
restricted stock activity: For the year-Year ended-Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of
Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per
Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Unvested at beginning of period $ 18. 63 $ 20. 36 $
19. 62 $20--50-Granted 14.79 17. 50 21. 43 Vested (259) 18. 70 ¥ested-(193) 20. 33 (147) 19. 80 Forfeited ( 93) +64-- 16. 63
(23) 18.79 (10 ) 20. +5-Ferfeited23348-—79-(16)20-24 H1+9—40-Unvested at end of period 15. 51 18. 63 20. 36 4962
Performance- based Restricted Stock UnitsDuring the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-, the
Company issued target grants of 202, 308, 186, 481, and 124, 024 —a1=1d—1—32—1—89—perf0rmance- based restricted stock units (“
PRSUs ?) under the Company’ s Equity Incentive Plan to the officers of the Company, respectively. The awards are non- vested
restricted stock units where the vesting percentages and the ultimate number of units vesting will be measured 50 % based on the
relative total shareholder return (“ rTSR ) of the Company’ s common stock as compared to the rTSR of peer companies, as
identified in the grant agreements, over a three- year period, and 50 % based on the rTSR of the Company’ s common stock as
compared to the rTSR of the MSCI US REIT Index over a three year measurement period. Vesting percentages range from 0 %
to 200 %, with a target of 100 %. rTSR means the percentage appreciation in the fair market value of one share over the three



year measurement period beginning on the date of grant, assuming the reinvestment of dividends on the ex- dividend date. The
target number of units is based on achieving a rTSR equal to the 55th percentile of the peer companies and MSCI US REIT
Index. For PRSUs issued during the year ended December 31, 2024 that achieve a percentile rank of at least the 55th
percentile, and the absolute rTSR of the Company is negative for the performance period, the awards will be reduced by
25 %, not to result in a reduction less than target. Dividends accrue during the measurement period and will be paid on the
PRSUs ultimately earned at the end of the measurement period in either cash or common stock, at the direetion— discretion of
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The grant date fair value of the PRSUs was measured using a Monte
Carlo simulation model based on assumptions including share price volatility. The following table presents compensation cost
recognized on the Company’ s performance- based restricted stock #nit-units : For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands)
Compensation cost $ 2, 475 $ 1,922 §$ 1, 847 $87-As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there was $ 3. 8 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to the unvested PRSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2-1 . 6
7 years. The following table presents information about the Company’ s performance- based restricted stock unit activity: For
the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair
Value per Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Number of Shares Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value per Share Unvested at beginning of period $ 24. 90 $ 26. 27 $ 24. 40 —$——=Granted 15. 84 23. 78 27. 93
Vested (88) 24. 40 ¥ested——— — — — Forfeited ( 32) 23. 18 (68) 26. 48 (1) 27. 93 €2324—40-Unvested at end of period
20. 90 24. 90 26. 27 14 24—46-16-. Earnings per Share The following table summarizes the components used in the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share (“ EPS ”): For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Basic earnings: Net earnings attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. common shareholders $ 162,441 $ 155,478 $ 122, 115
$1062,426-1 ess: earnings allocated to unvested restricted shares (1, 166) ( 560) (419 )—(—394—) Net earnings used to compute basic
earnrngs per common share $ 161,275 $ 154,918 $ 121, 696 $3462;-632-Diluted earnrngs Net earnings used to compute basic
earnings per common share $ 161,275 $ 154, 918 $ 121, 696 $3025-032-Add: net earnings attributable to nen—eentretting
interests-OP Unit holders 7, 548 7, 834 7, 360 #3+02-Net earnings used to compute diluted earnings per common share $ 168,
823 $ 162, 752 $ 129, 056 $4891434-Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 188, 378 187, 101 170, 225
+53425-Less: weighted average unvested restricted shares (a) ( 924) (484) (385 3H368-) Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding used in basic earnings per common share 187, 454 186, 617 169, 840 +53;-657Add: effects of restricted
stock units (b) Add: effects of convertible membership-OP units-Units (c) 8, 787 9, 407 10, 265 +8;-F4H-Weighted average
number of common shares outstanding used in diluted earnings per common share 196, 619 196, 315 180, 201 +63;-976-Basic
and Diluted earnings per share $ 0. 86 $ 0. 83 $ 0. 72 $-0--67+(a) Represents the weighted average effects of 988, 555, 492, 046,
and 396, 383 and372,1456-unvested restricted shares of common stock as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-
respectively, which will be excluded from the computation of earnings per share until they vest. (b) Represents the weighted
average effects of shares of common stock to be issued as though the end of the period were the end of the performance period
(see Note +5-13 ). (c) Represents the weighted average effects of 8, 645, 793, 8, 927, 736, and 10, 204, 806 yand1+6;323;266
OP Units outstanding at December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and-202+;respectively. +7-15 . Income Taxes For federal income
tax purposes, distributions to stockholders are characterized as ordinary dividends, capital gain distributions, or return of capital
distributions. Return of capital distributions will reduce stockholders’ basis in their shares, but not below zero. The portion of
the distribution that exceeds the adjusted basis of the stock will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of property. The
following table shows the character of the distributions the Company paid on a percentage basis: For the Year Ended December
31, Character of Distributions Ordinary dividends % % % Capital gain distributions % % % Return of capital distributions % %
% % % % 4816 . Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures Cash paid for interest was $ 73. 7 million, $ 77. 1 million, and $ 72. 0
mitenand-$-573-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and2024-respectively. Cash (refunded)
paid for income taxes was $ (0. 5) million, $ 0. 3 million, and $ 0. 4 mithemand-$-0--6-million for the years ended December
31,2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and-2021-, respectively. The following are non- cash transactions and have been excluded from the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: « During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
converted 281, 943 OP Units valued at $ 4. 5 million to 281, 943 shares of common stock. During the year ended December
31, 2023, the Company converted 1, 277, 070 OP Units valued at § 21. 2 million to 1, 277, 070 shares of common stock. During
the year ended December 31,2022, the Company converted 118, 400 OP Units Valued at$1.9 mllhon to 118, 400 shares of
common stock. B e-ye d v e
ﬂﬂﬁten—te%—934—489—s+}&fes—eﬁeefnmefrstee1&(—8ee—}$ete+29— At December 31, 2024 2023 and 2022 —and—292—1— drvrdend
amounts declared and accrued but not yet paid amounted to $ 58. 3 million, $ 56. 9 million, and $ 54. 5 million, and
respectively. * During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company reclassified $ 45-184 . 9-7 million ;respeetively
from Property under development to Buildings and improvements upon the substantial completion of a development
property . « At December 31,2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2624, the Company adjusted the carrying value of Non- controlling
interests to reflect their share of the book value of the OP by $ 0. 2 million, $ 0. 5 million, and $ 6. 3 mithenand$322
million, respectively, with the reallocation recorded as an offset to Additional paid- in capital (see Note 2). 43-17 . Commitments
and Contingencies Litigation From time to time, the Company is a party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of
the Company’ s business. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, based on currently available
information, the Company does not believe that the final outcome of any of these matters will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. Property and Acquisition RelatedIn connection with
ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for eest-costs and damages related to
environmental matters. The Company is not aware of any non- compliance, liability, claim, or other environmental condition
that would have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , the Company has a-eommitment-commitments to fund a-five build- to- suit transaetterrtransactions with &




remaining ebligatienrobligations of $ H4-227 . 6-4 million expected to fund in multiple draws through Oetober-July 2624-2026
, using a combination of available cash on hand and Revolving Credit Facility borrowings. Rent is contractually scheduled to
commence at-when the earhier-ofeonstruetion-properties reach substantial completion and are made available orfor Oetober
2024-use by the tenant . The Company is a party to two separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of
two distinct UPREIT transactions and a third tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the Company’ s
internalization. The tax protection agreements require the Company to indemnify the beneficiaries in the event of a sale,
exchange, transfer, or other disposal of the contributed property, and in the case of the tax protection agreement entered into in
connection with the Company’ s internalization, the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would cause such beneficiaries
to recognize a gain that is protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. The Company is required to allocate an
amount of nonrecourse liabilities to each beneficiary that is at least equal to the minimum liability amount, as contained in the
agreements. The minimum liability amount and the associated allocation of nonrecourse liabilities are calculated in accordance
with applicable tax regulations, are completed at the OP level, and de-are not probable represent-GAAP-aceounting-.
Therefore, there is no impact to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Based on values as of December 31, 2023-2024 , taxable
sales of the applicable properties would trigger liability under the agreements of approximately $ 20. 4 million. Based on
information available, the Company does not believe that the events resulting in damages as detailed above have occurred or are
likely to occur in the foreseeable future. 89-In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various types of
commitments to purchase real estate properties. These commitments are generally subject to the Company’ s customary due
diligence process and, accordingly, a number of specific conditions must be met before the Company is obligated to purchase
the properties. 26-18 . Subsequent EventsOn January 42-15 , 2624-2025 , the Company paid distributions totaling § 56-57 . 8-2
million. On February +6-14 , 2624-2025 , the Board of Directors declared a quarterly distribution of $ 0. 285-29 per share on the
Company’ s common stock and OP Units for the first quarter of 2624-2025 , which will be payable on or before April 15, 2024
2025 to stockholders and unit holders of record as of March 28-31 , 2624-2025 . Subsequent to December 31, 2623-2024 | the
Company paid down $ 4+8-38 . 5-0 million, and borrowed $ 32-71 . 5-0 million on the Revolving Credit Facility, the proceeds of
which were used to fund investments and for other general corporate purposes . Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the
Company acquired approximately $ 10. 4 million of rental property, inclusive of approximately $ 0. 5 million of land to
be developed in connection with a $ 1. 7 million build- to- suit transaction expected to fund in multiple draws through
April 2025. (see Note 3) . Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries Schedule III — Real Estate Assets and Accumulated
Depreciation As of December 31, 2823-2024 (in thousands) Costs Capitalized Life on Initial Costs to Subsequent Gross Amount
at Which Carried at Which Company (a) to Acquisition Close of Period Depreciation Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated
Date of Date is ComputedProperty Type Encumbrance Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total (b)
Depreciation Construction Acquired (Years) Industrial Manufacturing $ — $ 434133 , 548-842 § 647694 , 754209 § — S +4
13 ,626-877 $ +3+133 , 548-842 5 661708 , 77086 $ 793-841 , 319-928 $ 92-110 , 248-374 1932- 26242024 201 1- 2623
2024 15- 39Distribution & Warehouse — 89-97 , 357573-035 591 , 664-582 4, 511 49-21 , 859-93-579 101 , 668-546 613, 161
714, 707 592- 92 , 923-686;-59+76-716 225-1929- 2021 2012- 2022-2024 15- 39Foo0d Processing — 49;322-529-- 52 , 669
983 553,324 — 51, 842925 52, 983 605, 49-249 658 , 322581232 68 , 329 5H-636,833-5+-899-1907- 2022 2012- 26222024
15-39Flex and R & D 42, 837 59, 44-441 189 . 032 206-53;-961+438;299-— 53-1 , 961438331 59 , 303192-441 190 , 264-363
24-249 , 183-804 40, 147 1973- 2018 2013- 2019 15- 39Cold Storage 18, 72516-283 28 , 616-1H8-325 295 . 474-511 — 16-28 ,
6161H8-325 295 | 51+6-129-579 323 | 126-26-904 25 , 638993 1933- 26472024 2017- 2023 7- 39Services — 5873+ 71 74-,
80 5873+ 71 #7-, 742-034 98, 769 169, 803 +36- 13 , 980 473-9,-564-1960- 2022 2643-2011 - 2623
2024 15- 39Untenanted — 1, 9487888 15 , 545940 — 1, 6487888 15 . 546-8-941 17 . 594-829 3, 336 1972- 2008 2017- 2018
15- 39Retail General Merchandise 15, 793 101, 614 380, 797 — 1, 4952473 101, 614 382, 270 483, 884 38, 232 1984- 2022
2016- 2024 15- 39Healtheare-Clinteal-39Casual Dining — 78, 973 269, 079 — 78, 973 269, 091 348, 064 54, 392 1972- 2014
2011- 2024 15- 39Quick Service Restaurants — 54, 701 235, 388 2, 705 54, 898 238, 093 292, 991 61, 042 1965- 2023 2009-
2024 15- 39Automotive — 32, 857676 118, 451 — 32, 676 118, 524 151, 200 27, 279 ;80216;-56633414296, 368323782
62,-8531576- 1909 - 2622-2021 26+6-2014 - 2622-2024 7- 39Healtheare-Serviees—17-995-H9,-986-(H45) 17850126818
138;-66814;-9271965-2026-2009-202215-39 Animal Health-Services — 15,943 111, 107 — (442, 912 15, 943 H6-114 ,

963—1—26—019 129, 996—1—7—962 20 63«4—767 1954 2017 2015- 2021 15-—39—Sufg1ea1—9—942—1—1—7—996—1-9—2-32—1—1—7—1-4-1—1—2—7—

%ﬁ%g%%%@%%%% 39Home Fumlihmgs —3,
62590, 644 — 3, 62591, 625 95,250 +6-19 , 826-457 1974- 2014 2017- 2018 15- 39chid-Care-39Healthcare Services — 411

s - 39Education — 14 , 2638622 35 ,
$0410-168 — 4 , 067622 35, 237 39, 859 4, 515 1996- 2022 2017 -2023 15— 390ther 396ffiee—- Office Corporate
Headquarters-— 18, 147 191, 380 — 21, 481 18, 147 212, 861 231, 008 51, 589 1975- 2012 2012- 2022 7 - 39Clinical /
Surgical ;-554-76;395- 28, 107 222—7%54—72—61—7—89—1—7—1—1—3—136 356728 — 8, 107 136, 943 145, 050 28, 204 1975-1970
%998—2018 2012 2022

%9U-nfeﬂa—n’fed—3—l—47—3—l—47—3—3—3§—15 39Acqu181t10ns in Process (c) —————— Property Under Development
— 17— 18 . 784 36077664 — +7— 18 , 366-77-784 18 , 784 664-94;964-— Total (d) $ 79-76 , +72-913 $ 766-774 ,

118 $ 4, 689-084 , 658 734-5-5;410-$128;-095-$765;-83+5 4, 247708 $ 122 , 829-632 $ 778, 826 $ 4, 983-207 , 666-290 $ 626
4, 597986, 116 $ 672, 478 (a) The initial cost to the Company represents the original purchase price of the property (see Note 5



3). (b) The aggregate cost of real estate owned as of December 31, 2623-2024 for U. S. federal income tax purposes was
approximately $ 5. 1 billion. (c) Acquisition costs in progress represents costs incurred during the year ended December 31,
2023-2024 related to asset acquisitions expected to close during the year ended-ending December 31, 2624-2025 . (d) This
schedule excludes properties subject to leases that are classified as direct financing leases, sales- type leases, as well as the value
of right- of- use assets recorded on certain of the properties where the Company is lessee under a ground lease. 9+For the Year
Ended December 31, Change in Total Real Estate Assets Balance, beginning of period $ 4, 983, 660 $ 5, 008, 230 $ 4, 205, 191
$3;704-488-Acquisitions, developments, and improvements 392, 793 167, 089 929, 972 633;-646-Dispositions ( 358, 944) (
154,907) (118, 028) €0895F6H-Impairment ( 31,393) (36, 752) (8, 905 H3;482) Balance, end of period $ 4, 986, 116 $ 4, 983,
660 $ 5, 008, 230 $4;205494+For the Year Ended December 31, Change in Accumulated Depreciation Balance, beginning of
period $ 626,597 $ 533, 965 $ 430, 141 $349,977-Acquisitions and building improvements 122, 949 122, 778 115, 892 186;
8F8-Dispositions ( 70, 114) (24, 547) (8, 165) (495543 Impairment ( 6, 954) (5, 599) (3, 903) H5+#HH-Balance, end of period $
672,478 $ 626, 597 $ 533, 965 $430,+4Htem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure. None. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) of the Exchange Act), that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. For the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a
reasonable assurance level. Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules
13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide
absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial statements would be prevented or detected. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2623-2024 . The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 has been audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report in this Annual Report on
Form 10- K. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There have been no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2623-2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting We have
audited the internal control over financial reporting of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “ Company ) as of
December 31, 2023-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , of the Company and our report dated February 22-20 , 2624-2025 , expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements. The Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management' s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting A company’ s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s



assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Rochester, New YorkFebruary 22-20 , 2624-2025 Item 9B. Other
Information. During the three months ended December 31, 2623-2024 , no director or officer of the Company adopted or
terminated a “ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or “ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement, ” as each term is defined in Item
408 (a) of Regulation S- K. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections. Part III. Item 10.
Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance. The information required by this Item will be included in the
definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’ s 2623-2024 fiscal year covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Item 11. Executive Compensation. The information required by this Item will be included in
the definitive proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement
with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’ s 2623-2024 fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. Item 13.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence. Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
PART IV. Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 8. “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ”
of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. See Item 8. “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” of this Annual Report on
Form 10- K. All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the
financial statements or the notes thereto. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary. Index to Exhibits. Exhibit No. Description 3. 1 Articles
of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed
April 24, 2017 and incorporated by reference) 3. 2 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by
reference) 3. 3 Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 2 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 3. 4 Articles of Amendment
to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 3. 5 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Corporation’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed May 8, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 3.
6 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K filed es-March 25, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 4. 1 Description of the Company’ s Securities (filed as
Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 23, 2022, and incorporated by reference) 4. 2
Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC and U. S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of the Guarantee (filed as Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company”’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed September 15, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 4. 3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC and U. S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, including the form of the Notes (filed as Exhibit 4. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed September 15, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 1 Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, dated September 21, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed September 21, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 2 Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Policy, effective as
of May 5, 2022 (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 of the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 23, 2023, and
incorporated by reference) 10. 3 Form of Indemnification Agreement, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and each of its
officers and directors (filed as Exhibit 10. 25 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 4 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, for 4. 84 % Guaranteed Senior Notes
due April 18,2027, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party thereto
(filed as Exhibit 10. 23 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017 and incorporated by
reference) 10. 5 Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed June 29, 2017, and incorporated by
reference) 10. 6 Consent and Agreement Regarding Commitment Increases and Additional Term Loans, dated as of November
20, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company,
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed November 27, 2017, and incorporated by reference) 10. 7 First Amendment Regarding Commitment Increases, dated
February 28, 2019, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5,
2019, and incorporated by reference) 10. 8 Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July
1, 2019, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company,
and other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed July 3, 2019, and
incorporated by reference) 10. 9 Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 21,
2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, and
other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21, 2020, and
incorporated by reference) 10. 10 Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 31,
2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, and
other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May 4, 2022 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 11 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated July 2, 2018, for 5. 09 % Series B Guaranteed Senior



Notes due July 2, 2028 and 5. 19 % Series C Guaranteed Senior Notes due July 2, 2030, by and among Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed July 6, 2018, and incorporated by reference) 10. 12 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 27, 2019, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto
(“ Capital One Term Loan Agreement ) (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5,
2019, and incorporated by reference) 10. 13 Guaranty, dated February 27, 2019, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., in favor of
Capital One, National Association (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5, 2019,
and incorporated by reference) 10. 14 First Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated July 1, 2019, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed
as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed November 12, 2019, and incorporated by reference)
10. 15 Second Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21, 2020, and incorporated by reference) 10. 16 Third Amendment to
Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease,
Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed March 18, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 17 Fourth Amendment to Capital One Term Loan
Agreement, dated March 31, 2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National
Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May 4,
2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 18 Fifth Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated June 8, 2023, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Capital One, National Association and the lenders party thereto
(filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed August 3, 2023 and incorporated by reference)
10. 19 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., and the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 20 Guaranty, dated February 7, 2020, by Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 21 Amendment No. 1 to Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020,
by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N. A., as administrative agent,
and the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21,
2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 22 Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2022,
by and among, Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., as administrative agent,
and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 3, 2022 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 23 Guaranty, dated January 28, 2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N. A (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 3, 2022 and incorporated by
reference) 10. 24 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Regions Bank, as administrative agent, and the lender parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 25 Guaranty, dated August 1,
2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of Regions Bank (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form
8- K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 26 Tax Protection Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 27 Registration Rights
Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and the persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to
the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 28 Amended and
Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and John D. Moragne (filed as Exhibit 10. 10 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 29 First Amendment to Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement, dated January 10, 2023 and effective February 28, 2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.,
Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and John D. Moragne (filed as Exhibit 10. 30 to the Company’ s
Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May 4, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 30 Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone
Employee Sub, LLC, and Ryan M. Albano (filed as Exhibit 10. 8 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 31 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement,
dated January 10, 2023 and effective February 28, 2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and Ryan M. Albano (filed as Exhibit 10. 32 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on
Form 10- Q filed May 4, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 32 Severance Protection Agreement, dated January 10, 2023
and effective February 28, 2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee
Sub, LLC, and Kevin M. Fennell (filed as Exhibit 10. 33 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May 4, 2023
and incorporated by reference) 10. 33 Chief Executive Officer Transition Agreement, dated January 10, 2023, by and among
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and Christopher J. Czarnecki (filed
as Exhibit 10. 34 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed ea-May 4, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 10.
34 Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan, dated August 4, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 4, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 35 Form of Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’
s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 4, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 36 Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.



2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2021 Form) (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed ea-May 5, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 37 #Form of Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2022 Form) (filed as
Exhibit 10. 37 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 22, 2024 and incorporated by reference)
10. 38 £Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
(2024 Form ) (filed as Exhibit 10. 38 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 22, 2024 and
incorporated by reference ) 10. 39 Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Change in Control Severance Protection Policy (filed as Exhibit
10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed August 4, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 40 Equity
Distribution Agreement, dated as of August 23, 2021, among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LL.C
and the managers, forward sellers and forward purchasers party thereto (filed as Exhibit 1. 1 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 24, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 41 Amendment No. 1 to the
Equity Distribution Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2024, among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LL.C
and the managers, forward sellers and forward purchasers party thereto (filed as Exhibit 1. 7 to the Corporation’ s
Registration Statement on Form S- 3 (333- 279115) filed May 3, 2024 and incorporated by reference) 19. 1 * Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc. Insider Trading Policy 21. 1 * List of Subsidiaries of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 23. 1 * Consent of Deloitte &
Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 31. 1 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 31. 2 * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 32. 1
* 7 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 32. 2 * + Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act 0f 2002 97. 1 £Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Compensation Clawback Policy
(filed as Exhibit 97. 1 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 22, 2024 and incorporated by
reference) 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in Interactive Data File because
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL Document 101. SCH101. CAL101. DEF101. LAB101. PRE104 Inline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema DocumentInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase DocumentInline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase DocumentInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase DocumentInline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase DocumentCover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline
XBRL document) * Filed herewith. Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 1 In accordance with Item 601
(b) (32) of Regulation S- K, this Exhibit is not deemed “ filed > for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise
subject to the liabilities of that section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. BROADSTONE NET LEASE, INC.
Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / John D. Moragne John D. Moragne Chief Executive OfficerPursuant to the requirements
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated. Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / Laurie A. Hawkes Laurie A. Hawkes Chairman
of the Board of Directors Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / John D. Moragne John D. Moragne Director, Chief Executive
Officer Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / Denise Brooks- Williams Denise Brooks- Williams Director Date: February
20, 2025 / s / Michael A. Coke Michael A. Coke Director Date: February 22-20 , 2624-202S / s / Jessica Duran Jessica Duran
Director Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / Laura Felice Laura Felice Director Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 /s /
Richard Imperiale Richard Imperiale Director Date: February 20, 2025 / s / David M. Jacobstein David M. Jacobstein
Director Date: February 22-20 , 2024-2025 / s / Shekar Narasimhan Shekar Narasimhan Director Date: February 22-20 , 2024
2025 / s / Joseph Saffire Joseph Saffire Denise-Brooks—WilliamsDenise Brooks—Wiliams-Director Date: February 22-20 ,
2024-2025 / s / James H. Watters James H. Watters Director Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / Kevin M. Fennell Kevin M.
Fennell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s
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Jﬁy—&ﬂd—&ﬂ‘kﬁﬂg—Bl()d( stone Net Lease, lm and / or 1ts subsndlarles (thu <" Company =" )&nd—or certaln the-other companies.
This Insider Trading Policy (the" Policy'") furnishes guidelines concerning information that may be' material" and"
nonpublic" and your legal obligations and obligations to the Company relating to the use or disclosure of material
nonpublic information regarding the Company or such other companies. The Company has adopted this Policy to
promote compliance with applicable securities laws, known as" insider trading' laws, which prohibit persons who
receive or become aware of material nonpublic information about the Company (or certain other companies) from
trading in the Company' s (or such other company' s) securities or providing material nonpublic information to others
who may trade in the Company' s (or such other company' s) securities on the basis of that information. Insider trading
laws can impose legal liability not only on individuatindividuals who fail to comply with these laws, but also to the
Company as the employer of individuals who violate these laws. Accordingly, the Company has adopted this Policy not
only to guide the individuals associated with the Company who are covered by the Policy, but also to protect the
Company from legal liability and promote its business interest in maintaining an impeccable reputation for integrity. 2.
Effectiveness of this Policy This Policy is effective as of the date sct forth en-at the signature-top of this page to-that-eertain
Neottee-and supersedes any previous insider trading policy of Grant{the “Netieeto-which-Company. In the event of any
conflict or inconsistency between this Award-Agreement-Policy and any other materials previously distributed by the
Company, this Policy shall govern. In addition, each Covered Person (as defined below) is attached-responsible for
complying with applicable law as then in force and effect . Accordingly, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency
between this Policy and applicable law, or any omission from this Policy, Covered Persons are not excused from
complying with applicable law. 3. Compliance Officer for this Policy The terms-and-eonditions-ef Company' s General
Counsel is the compliance officer (Restrieted-StoekUnits-granted-hereby;to-the extentnoteontroHed-by-the-terms-and
eonditions-—eontained-rthePlan-' Compliance Officer') for purposes of this Policy. The Compliance Officer . or the
Board of Directors of the Company, may designate additional officers of the Company to serve as Compliance Officer
for purposes of this Policy from 1Insider Trading Policy v 4. 0 time to time. Any questions concerning this Policy should
be directed to, and all interpretations of this Policy shall be made by, a duly designated Compliance Officer. 4. Covered
Persons This Policy is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, whether located in or outside of
the United States, as set-forth-irwell as members of the-their Notice-respective households (family members, additional
residents, or otherwise), partnerships in which any such person is a general partner, trusts of which any such person is a
trustee, estates of which any such person is and- an thisAward-Agreement-administrator or executor and other legal
entities that any such person controls (the" Covered Persons') . Capitalized-terms-used-butnot-defined-hereirrshal-The
Compliance Officer may also determine from tlme to time that other persons who may have access to materlal nonpubllc
1nf0rmat10n due to fhe—thelr act1v1t1es Feanig ]

ASSHH h A shall be determined
sub]ect to thls Pollcy Any persons SO 1dent1ﬁed by th -Be&rd—rn—rts—geed—fat&rd-rs&eﬁe&as—Compllance Officer shall also
be'" Covered Persons' for purposes of the-date-on-whieh-this Policy and shall be promptly notified of such Change-in
Ceontrot-status by the Compliance Officer. 5. Policy If a Covered Person is in possession eonsummated-and-the-portion-of
material nonpublic information relating to the Company, Restrieted-Stoek-Units-that would-have-vested-pursaantto-person
may not, directly or indirectly, buy, sell or engage in the-other transactions in securities Sehedulet+based-ensuehlevetof
achievement-(steh-amount-the “~ClcRestrieted-StoekUnits)-shallremain-Company (to be broadly construed to include
equity, debt and convertible securities of the Company, and derivatives (whether or not issucd by ;-eutstanding-and
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Securities') 8 below 5S¢y, or engage, directly or indirectly, in any the-other Grantee>action
to disclose to others (" tipping") or benefit from or take advantage of that information (for example, recommending
transactions in Company Securities). This Policy also applies to material nonpublic information relating to any other
company, including the Company' s customers, suppliers, counter parties or other business relations, obtained in the
course of the Covered Person' s employment by, service to or other relationship with the Company. Additional
restrictions on buying, selling or engaging in other transactions in Company Securities apply to directors, executive
officers and Section 16 Officers (as defined below) of the Company, as described in Section 9 below. 6. Definitions and
Explanations A. When Information is' Material" In order to determine whether information is material, it must be
evaluated in the context of all facts and circumstances at play at the time. Information is considered'" material" if:  a
reasonable investor would consider the information important in making a decision to buy, sell or hold Company
Securities;  release of the information could produce a qualitative change to the package of information disclosed to the
public by the Company; or  public disclosure of the information would be likely to have a significant effect on the
market price of Company Securities. Material information can be positive or negative and can relate to virtually any
aspect of the Company' s business. Information that is or may be material includes (but is limited having-TFerminated
prior-to ) the following, depending upon all facts and circumstances at the time of assessment: 2 Insider Trading Policy v
4. 0 » unpublished financial or operating results, positive or negative; * projections or changes in projections of financial
or operating results, upwards or downwards; * a pending or proposed corporate transaction involving the Company,
such as merger, acquisition or disposition; * a pending or proposed public offering or private placement of securities of
the Company or the-other expiratten-financing for the Company outside of the ordinary course of business; ¢ a pending or
proposed repurchase or redemption of Company Securities; * the potential default of a significant tenant; * changes in
senior management; * execution of a business contract that is important to the Company financially, strategically or
otherwise; * significant regulatory approvals or challenges; * pending or threatened litigation of potential material
significance to the Company, or settlement or the-other eriginal-Performanee-resolution of ongoing material litigation; ¢ a
change in the Company' s independent registered public accounting firm; ° the need to restate financial statements; *
impending bankruptcy or liquidity problems; and ¢ other events or developments that the Company is required to
disclose in a Form 8- K to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (" SEC"). B. When Information is"
Nonpublic" Information is'" nonpublic" if it has not been disclosed to the public. In order for information to be
considered public, it must be widely disseminated; for example, through: * newswire releases; * widely available
broadcasts on television and radio; * publication in widely available newspapers or news websites; or ¢ disclosure in the
Company' s periodic reports filed with the SEC. Publication on the Company' s website can also contribute to wide
dissemination of information (and may itself constitute wide dissemination depending upon the extent to which the
Company has established its website as a vehicle for timely release of important Company information in accordance
with SEC guidance). After a wide dissemination of material information, a reasonable Pertod-period of time must elapse
for the investing public to process the information. As a rule of thumb, two full trading days following wide
dissemination is regarded as a reasonable waiting period before such information is deemed to be" public" and no
longer" nonpublic" for purposes of this Policy. The Compliance Officer may determine that a different waiting period is
appropriate with respect to particular Company disclosures based upon prevailing facts and circumstances

Covered Persons should consult the 3 Insider Trading Policy v 4. 0 Compliance Officer when
contemplating transactions in Company Securities shortly after public disclosures by the Company. C. Be Mindful of
How a Transaction May be Viewed in Hindsight If a particular transaction (or group of transactions) is challenged by
enforcement authorities, it will be viewed with the benefit of hindsight. As a result, before engaging in transaction, a
Covered Person should give careful thought to whether any facts and circumstances exist that could raise suspicions
about the propriety of the proposed transaction after the fact; for example, as to whether information that the Covered
Person has become aware of may be construed as' material" and'" nonpublic." Again, in the event of any doubt,
Covered Persons should consult the Compliance Officer when contemplating transactions in Company Securities. 7.
Guidelines D. Non- disclosure of Material Nonpublic Information Material nonpublic information must not be disclosed
to anyone unless it has first been widely disseminated to the public as described above, except to other Company
personnel who have a need to know the information and are bound by a confidentiality obligation to the Company and
covered by this Policy, or third party agents of the Company (such as accountants, investment bankers or outside legal
counsel) whose portiorr-positions efrequire the-them Restrieted-Stoel-to have access to such information, but who are
bound by a professional obligation to protect Units—- its confidentiality. E. Prohibited Trading in Company Securities
No person may place a purchase or sell order or recommend that another person place a purchase or sell order in
Company Securities when he or she is aware of material nonpublic information concerning the Company that has not
been disclosed to the public. As noted above, for purposes of the prohibition expressed in this Policy," Company
Securities' should be construed broadly, and the terms' purchase" or" sell" should also be interpreted broadly to
include transactions involving Company Securities such as elections or changes in elections under Company Securities
purchase plans, loans, pledges, gifts, charitable donations and other contributions of Company Securities. F." Tipping"
Information to Others Covered Persons may be liable for communicating or tipping material nonpublic information to
any third party (" tippee"). Further, insider trading violations are not limited to trading or tipping by Covered Persons.
Persons Covered Persons also can the-CIcRestrieted-StoekUnits(if-any)shalt-be deemed-liable for insider
trading, including tippees who trade on material nonpublic information tipped to have-them and individuals who trade
on material nonpublic information which has forfetted-misappropriated. Tippees inherit a Covered Person' s duties
under this Policy and applicable insider trading laws and may be held liable for trading on material nonpublic



information illegally tipped to them by the-Grantee-without-eonsiderattonreffeetive-a Covered Person. Similarly, just as
Covered Persons are liable for the insider trading of the-their date-tippees, so are tippees who communicate the
information to others who trade. In other words, a tippee' s liability for insider trading is no different from that of a
Covered Person. Tippees can obtain material nonpublic information in deliberate ways, such as the direct receipt of a
tip, or in less deliberate or obvious ways, such as conversing at social, business or other gatherings. G. Prohibitions
Involving Securities of Other Companies 4 Insider Trading Policy v 4. 0 As described in paragraphs A, B and C above,
no Covered Person may disclose material nonpublic information, engage in prohibited trading or" tip" information to
others to the extent the Covered Person becomes aware of material nonpubhc mformatlon about another company in the
course of hlS or her busmess activities on behalf of whieh : 0 v

Covered Person has materlal nonpubhc 1nformatlon about that company or has materlal nonpubhc 1nformatlon that
could affect the share price of that company. H. Blackout Periods / Trading Windows Covered Persons are prohibited
from trading in Company Securities during the following blackout periods: ( a Ferminatiorr) the Company' s regularly
scheduled quarterly blackout period commencing at the close of the market on the tenth business day prior to the end of
each fiscal quarter and ending two business days after the Company' s" earnings release" is issued to the public relating
to the Company' s financial information for the concluded fiscal quarter and (b) special blackout periods instituted by
the Compliance Officer on a discretionary basis, upon notice to Covered Persons, when news of pending material events

or other materlal nonpubhc 1nformatlon regardlng the C ompam that is anticipated to for-Cause-orby-the-Grantee-without
A 5 be disclosed has ferfeited-and-terminate-immediately

tr&ns-ferred—eretheﬁﬂse-drwesed-dlsclosed
pre- clearance as provided in exeeutton— Sectlon 9 B eHew—ef—&ny—kmd-

distribution-below, Covered Persons are generally permitted to trade when no blackout period is in effect ; provided,

however, that even during any-— an transferredRestrieted-StoekUnits-will-be-subjeet-te-al-open trading window, a Covered

Person who is aware of material nonpublic information may not trade in Company Securities until the same-terms-and
eeﬂd-rt-teﬁs-lnformatlon has been made pubhcly avallable as descrlbed above, provided-inthePlan-and-this- Award

or is no longer




materlal AW

fesﬁﬁe%theﬂfesfmg—&rrd—set&efﬁefﬁ—e%&w%eﬁﬂeted—&oewmts—T he Company beheves that purchases of hedgmg

instruments that protect against downward changes in Company' s stock price can result in the purchaser no longer
having the same objectives as the Company' s other stockholders because he or she is no longer subject to the full risks of
stock ownership. Accordingly, no employee of the Company or member of the Company' s Board of Directors may
withhold-from-engage in any ameountpayable-hedging transaction. Prohibited hedging transactions include, but are not
limited to , collars, forward sale contracts, trading in publicly- traded options, puts, calls or the-other derivative
instruments related Grantee-an-amountsuffietent-to Company stock eeveranyFederalstate-or loeal-withholdingtaxes-whieh
debt. J. No Margin Accounts, Pledging or Short Sales of Company Securities No employee of the Company or member
of the Company s Board of Dlrectors may hold Company Securltles ina margm account, pledge Company Securltles

etheﬁaﬁrt-h-he-}d-rﬂg—reqtufemeﬂfs-ds collateral for a loan or" short" sell Company Securltles festl-l-t—e%t-he—'v‘es-t-mg—&ﬂé
sett-}eﬂ‘teﬁt—e-ﬁt-he—Restﬂeted—StoeleUﬁrts— The Board Gemp&nysh&H—have—the—ﬂght—te—reqt&re—&te—payﬁ&eﬂt—« D1rect0rs aﬂ-y—s'cteh

c1rcumstances grant an exceptlon to th1s prohlbltlon, prov1ded however, that Sectlon 16 Officers and directors of the
Company are prohibited from short- selling under Section 16 (c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the" Exchange Act"). 8. Exceptions K. No Sale / No Purchase Transactions This Policy does not restrict purchases and
sales of mutual funds or exchange- traded funds that invest in Company Securities in addition to securities of other
companies. L. Transactions under Company Equity Plans This Policy does not restrict a Covered Person' s exercise of a
stock option granted under a Company equity plan for cash, but does apply to any sale of Company Securities received
upon exercise of an 5 Insider Trading Policy v 4. 0 option in the open market, regardless of whether the sale is to pay the
exercise price or for tax withholding. Similarly, this Policy does not restrict a Covered Person' s surrender of Company



Securities to the Company or the retention and withholding from delivery to the Covered Person of shares by the
Company (i. e., a so- called" net settlement') upon vesting of restricted stock in satisfaction of tax withholding
obligations in a manner permitted by the applicable equity award agreement or the Company equity plan pursuant to
which the restricted stock was granted. 9. Additional Provisions Applicable to Special Insiders M. Special Insiders This
Section 9 sets forth additional provisions applicable to the following individuals associated with the Company (referring
to the publicly- traded entity, not its subsidiaries) ("' Special Insiders'): * each member of the Board of Directors of the
Company; * each" executive officer" of the Company, as described in Rule 3b- 7 under the Exchange Act; * each
individual designated as an" officer" of the Company for purposes of Section 16 under the Exchange Act (a" Section 16
Officer'"); and ¢ each other individual designated as a Special Insider by the Compliance Officer from time to time. N.
Pre- Clearance Special Insiders (including members of their respective households (family members or otherwise)) must
obtain prior clearance from the Compliance Officer before buying, selling or engaging in any transaction in Company
Securities (except as described in Section 9. D below), including any exercise of stock options. The Compliance Officer
will evaluate each proposed transaction to determine if it raises insider trading concerns or other concerns under the
federal or state securities laws and regulations. Any advice will relate solely to legal considerations and not the merits of
the investment decision. Clearance of a transaction will be valid only for a 48- hour period. If the transaction order is not
placed within that 48- hour period, the Special Insider must again obtain prior clearance of the transaction from the
Compliance Officer. O. Trading Windows for Section 16 Officers Notwithstanding Section 7. E. of this Policy, Section 16
Officers (mcludmg members of the1r respectlve households (famlly members or otherw1se)) may only trade durlng a-l-lew

U-ﬁtts—byhee)—haﬁﬁg—v&&&rheld—aper&eﬂ—e-ﬁ&re—Sh&res—theﬂ— the tssuab-le—followmg tradlng windows: (a) during the ﬁrst
quarter of each fiscal year, the Company' s regularly scheduled open trading window; and (b) during each of the second,
third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year, the first ten (10) trading days of the Company' s regularly scheduled open
trading window (in such quarters, Section 16 Officers will no longer be permitted to him-trade in Company Securities
beginning at 4pm Eastern Time on the tenth (10th) trading day of an open trading window). Subject to pre- clearance as
provided in Section 9. B, above, Section 16 Officers are generally permitted to trade during the windows discussed
above; provided, however, that even during an open trading window, a Section 16 Officer who is aware of material
nonpublic information may not trade in Company Securities until the information has been made publicly available as
described above, or heris no longer materlal Addltlonal Covered Persons may be sub]ect to this section upon settlement
ofthe determination of Restrie S hath b d-by-the Grantee-Compliance
Officer. 6 Insider Trading Pohcy v4.0 P Short- Swmg Tradmg Specnal Ins1ders who purchase Company Securities may

not sell any Company Securltles of the same class 101 at least six (6)—1110111 s after fer—sueh—lesseepeﬂed-as—may—be—pefmrtted

- the purchase g
herete— Note that 9-

in eféeﬁaddltlon to eempl-y—wrt-h—seeurrt—res—la—ws—eiuw‘rt-}rllux Pohcy Award—ﬁrgreeﬁrerﬁ—er&rrteﬁrereby—agrees—net—te-effee sel-l

s'rmi-la%ﬁ-l-rng—undu state—lﬁ'—eﬁhe—laws-Sectlon 16 (b) of an-y—et-heﬁ the eeuﬂty-)—eiete-&meﬂd—eﬁu-pplemeﬁt—an-yhsueh—ﬁhﬂg—er
viola ittes-Exchange Act of4934-, as
-or-any "' short- sw1ng proﬁts" realized by a Section 16 Officer or

“ompany from fesewes—the—ﬂg-ht—te
Netw-ft—hstaﬂd-'mg—&nyt-hmg——— matchmg te—the—eefﬁf&ﬁy%reretﬂ—rrrﬂae—eyefﬁ—&ra&ﬁ—the—&arﬁee—ts—" purchase and sale or"

matchmg" sale and purchase of Company Securltles occurrmg w1th1n a 51x- month perlod would be \ub]ul to

O loes not apply eeeur-during-an
epeﬁ—wrﬂdew—peﬂed—apphe&b-le—lo compensatory equlty awards granted by the Company to Gf&ntee—e%en—a—elay—en—w%eh
the—Gr&ntee—rs—lts ofﬁcers and dlrectors Q.1 s 3




[1om Seeﬁen—499A—e-ﬁthe—ln+efnal—Reveﬁue—€ede—ef—}986-thls Pohcy if made under a properly pre- established and
malntalned written tradlng plan known as ameﬂeled—ea" Rule 10b5 1 plan " If the Rule 10b5- 1 plan meets iGeele’—)

499A—0[ th Geele—requlrements or-for such a plan and ifnote
shal+eeﬂsﬁtute—aﬁy—fepfeseﬁtaﬁeﬂ—eﬁ#aﬁ&nty—byl he purchases or sales of ( ompam fegafd-rng—eefﬁph&nee—Securltles are

Plan-plan , the trades will shah-g § Watver-Watver-by-any-party-of any-breach-of this-Award-Agreement-orfat
exefeise-any—ﬁght—hefettnéer—shal-l-m)l be deemed to have been made" on the bas1s of" materlal nonpubhc 1nf0rmat10n, even
if the Special Insider who established the plan is actually aware of material nonpublic information at the time of
execution of the transactions provided for by the plan. A properly designed Rule 10bS- 1 plan must meet the following
requirements: * The plan was established when the Special Insider was unaware of material nonpublic information
concerning the Company and not during a blackout period; * The plan specifies the number (or dollar value) of
Company Securities to be a-watver-ofany-purchased or sold, ether—- the breach-price (which may be a fixed price, market
price or minimum / maximum price) at which the Company Securities are to be traded, and the date of the trade, or
provides a written formula or algorithm erfor determining the timing, amount and price of the trade (or the plan
provides a third party such as a designated broker the exclusive right whether-or-to determine the timing, amount and
price of the trade); « The plan does not efpermit the Special Insider same-or-a-similarnatare—The-fattare-ofany party-to-take
aetiorrby-reasonof sueh-breach-or-to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to effect purchases or
sales; provided, however, that if a third party ( such rightshalt-as a broker) is designated under the terms of the plan to
determlne the tlmlng, amount and prlce of trades, the thlrd party must not have been éepm‘e—t-he—paﬁyhe%t-he—ﬂght—te—take




trading decisions; and * The plan must be entered into in good faith and not as part of a scheme to evade insider tradmg
prohlbltlons. Any new Rule 10b5- 1 plan, or amendment or defeﬁﬂtnaﬁeﬁs»—— termlnatlon of performanee-achievement);
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Vb Bt II ive-Plan} 207 High Point-Drive-. Inc. Stite300-Vietor—NY—456 EI l c
he-AvwardAgreementthe-numb s-stibj hisAvward-that-will-be-vested-and its subsidiaries earned,+ftheserviee
3 - <FSR2efthe " Company " relative-to-the
%Sl%e-ﬁt-l&e—lleef@fettp—éas—deﬁned-be}ew—) I understand eveikt-he—Peffomaﬂee—Peﬂed—and agree to comply applyinga
tod with payent-sehedute-the
pollcles and procedures sct forth in betew—(b)-The-numbe S 3 e-deteriin ased-otr-the appleation-of
Insider Trading Policy. I understand and agree that my failure to comply w1th the Insider Tradlng Policy in all respects
may constitute a basis for the termination for elauses-—- cause (H-and-(tH-below-of my employment by or other service
relatlonshlp w1th the Company, or other approprlate dlsclpllnary action. Slgnature Name (—ﬂ-Geﬂapany—peffefm&nee

da-te—Date In51der Tradlng Pollcy Certlficatlon In51der Tradlng Pollcy v4.0 Peffeﬂﬁaﬂee—Peer—Gfetrp—Exhlblt 21
1Subsidiary State of Incorporation or Formation99 Garnsey Road Associates II, LLC NYAGNL Avionics Abbotsford Nominee
ULC CanadaBNL PW, LLC NYBNL TB, LLC NYBrick Holdings I, Inc. DEBrick Holdings II, Inc. DEBroadstone AAP East,
LLC NYBroadstone AAP Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ABCS Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone AC Wisconsin, LLC
NYBroadstone ACW Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone ADB Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone ADTB Rochester, LLC DEBroadstone
AHF Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ALH Texas, LLC NYBroadstone AMG Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone APLB BrunsWIck,
LLC NYBroadstone APLB Jacksonville, LLC NYBroadstone APLB Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone APLB Utah LLC
NYBroadstone APLB Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone APM Florida, LLC NYBroadstone AQG Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone
AS Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ASH Arkansas, LLC NYBroadstone ATI Massachusetts, LLC DEBroadstone August Family
Upreit OH PA, LLC NYBroadstone AVF Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone AVF Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone BB Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone BCI Iowa, LLC NYBroadstone BCI PA, LLC NYBroadstone BEC Texas, LLC NYBroadstone BEF Portfolio,
LLC NYBroadstone BER East, LLC NYBroadstone BFC Maryland LLC NYBroadstone BH Alabama, LL.C NYBroadstone BI
South, LLC NYBroadstone BJWC Massachusetts, LLC NYBroadstone BK Emporia, LLC NYBroadstone BNR Arizona, LLC
NYBroadstone BP Kansas, LLC NYBroadstone BPC Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone BPC Pittsburgh, LLC NYBroadstone BPS
Montana, LLC NYBroadstone BT South, LLC NYBroadstone BW Appalachia, LLC NYBroadstone BW Arkansas, LLC
NYBroadstone BW Wings South, LLC NYBroadstone CA Canada, LLC DEBroadstone CA Holdings, LLC DEBroadstone
Cable, LLC NYBroadstone Camping Texas, LLC NYBroadstone CC Austin, LLC NYBroadstone CC New Orleans, LLC
NYBroadstone CC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone CCP Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone CF Georgia, LLC NYBroadstone CG
Georgia, LLC NYBroadstone CG Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone CHR Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CI West, LLC
NYBroadstone CLE Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CM Florida, LLC NYBroadstone CMH Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CMM
Colorado, LLC NYBroadstone CPN North Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone CPS Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone CQ Illinois, LLC
NYBroadstone CSB Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone Cvp Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone CW Nevada, LLC NYBroadstone
CWP Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone DF Georgia, LLC NYBroadstone DG Northeast, LLC NYBroadstone DG South, LLC
NYBroadstone DG West, LLC NYBroadstone DHCP VA AL, LLC NYBroadstone DI Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone DMC
Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone DQ Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone EA Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone Ea Pennsylvania, LLC
NYBroadstone EC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone EH Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone EHA Florida, LLC NYBroadstone
Employee Sub, LLC NYBroadstone EO Birmingham I, LLC NYBroadstone EO Birmingham II, LLC NYBroadstone EO North



Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone ETI Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Evh Vermont, LLC NYBroadstone EWD Illinois, LLC
NYBroadstone FC Portage, LLC NYBroadstone FD Portfolio I, LLC NYBroadstone FD Portfolio II, LLC NYBroadstone FD
West Columbia, LLC NYBroadstone FDDT, LLC NYBroadstone FDT Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone FHS Texas, LLC
NYBroadstone Filter, LLC NYBroadstone FIT Florida, LLC NYBroadstone FKC Louisiana, LLC NYBroadstone FKC
Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone FMAS Mississippi, LLC NYBroadstone FR Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone FSLY Maryland,
LLC NYBroadstone GCSC Florida, LLC NYBroadstone GDMS Massachusetts, LLC NYBroadstone GHS South Carolina, LLC
NYBroadstone GLG Missouri, LLC NYBroadstone HBC Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone HC California, LLC NYBroadstone
HFO Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone HHH Texas, LLC NYBroadstone HHP Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone HI Illinois,
LLC NYBroadstone HLC Midwest, LLC NYBroadstone HLM Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone HMC Washington, LLC
NYBroadstone Home N¢, LLC NYBroadstone Home Texas, LLC NYBroadstone ICW Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone IKGTX,
LLC NYBroadstone IPI Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone IS Houston, LLC NYBroadstone IT Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ITI
Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone IUH Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone IVRO CA, LLC NYBroadstone JAX Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone JBL California, LLC NYBroadstone JFR Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone J1 Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone JLC
Missouri, LLC NYBroadstone JRA Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone JTR Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone KBC Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone KFC Chicago, LLC NYBroadstone Kinston, LLC NYBroadstone KKD Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Kkmc
Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone KNG Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone Kp Alabama, LLC NYBroadstone LCA Tampa, LLC
NYBroadstone LE Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone LGC Northeast, LLC NYBroadstone Liverpool Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone LW PA, LLC NYBroadstone Manatee Fl, LLC NYBroadstone MB Louisiana, LLC NYBroadstone MCW
Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone MD Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone Med Florida, LLC NYBroadstone MFAC Ohio, LLC
NYBroadstone MFEC Florida, LLC NYBroadstone MGK Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone MHH Michigan, LLC
NYBroadstone Mid America Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone MNB Nebraska, LLC NYBroadstone Mountain Burlington Limited
Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Calgary Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain GP Ltd. Canada-
BCBroadstone Mountain North York Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Ottawa Limited Partnership
Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Portfolio Ltd. Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Vancouver Limited Partnership Canada-
BCBroadstone Mountain Winnipeg Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone MPC ND, LLC NYBroadstone MPH
Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone MS Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone MS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone MSC Florida, LLC
NYBroadstone MV Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone MW Texas, LLC NYBroadstone Ned Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Net
Lease Acquisitions, LLC NYBroadstone Net Lease Trs, LLC NYBroadstone Net Lease, Inc. MDBroadstone Net Lease, LLC
NYBroadstone NF Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone NI North Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone NIC Pennsylvania, LLC
NYBroadstone NRS Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone NSC Texas, LLC NYBroadstone NVLX Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone
Octa Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone OLL New York, LLC NYBroadstone OP Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone PA Texas, LLC
NYBroadstone PC Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone PCI Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone Pearl Portfolio 111, LLC NYBroadstone
Pearl, LLC NYBroadstone PFS New Jersey, LLC DEBroadstone PHS Washington, LLC NYBroadstone PIC Illinois, LLC
NYBroadstone PIH CA, LLC NYBroadstone Plumbing TX, LLC NYBroadstone PMI Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone PP
Arkansas, LLC NYBroadstone PRGS Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone PSM Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone PV California, LLC
NYBroadstone PVC MA, LLC NYBroadstone QC Texas, LLC NYBroadstone RA California, LLC NYBroadstone RBC
Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone RC MN, LLC NYBroadstone RCS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone Renal Tennessee, LLC
NYBroadstone REV New Jersey, LLC NYBroadstone RHI Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone RL Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone
RM Missouri, LLC NYBroadstone Roller, LLC NYBroadstone RTC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Sb Oklahoma, LLC
NYBroadstone SC Elgin, LLC NYBroadstone SC Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone SCV Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone SEC North
Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone SF Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone SLH Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone SN Colorado, LLC
NYBroadstone SNC OK TX, LLC NYBroadstone SNI East, LLC NYBroadstone SNI Greenwich, LLC NYBroadstone SOE
Raleigh, LLC NYBroadstone SP Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone Sports Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone SPS Utah, LLC
NYBroadstone SSH California, LLC NYBroadstone ST Texas, LLC NYBroadstone STI Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone STS
California, LLC NYBroadstone SW Mississippi, LLC NYBroadstone TA Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone TB Augusta
Pensacola, LLC NYBroadstone TB Jacksonville, LLC NYBroadstone TB Northwest, LLC NYBroadstone TB Ozarks, LLC
NYBroadstone TB Southeast, LLC NYBroadstone TB TN, LLC DEBroadstone TF Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone TH North
Dakota, LLC NYBroadstone TPR Texas, LLC NYBroadstone TR Florida, LLC NYBroadstone TRH Texas, LLC
NYBroadstone TRP Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone TRS East, LLC NYBroadstone TRS
Kentucky, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Mississippi, LLC NYBroadstone TRS New Mexico, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Orangeburg,
LLC NYBroadstone TRS Portfolio 2, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone
TSC Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone Tsc Texas, LLC NYBroadstone USMM Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone USPO Portfolio,
LLC NYBroadstone UW Kentucky, LLC NYBroadstone Vah Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone VW Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone
WFM Sterling, LLC DEBroadstone WG Southeast, LLC NYBroadstone WGR Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone WH Texas,
LLC NYBroadstone WI Alabama, LLC NYBroadstone WI Appalachia, LLC NYBroadstone WI East, LLC NYBroadstone WI
Great Plains, LLC N'YBroadstone WI MT ND, LLC NYBroadstone WRK California, LLC NYBroadstone WS Iowa, LLC
NYBroadstone Xela Texas, LLC NYBroadstone ZCW Portfolio, LLC NYCf Alpha & Golf Ks Propco LLC DECf Alpha & Golf
Ma Propco LLC DEEire Rochester Florida II L. L. C. FLGRC Durham, LLC DEGRC LI TX, LLC DEHickory Drive Holdings,
LLC DENWR Realty LLC WATB Tampa Real Estate, LLC NY Unity Ridgeway, LLC NYEXHIBIT 23. 1 CONSENT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration
Statement No. 333- 248946 on Form S- 8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333- 254490-27911S and 333- 257347279117 on
Form S- 3 of our reports dated February 22-20 , 2624-2025 , relating to the financial statements of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.
and the effectiveness of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.” s internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report



on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . EXHIBIT 31. 1| CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15d- 14 (a)
Certification) I, John D. Moragne, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc. for the year ended December 31, 20623-2024 ; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge,
the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4.
The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and
procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and
procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the
registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I have
disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting. Date: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / John D. Moragne John D. Moragne Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) EXHIBIT 31. 2 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER I, Kevin
M. Fennell, certify that: (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial
reporting; andDate: February 22-20 , 2624-2025 / s / Kevin M. Fennell Kevin M. Fennell Executive Vice President and-, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer) EXHIBIT 32. 1 PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (Section 1350 Certification) In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ) for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 (the *“ Annual Report ), and
pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned,
John D. Moragne, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, that: 1. The Annual Report
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the *
Exchange Act ”); and 2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. Date: February 20, 2025 /s / John D. Moragne John D. Moragne Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the
Annual Report pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and
is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of
any general incorporation language in such filing. EXHIBIT 32. 2 In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ) for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 (the *“ Annual Report ), and
pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned,
Kevin M Fennell, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge,
that: Date: February 20 bt







